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China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (stock code: 3320) is a leading
integrated pharmaceutical company in China. Our business encompasses
manufacturing, distribution and retail of pharmaceutical and healthcare
products. Since the establishment in 2007, the Group has developed into
one of the top 2 pharmaceutical manufacturers and one of the top 3
pharmaceutical distributors (by revenue) in China.

In October 2016, the Company successfully completed its global offering
in Hong Kong. Our manufacturing business encompasses the research and
development, manufacturing and sale of pharmaceutical and healthcare
products. We manufacture 840 products, 439 of which were included in the
China’s national reimbursement drug list. The products comprise chemical
drugs, Chinese medicines and biological drugs as well as nutritional and
healthcare products, covering a wide range of therapeutic areas including
cardiovascular, alimentary tract and metabolism, large-volume intravenous
infusion, pediatrics, respiratory system, dermatology, etc. Moreover, we own
a range of famous brands, such as “999”, “Dong-E-E-Jiao”, “Double Crane”,
“Zizhu", “Jiangzhong”, “Boya” and “Kun Zhong Yao", covering therapeutic
areas including cold, gastroenterology, dermatology, pediatrics, orthopedics,
plasma products, among others. In future, we will actively expand into health
management and products for chronic disease management to meet the full-
cycle and multi-dimensional healthcare needs of Chinese households from
prevention, healthcare, therapy to recovery.

We regard R&D and product innovation as important drivers for our long-
term growth and consistently increase the investment in R&D activities. We
operate one state key laboratory, three national engineering research centers,
four national enterprise technology centers, as well as over 90 provincial
municipal-level R&D platforms, and a postdoctoral research workstation.

Leveraging our comprehensive product supply and wide distribution networks,
we directly distribute products to hospitals and other medical institutions
across the country. We operate a national distribution network comprising
over 220 logistics centers strategically across 28 provinces, municipalities and
autonomous regions in China, with more than 270,000 clients, including over
11,000 second- and third-class hospitals and approximately 120,000 primary
medical institution clients. In addition, we operate one of the largest retail
pharmacy networks in China, comprising 708 retail pharmacies under national
or regional premium brands such as “Teck Soon Hong (f£117)", including
270 DTP specialty pharmacies (which cover 182 “dual channel (& i@ 3&)"
pharmacies).
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Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman and Executive Director
Mr. Bai Xiaosong

Executive Director and Vice President
Mr. Tao Ran

Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
Mdm. Deng Rong

Non-executive Directors
Mdm. Guo Wei

Mr. Sun Yonggiang

Mr. Guo Chuan

Mdm. Jiao Ruifang

Independent non-executive Directors
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne

Mr. Kwok Kin Fun

Mr. Fu Tingmei

Mr. Zhang Kejian

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne (Chairman)
Mdm. Guo Wei

Mdm. Jiao Ruifang

Mr. Kwok Kin Fun

Mr. Fu Tingmei

Mr. Zhang Kejian

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Bai Xiaosong (Chairman)
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne
Mr. Kwok Kin Fun

Mr. Fu Tingmei

Mr. Zhang Kejian

REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

Mr. Kwok Kin Fun (Chairman)
Mr. Sun Yonggiang

Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne
Mr. Fu Tingmei

Mr. Zhang Kejian
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. Fu Tingmei (Chairman)
Mdm. Deng Rong

Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne
Mr. Kwok Kin Fun

Mr. Zhang Kejian

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr. Bai Xiaosong (Chairman)
Mr. Tao Ran
Mdm. Deng Rong

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Bai Xiaosong
Ms. Cheng Kwai Yuk

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Cheng Kwai Yuk

LEGAL ADVISORS

Linklaters
Jia Yuan Law Offices

AUDITOR

KPMG

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the Accounting
and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road, Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

41/F, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong
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Corporate Information

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Ltd., Hong Kong Branch
Agricultural Bank of China Beijing Xicheng Sub-Branch
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China Beijing Haidian Sub-Branch

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
China Construction Bank Beijing Railway Sub-Branch
China Development Bank Beijing Branch

China Merchants Bank Beijing Branch

China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Wangfujing Sub-Branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

MUFG Bank, Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

Overseas-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

Postal Savings Bank of China, Beijing Haidian Sub-branch
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation

The Export-Import Bank of China

The Export-Import Bank of China Beijing Branch

United Overseas Bank Limited, Hong Kong Branch
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

https://www.crpharm.com

STOCK CODE
3320
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Definitions

RAFERA - BXESZEMEN > TIH

BUTEE

ERBFAE]
‘AGM’

[MAERAA

“Articles of Association”

MERBREEEREETAF]

“Beijing Pharmaceutical”

[EFE

“Board”
[JEREE |

“BsCcomMC”

[{¥ER<FAl]
“CG Code”

[ |
“China” or “PRC”

[ &1 ]
“Companies Ordinance”

[ARE e HE s

“Company” or “CR Pharmaceutical”

[#BRT

“CR Bank”

I 06 2024 FFH  EHBHEEEERAA

In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the following
meanings unless the context indicates otherwise:

RRABRFBFRE

annual general meeting of the Company

AREIRZEZZFRATEHERIARREMANABERAE (K&
TEFHEET)

the articles of association of the Company (as amended from time to time),
adopted by a special resolution passed on 27 May 2022

IRBEEEBERETAR  —KRPREKINERDA - BEAAAND
BB LA

Beijing Pharmaceutical Group Company Limited (1t RE #EE B[R & (T
‘A7]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability, and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

R

board of Directors

IRBEBEERELERARLT MBI RBAEEALLEERET L —K
RAEFMRZOEERE  REMANEERR

Beijing State-owned Capital Operation and Management Company Limited
(ERBBERBELERAFRAF), formerly known as Beijing State-Owned
Capital Operation And Management Center (It RE A B AR KL E 1L AP
L)), a state-owned enterprise incorporated in the PRC and our substantial
Shareholder

LR BRI ERC1 PREL R B A T A

Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

REARKENE - BAFHRHE - TEEEE  ORFIEITHRREE
People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purposes of this annual report
only, Hong Kong, Macau SAR and Taiwan

DEMEBI (BB EDIZE 622 &) (FETRHERT)
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (as
amended from time to time)

EHEEEEEGRAAF
China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

WEERRITROAR AR —KRAFEKZIHKRHBERABL A —K
BABRL AN ERB R T IRTT - NAFRAH - FEHKROFHAEPL49.77%
R

China Resources Bank of zhuhai Co., Ltd. (X8 ZEHETRMHBR A F),
a company limited by shares established in the PRC and a municipal bank
headquartered in Zhuhai, in which CRI holds approximately 49.77% interest
as at the date of this annual report




[FEHEYBE

“CR Biopharm”

[FEBEHEEY )

“CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical”

[ B

“CR Digital”

[EHEE]

“CR Double-Crane”

[E MR

“CR Gas”

[N 2 IR R

“CR Gas Chenzhou”

[EBER]

“CR Healthcare”

Definitions

EHEMBEBRAR  AIEEHEMELECORY) BRI —RNF
B ZBERAR - RAAGIREZEMEBERF

China Resources Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (EE A Y B & B R A 7)),
formerly known as China Resources Biopharmaceutical (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
(EBEWBECRY)AR A F]), a company established in the PRC with
limited liability, and a non-wholly- owned subsidiary of the Company

EHEREMREEEROBRAG  AIEEREMEEEE RO ER
AR —RIBBEPBUAEFMAZOAR  EROERIESFI S LT
(BRMR5% : 300294) « W ARARIMIELENBAF

China Resources Boya Bio-pharmaceutical Group Company Limited (2 & 18
e B B2 B R (5 B R A A), formerly known as Boya Bio-pharmaceutical
Group Company Limited (18 7 4 ¥ &) 22 & @ J& {5 B BR 2 7)), a company
incorporated under the laws of the PRC, the shares of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300294) and a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

EHHMERERAR (AIEEREZRRARAR) » —KPH M
RIBWBERAR - BREBERMHZENB AR

China Resources Digital Holding Co., Ltd. (formerly known as China Resources
Resolink Co., Ltd. (EIE#E ZR AR A F])), a company incorporated in the
PRC with limited liability, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRI

EHEBEEERMHARAR  —KBEFBVEZEFMA LR - HEKK
ELEBELFRGHLET (BRMHARSE  600062) r WAARRG ZIE2ENE
NG

China Resources Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (3B & &5 B2 A% 1D
B2 7)), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC, the shares of
which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600062) and a
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

ERMIERERAT  —KRBEEXNIHERADF - EARG PR
FAROARSE - 1193) - WAARFHRABAERER HER R

China Resources Gas Group Limited (ZE B ¥ &% /% B R A 7), a company
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, the shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1193) and a subsidiary of CR Holdings as
at the date of this annual report

HMNEERRERAR - —KAPEFTMRZZBRAR - WAEERR
ZHE2ENB LA

Chenzhou China Resources Gas Company Limited (#f M Z£ B A R A R A 7)),
a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of CR Gas

ERREEEERAR  AIHEAEBEREEARAR  —KNEBEM
BRUBMEBERART REBEENZENE A

China Resources Healthcare Group Limited (3B @B £ E B R A7, formerly
known as ZEHEEEE B R A F]), a company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability and a wholly-owned subsidiary of CR Holdings

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited Annual Report 2024 07 I




Definitions

ESEESEN

“CR Holdings”

ESElieul

“CRI"

[ZE I

“CR Jiangzhong”

[FEBHEM

“CR Land”

[EBHHEE]

“CR Leasing”

[FEHEE]

“CR Medical”

[FEHEERE]

“CR Pharmaceutical Commercial”

I 08 2024 FE R

EHBREREERAR

ZH(EE) BRAA —KREBTIMACIOER AR - AEEKRMNE
BB N A R AP O 45 AR AR R
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRI
and our controlling Shareholder

EEBRNERAR - —KRPRIKZE IR ER A B I AT Z L
=

China Resources Inc., a joint stock limited liability company established in the
PRC and our controlling Shareholder

ERIFHEEREREARRT —KRFPEKTHAT - BIIHPEED
TRRARER - W AR AR ZIEZEMB AR

China Resources Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (¥ BT # &
L H ARSI A]), a company established in the PRC, the controlling
Shareholder of Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical and a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

EHBWERDA  —FKPHASHETMRIONBR DT - ERMARER
FrElR EMREE (RMHASE : 1109) KRR FHAMAEHEENHEE
FEEEME AR

China Resources Land Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability, the shares of which are listed and traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1109) and an indirect non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of CR Holdings as at the date of this annual report

EHBEHEARAR AIBEMEERRAR  —KPPEKIZHER
BEERA URAFERAPAEERONMEIFELEWBE AR

China Resources Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. (EFREHEE R QD A),
formerly known as China Resources Leasing Co., Ltd. (ZEEEEBR A 7)),
a limited liability company established in the PRC and an indirect non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of CRI as at the date of this annual report

EHBEERBERAA  —RNHASHSTMRINBRAAF - ERMHE
B2 P BT (AR fp 5% - 1515) » A E MK BN AF R A R EE KRR
®

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited, a company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability, the share of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1515), in which CR
Holdings is the controlling shareholder as at the date of this annual report

EHBREMEEEBRAT  AIBIERBERGERLIA  —KR_ZZ
BET AT LRARBHBIEAEEMKRILINDGF - BREARAFIEEENH
B RT]

China Resources Pharmaceutical Commercial Group Company Limited (&
e sy 2 E AR A A]), formerly known as Beijing Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. (4t R & ZEf% {5 B R 2 &), a company incorporated under the laws of
the PRC on 27 December 2000 and a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company




]ty

“CR Pharmaceutical Holdings”

[EHBEEXED

“CR Pharmaceutical Industry Fund”

[EHEEREARAA]

“CR Pharmaceutical Investment”

[EH=N1]

“CR Sanjiu”

[EH = (MM ]

4

“CR Sanjiu Chenzhou’

[ RE]

“CR Trust”

el

“CR Zizhu”

=

“Director(s)”

Definitions

EHBEZERERAR - AIBHI=ZNIERERAF - —KBHBRPEDEET
MRKZE AR BRARFIZENBA A

China Resources Pharmaceutical Holdings Company Limited (£ ) 28 % 752 i
AR A A, formerly known as New Sanjiu Holdings Co., Ltd (31 = iR A
(R 2 7]), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

ERBECOLR) EERELRERBOLE(BRER)  — KPP EKZH
DA RAFRERARTEENEE R

China Resources Pharmaceutical (Shantou) Industry Investment Fund
Partnership (LLP) (EHBHECOLB)EXREET AR L E(BRAR)),
established in the PRC, an associate of the Group as at the date of this annual
report

EHEERERBRART —KRAPEKIHBERDF » ARAAHEEM
&R 7A]

China Resources Pharmaceutical Investment Company Limited (2 )i &5 %2 45
& B BR A R]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability, and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

ER-NBERMERLIT  —KBEFBUEEFMAIHAE - HRGH
ERNEHZ S L (RG MR - 000999) @ WAKRREZF2ENE
NE

China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Company Limited (2
ZNEER KB BR AR, a company incorporated under the laws of the
PRC, the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 000999) and a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

ER=N M) BEFRDF] —KAREFMK L ERRF WA
RARWEEIFEZENBE AR

China Resources Sanjiu (Chenzhou) Pharmaceutical Company Limited (% )
Z N (BN )R BEH R AF]), a company incorporated in the PRC with limited
liability and an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

EHRERERERAT  —KRPBEKXLMNERETAR  RAFHA
B E=HROBBEHCERESRAFEERBEESRS1% R

China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (Z B RBE&REFEHER A 7)), a limited
liability company established in the PRC, in which CRI indirectly holds 51%
interest through China Resources Capital Holdings Investment Co., Ltd. (¥
F1EIE B R AA]) as at the date of this annual report

EHEMEZEERAT —KRFBKIMAR - RAFHRAE  EHE
SRR E RS BRERFE60.24% Em

China Resources Zizhu Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (ZEE R EE B R A A)),
established in the PRC, in which CR Pharmaceutical indirectly holds 60.24%
interest through CR double-Crane as at the date of this annual report

KRBES

director(s) of the Company

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited Annual Report 2024 09 I
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[ R Bay o 122 |

“Dong-E-E-Jiao”

[BRREFRHIAE ]
“EGM”

[ ]
“Group”

[T sk [BE ]
“HK$” or “HK dollars”

[&E]
“Hong Kong”

[KEFEY ]

“Immunotech”

PARce-+ 3

“Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical”

[REEE]

“KPC”

[ EmRA]

“Listing Rules”

[Z%E<F A |
“Model Code”

(B =2 ]

“Prospectus”

I 10 2024 FFH  EHBHEEEERAA

REMBROBRAR  —RBEFBEZEZIMALAOAR] - HROHER
YEEZ S (BRMDAREE : 000423) - WAARRQRZIEEEH BT
Dong-E-E-Jiao Company Limited (5[ [ B i 15 B BR A &), a company
incorporated under the laws of the PRC, the shares of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000423) and a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

ARABERFRIARE

extraordinary general meeting of the Company

RRARRHEKME QA
the Company and its subsidiaries

BT AREEER

the lawful currency of Hong Kong

PEEBFRITHR
the Hong Kong SAR of the PRC

KEEMHEBRDF  —KRHASHSTMRIORF - BN
P 7 (BRD 5% - 6978) - AR AR AR AFRE PREH10% #a
Immunotech Biopharm Ltd (kR EWE B R A7), a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands, the share of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6978), in which the Company holds
10% interest as at the date of this annual report

THREXEBROHBERAR - —KPRPEKZIHRAE - HRHE DEEFRS
Ffr =7 (A& 5 5% - 600750) W BT A 2 IE2 B ME R F

Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. T R %2 2 {9 B BR A7), a company
established in the PRC, the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600750) and a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of CR
Jiangzhong

RESEROHBRIF  —KRRPBKZNAR  HROHE DSEFRS
B B (BRI 5% - 600422) @ W REH= N2 ENE QT

KPC Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (2 Z£5& B I {7 B PR 2 F]), a company established
in the PRC, the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600422) and a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of CR Sanjiu

B2 priE s bR A (R ARERT)
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as
amended from time to time)

FHARAIMEECI AEN EMETASFETIE AR FINRLETA
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

ARABBHAZZE—RE+ATLtENBRER
the prospectus of the Company dated 17 October 2016




[ 25 BR R
“Reporting Period

”

[ BT TR
“SAR”

&7 R E A
“SFO”

[R% 15
“Share(s)”

[A% = |
“Shareholder(s)”

[ 55622 P
“Stock Exchange”

[ Rt 8B

“Tasly Pharmaceuticals”

(BTl a %]
“HK$” or “HKD”

AR
“RMB”

=
“Us$” or “UsD”

[%)]
“op”

Definitions

BHE_Z_MF+_A=+—BHILHBFE
the financial year ended 31 December 2024

B R Rl T
Special Administrative Region, PRC

BREDIE ST EES REE GO (K TEER])
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(as amended from time to time)

RRBRG
share(s) of the Company

KABIHROFEE A
holder(s) of Shares of the Company

ERBMERGMBRAT
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

RENBEEERMERDE  —KRFBEKIHERAR - ARGHELE
BEFZ S LT (5% : 600535)

Tasly Pharmaceuticals Group Co., Ltd( K+t hEBEEEKH BR A 7)), a
company established in the PRC with limited liability and the shares of which
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600535)

BT AREEER

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

ARBTT  PEEEEYR

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of China

X7 KBEAEEY

United States Dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America

ANkt
per cent

RERA  RPBIKIZARFHLEE - In the event of any inconsistency in the Chinese and English versions of the names of
ERYERMP X EHEARYERIN  the PRC established companies or entities, laws or regulations in this annual report,
BEMEE BUARXEERE - the Chinese version shall prevail.

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited Annual Report 2024 1 I
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BEHH AR

2024 F BB AFAN—F HHERZENR
SNERERYE > MBI EETTHERYR BRED
BEEEE ENSREEEN BET 2L
BEERIBERAINEZAE -

E—F EHEAFFILERESEEREREEM
o B [EPE TIEEEA 8 [1E
ERIEREE BIIKSE WBRH®H KR
[TUA | BEEEE  E—TIRARLBEF
FTEEERZERRIEE  THRALED
o 2FEEWRARE ARKE2576.718T + #
ERARNBER AN G ERNESREE
¥o|EEMNEE  BRBEESK -

2024 ERBEEEBRAF

Dear Shareholders,

The year 2024 marked an extraordinary period for China. Despite a complex
and volatile global and domestic environment, China maintained overall
economic stability, consolidating its steady progress and reinforcing its role as
a cornerstone in stabilizing the global economy.

Throughout the year, CR Pharmaceutical remained steadfast in prioritizing
high-quality development. Guided by the principle of “seeking progress while
maintaining stability”, the Company advanced its “four reshapes” strategy,
seized emerging opportunities, and overcame challenges to further strengthen
its core competitive advantages in alignment with the “14th Five-Year Plan”
development strategy. As a result, CR Pharmaceutical achieved robust growth
in key performance indicators, demonstrating enhanced operational resilience.
The Group's annual revenue surpassed RMB257.67 billion, marking significant
progress toward its vision of becoming a trusted, innovation-driven leader in
the pharmaceutical and healthcare industry.




RBTEBERT - 20245 RZE TR #
B ERIT A BRE - PAT1246 R BERE
BMIMEEL| BATEIHHELR —RE
X NAARMMENERFHPSI NG B
FRAREREINCEHBEERED  FHEBLE
BaE REXBETREEETEM  MEE
BETZHBRER - ZERAPEETERE
SEMAL B BRI AT AL PRI
MRERGREES  #ESEEMARM
EYRENEBER  BERBEIMBERE
hRRE  HEHRERBRBREELIREE L
MERD BB ETEER -

RAEB R - HEEEABRE]ERE
BER L FHEHERTIANER HEBEHRR
B OR 7 A RE AR A S B B SR E KR AT
REBEBRRBEIMENEIEE-E—F
BPIRABICTHERIFE R - AR AIFT
A BREFEREARESE  YEZRFAR
SMERRIFT S BB A 1F - BB ESH RIRE R
B RREEERFEGBHNEE  BEILHN
KEBEE-BAKTHERT DHEEES
BENEIER  BRERCEEHETHHRR
HETT IR B BUR - BUARI R BIFE S - W&
 EBA RSN BRI & B & 1 - BB E S
ARERE RSLELRBREINTR B
B+ R B B IR R A

FRERE
Chairman’s Statement

Continuously improving the top-level design. The year 2024 is a crucial year
for implementing the “14th Five-Year Plan” strategy. Taking the “1246"
model as the main line and centering on the “four reshapes” strategy, we
continued to proactively benchmark against world-class enterprises. With
the perseverance of working unremittingly and the enterprising spirit of
seizing every minute, and in adherence to the dual-wheel drive of internal
development and external mergers and acquisitions, we continued to optimize
the business structure, facilitate business units to focus on value positioning,
and strengthen the coordinated development among business units. We
strived to consolidate and enhance our leading position in the TCM industry,
and promote the innovative transformation and upgrading of the chemical
medicine business, making great progress in reducing costs, increasing
efficiency and improving quality. In addition, we continued to consolidate the
business foundation in the fields of blood products and biopharmaceuticals.
We have achieved breakthroughs in the layout of the medical device
manufacturing field and promoted the strategic transformation of the
commercial distribution business to improve quality and efficiency.

Deeply promoting scientific and technological research and development.
With a focus on the traditional businesses related to the “People’s Livelihood
of a Great Power”, CR Pharmaceutical implements the two new strategic
directions of the “Pillars of a Great Power” strategy, so as to actively
undertake the responsibilities as the “national team” and “main force” for
implementing major national decision-making on scientific and technological
innovation. During the year, we have deeply optimized our R&D innovation
system by increasing investment in scientific research and innovation.
Therefore, we realized rapid development in scientific and technological
innovation and extensively engaged in strategic cooperation with external
innovation hubs. By deeply integrating industry, academia, research and
application, we aimed to empower high-quality development. Digital and
intelligent technologies have continuously enhanced the integrated level of
operation and management, and also effectively strengthened our production
and operation capabilities. Besides, we have consolidated and deepened
the reform achievements of state-owned enterprises and implemented the
equity incentive policy to stimulate the vitality of scientific and technological
innovation. We have also extensively engaged in strategic cooperation with
external innovation hubs. By deeply integrating industry, academia, research
and application, we aimed to empower high-quality development, thereby
laying a foundation for achieving the strategic goals of the “14th Five-Year
Plan™.

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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Actively fulfilling social responsibilities. We keep in mind the top priorities
of the nation and drive business development in tandem with our
social responsibilities. To meet national strategic needs, we strengthen
communication and cooperation across different regions, promote key
regional projects, and take concrete actions to support the development
strategies of key areas in China. By leveraging the advantages of being a
state-owned enterprise in Hong Kong, we also take efforts to maintain
the long-term prosperity and stability of Hong Kong. At the same time, we
address challenges related to people’s livelihoods by responding to national
expectations and public needs. We ensure the stable supply of essential
public services, such as healthcare materials, and continue to implement the
“China Resources Healthy Village” public welfare project, thereby facilitating
the healthy development of primary medical systems and contributing to the
Healthy China initiative.

Improving and enhancing talent retention. Adhering to the philosophy of “it is
talent that establishes the state, governs the politics and drives the industry”,
we continuously deepened our efforts in the strategy of strengthening
enterprise with talents, perfected market-oriented mechanism for selecting
and employing personnel and promoted an environment that officers can
be demoted as well as promoted, so as to further enrich scientific and
technological talent pool. In particular, we strengthened the introduction of
high-level talents in scientific research and improved the retention mechanism
and enhanced incentives for scientific and technological talents.

Continuously strengthening corporate governance. During the year, we
strengthened the establishment of the Board’s functions with a focus on
improving the independence and fairness of the Board, in order to leverage its
strategic role for “risk prevention”; further optimized information disclosure
and improved the efficiency of communication with capital market, thereby
further enhancing the corporate governance. Through diversified fund-raising,
our overall costs of fund-raising continued to decrease and effectively reduced
exchange rate risk exposure. Meanwhile, we increased disposal of “assets of
non-primary and non-advantageous operating business” and “non-performing
and inefficient assets”, achieving goals of optimizing allocation of, and value
preservation and appreciation of state-owned capital.
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Chairman’s Statement

Proactively integrating ESG principles into operations. CR Pharmaceutical
actively responded to the national green and low-carbon development
strategy, actively promoted the ESG principles, and deeply practiced the
green and sustainable development strategy. Specifically, it has implemented
energy-saving and carbon-reduction transformation, strengthened the
conservation and utilization of resources, and promoted the construction of
low-carbon and zero-carbon park/factory demonstration projects, so as to tap
the source of power for the Company’s future long-term development. This
year, the MSCI-ESG Rating of CR Pharmaceutical continued to maintain “A”
level, and the scores of various issues were significantly improved. Its Hang
Seng Sustainability Rating also remained at the top of the industry.

“The Yellow River pours down from the sky and runs to the East China Sea;
thousands of miles are written in the heart.” In the new year, with robust and
united efforts, we will continue to unremittingly build a world-class enterprise,
as well as a world-class comprehensive pharmaceutical enterprise with global
competitiveness, and benefit employees and return shareholders, partners and
society with continuous high-quality enterprise development results.

On behalf of the Board and all staff of the Company, | would like to express
my sincere gratitude to all Shareholders, partners and all sectors of society for
their long-term trust and support to CR Pharmaceutical.

Thank you for all.

Mr. Bai Xiaosong
Chairman
26 March 2025
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(—ARB)RAWMBRE TEREEHEBHERDE] -

(5 January) Dong-E-E-Jiao was awarded the title of “Green
Supply Chain Management Enterprise by the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology”.

(—Bt—B)EHEEFARNEERENEZBRE QA
ESBERSHRMEERERE] - FAA AHEHEER
BEERDBAE[2023FEE _HAmEE BRI )
P -

(11 January) Henan Double-Crane Huali Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd.* CAFSEE#EZEF| 222 B R 2 Al), a subsidiary of CR
Double-Crane, obtained the “National High-tech Enterprise
Certificate”. In the same month, Henan Double-Crane Huali
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (A B EF| 22 E F R A A))
was recognized as one of the “Second Batch of 2023 Henan
Specialized and Sophisticated SMEs (2023 4 [& 25 — #t JAl B &
R NGRE) "

(= A+ B)FE T o 85 R A& A B R A 82 A AL A
Ry ERHE EREE DSRTHREN  REEE
TR EERMEAEREA LT EEY M ARD S E
HEAE B -

(19 January) The Joint Laboratory for Al Micro-nano Technology
Drug Discovery jointly established by CR Jiangzhong and East
China Normal University held the Plagque-unveiling Ceremony
in Shanghai. This marks that the cooperation between CR
Jiangzhong and East China Normal University in the field of
artificial intelligence and drug research and development has
entered a new stage.

- - - -
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(ZA-—B)ERBREYMFIARLRHREQESEELE
B R A -

(1 February) CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical obtained the
drug registration approval for its human immunoglobulin for
intravenous injection in Pakistan.

(ZARR)EHANRERSERSTEEEEL 1 -

(6 February) CR Sanjiu’'s new product, terbinafine
hydrochloride spray, was approved for marketing.

999 # o
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(9 March) KPC, a subsidiary of CR Sanjiu, officially launched
the brand “777", which marks that KPC’s silver health industry
has entered a brand-new stage. It is a proactive response to
the national strategy of addressing the aging population, and is
expected to vigorously promote the high-quality development
of the traditional Chinese medicine industry chain.

(ZR)IEMER(HBATRE NS REXERBEELRE]
ZE -BEHE-NLAE TEERRRESEH[KE]  FH
EATEMNEIMERRBE KAEBEEARBERE
HAEERE] -

(March) The Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
announced the list of the 8th batch of “Manufacturing Single
Champion Enterprises”, in which CR Sanjiu was selected.
Its champion products include KPC’s “Luotai®"” and CR
Shenghuo’s “Lixuwang®"” Xuesaitong Soft Capsule, therefore
making CR Sanjiu the first “Manufacturing Single Champion
Enterprise” within CR Holdings.

PERELEREIE
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(9B =H)MSCIE 3 M8 HEESGRRE  EHEBLRS
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(3 April) MSCI updated the ESG rating report for CR
Pharmaceutical, which continues to be rated as A.

(mA)ER=NMEM G EDELRE T — SEMH BN
Y LT o EREB-NEFBEDDTERKCERHR
BH—HEEFERR  BREBFTABNTR EERELR °

(April) Linggui Zhugan Granule, the first classic TCM formula
developed by CR Sanjiu, was approved for marketing. This
marks a significant achievement for CR Sanjiu in the ongoing
modernisation of TCM and will rapidly supplement its TCM
product pipeline.
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(8 May) China Resources Saike Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of CR Double-Crane, was recognized as a “High-tech
Enterprise in Beijing”.

(EBAABE)[2024FENEFE LT AR MEEEEE M
ERYIRIT - EHBEREBROLCEESE  AEHRE
ENE  AREEEI0ETAREKBRALERIEEE
1 1514885 TOP50 F15E 1718 TOPS5 ©

(9 May) The “2024 Press Conference on the 8th Brand Value
List of Chinese Listed Companies” was held in Shenzhen. CR
Pharmaceutical, with its robust operational performance and
strong brand strength, was re-selected in the Brand Value List
and ranked among the top 50 in the Overall List and the top
55 in the Vitality List with a brand value of RMB97.006 billion.
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(EA+EB) EB=NERES LRESER B E -

(15 May) Wenjing Decoction Granule, the classic TCM formula
of CR Sanjiu, was approved for marketing.

(AA+HERA)MREEERAEEBELEG X 16(ERS - 64
BAARER L& - FRBENNEENE LN RN E
WM=NBEEFE BRESRRS HEESHEBYE-

(15 May) The new version of the CR Pharma e-Store () %
7 %) was launched across 16 regions and 64 companies
of CR Pharmaceutical Commercial. The new version of the
CR Pharma e-Store (E 225 3) is a self-built e-commerce
platform of CR Pharmaceutical Commercial for tri-parties
related to pharmaceuticals and medical devices, featuring
online transactions, settlement, and other related functions.

(ER) EHEBET IHELEBEXTRET AR
IR A 2024 FEE—HFRBFH N EE - EPBRBEY
EXBRAFBBIURE 2024 F EERFEH P NERIR
o

(May) Jiangsu Huai An Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. OI& ER S X FR K E AR, a subsidiary of
CR Double-Crane, was recognized as one of the first batch
of 2024 Jiangsu Specialized and Sophisticated SMEs. China
Resources Angde Biotech Pharma Co., Ltd. (ZE & 5 1E £ )%k
¥ BMRAF]) was certified as 2024 Shandong Specialized and
Sophisticated SMEs.

(RAE—R)EBEBFRREREX () ERAEAA
EFEmERRENT R -

(1 June) Double-Crane Pharmaceutical (Hainan) Co., Ltd.,
a subsidiary of CR Double-Crane, was recognized as one of
“Hainan Specialized and Sophisticated SMEs".

(RAARR)EB=NABREFREZ MR EBEX|HRA
ERER - ERHANBEFRKE[BE IR THEE
ANBEEZ[BUBURBEE] -

(6 June) CR Sanjiu was once again recognized as a benchmark
enterprise in the special assessment of “Exemplary Scientific
Reform Actions” by the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission (SASAC). CR Biopharm received
an "“Excellent” rating again. Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical was
selected as an enterprise for “Exemplary Scientific Reform
Actions” by SASAC.
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(1 July) China Resources Zizhu Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of CR Double-Crane, was recognized as one of
the “Little Giant” enterprises with special and sophisticated
technologies by the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology (MIIT).
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(9 July) CR Pharmaceutical Commercial successfully held the
signing ceremony with Sweden’s Sobi in Beijing in relation
to the strategic cooperation and the “Introduction” project.
Both parties signed a collaboration agreement for the exclusive
commercialization rights of two products, namely Emapalumab
and Anakinra Injection, in Mainland China.
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(17 July) Taihe Boya Plasmapheresis Co., Ltd. and Leping
Boya Plasmapheresis Co., Ltd., which are subsidiaries of CR
Boya Bio-pharmaceutical, were awarded the “Plasmapheresis
License” by the Jiangxi Provincial Health Commission.
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(17 July) CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical acquired 100% equity
in Green Cross HK Holdings Limited from GC Group for a
consideration of RMB1.82 billion, thereby indirectly acquiring
Green Cross HK (China) Biological Products Co., Ltd., an entity
engaging in blood products in Mainland China.
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(19 July) CR Double-Crane obtained the exclusive agency
rights for the Shenle Sugar Foot Paste (FESOIXON) in Mainland
China for 20 years, which will significantly increase the
accessibility of FESOIXON and benefit more diabetic patients.
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(NEmA)EHEZRRT NWEEEZSHEA EiHE (NBHERB)ZEHEEEWind ESGIA]FTAR °

TR AR BE AR REE KR AR E R

REFERBEE - (5 August) CR Pharmaceutical received an “A” rating in Wind
ESG.

(4 August) CR Pharmaceutical signed a strategic cooperation

agreement with Tasly Group. Pursuance to which, the ()\)EJ h EIE)\H THR)E+ttERRES (BR) £8KX

two parties will collaborate in the areas of innovation and — 202475 % iﬁéﬁ%%ﬁﬁ% EH=N - RAME -

development of TCM, and the development of digital ﬁfﬁﬂgﬁ% . Eéi?z TR BN FRE[2024 B BT R4

intelligence herbal large model, dripping pill technology and BFENBRE]

equipment.

(9 August to 14 August) At the 17th China Health Industry
(International) Ecological Conference — 2024 CPEO held in
Boao, Hainan, CR Sanjiu, Dong-E-E-Jiao, CR Double-Crane,
KPC, and Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical were all selected
as one of the “Top 100 Enterprises with Comprehensive
Competitiveness in the Pharmaceutical Industry for 2024".

(NA+=8)FEE =251 58 I AR EF BIR M - x5
FABA Ot e b 4 1R SR HE E7 o

(13 August) Cefoperazone Sodium and Sulbactam Sodium for
Injection and Ceftazidime and Avibactam Sodium for Injection
of CR Sanjiu were approved for marketing.

(NB=+hB)EBEEFEEGESMN (LE) EMRHX
BRA TE%I:E&EH@JZBP“\{’E;A,’]E*Hﬁiﬁlimﬁﬂﬁg/u
BEREERAEYS

(29 August) CR Pharmaceutical Commercial and BeiGene
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. held a strategic cooperation signing
ceremony and the kick-off meeting for the Project of Whole-
Process Management of Perioperative Immunotherapy for Lung
Cancer in Beijing.

I 20 2024 4F3R EMBEKEARAR
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(5 September) CR Sanjiu signed a strategic cooperation
agreement with Tencent Cloud, driving CR Sanjiu’s
advancement towards a technology-leading pharmaceutical
enterprise with comprehensive digitalization in “research,
production, supply, marketing, service, and collaborative
office”.

SHMFETAS TencentMil | &

EiH=71 & A= kEESEE XU
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»

(MAARB)EBTIHR TR IHEZ AR TAEEE TR
MlEERE THEERAME - ARNEEDRE-

(6 September) Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical, a subsidiary of
CR Jiangzhong, was selected for the list of the first batch
of “Digital Pilot” enterprises in Jiangxi Province. Jiangzhong
Pharmaceutical was the only pharmaceutical enterprise to be
included.

PERELEREIE
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(1 October) The launching ceremony of Dong-E-E-Jiao’s
“Zhuangben” brand and Cistanche industry project was held
in Inner Mongolia. Two products, Ejiao Cistanche puree and
Cistanche puree, were successfully released and authorized by
“Alxa Gifts”.

(TR EBHEEETRES XM EZARAAEF DAILAE
Sl ¥ EREBRHEREEREERQ AT
MHERm BB EE] -

(October) Qinhuangdao Zizhu Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (&
EEEMBEEABRAR), asubsidiary of CR Double-Crane,
was awarded the title of “Hebei Specialized and Sophisticated
SMEs”, and Beijing Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Equipment
Co., Ltd. (Ut REBER EREFREE A F) was awarded
the title of “Beijing Specialized and Sophisticated SMEs".
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(26 November) CR Pharmaceutical Commercial entered into
a strategic cooperation agreement with Pfizer Investment Co.,
Ltd.. The two parties would give full play to their respective
advantages to jointly promote the commercial operation of
four high-quality proven drugs for lung cancer and breast
cancer, i.e. AROMASIN®, IBRANCE®, Pharmorubicin RD® and
XALKORI®, in order to expand patient accessibility to those
drugs.
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(28 November) Dong-E-E-Jiao was awarded the level 4
certification in the intelligent manufacturing capability maturity
assessment, marking that the company has reached the
highest level in the field of intelligent manufacturing in China.
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(November) CR Sanjiu’s self-developed peony and licorice
granules, traditional Chinese medicine compound preparations
regulated as the ancient classic formulae, was approved for
marketing by the National Medical Products Administration.

(+t—R)EH=NETE Eﬂ%ﬂ?@%?ﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁ Al [ MmZE&
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B2 B I BRERIRHLNT - b 257735 B (A A [ BB AR AR (L )
A% T FEAE Y e PR A F o

(November) Kunming China Resources Shenhuo
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (RBAEBE XN EE AR A A, a
company under CR Sanjiu, intended to add a new indication to
“Xuesaitong soft capsules”, which had obtained the approval
of the Phase Il clinical trial by the National Medical Products
Administration and is also the first clinical trial permit in the
traditional Chinese medicine industry for the indication of
“carotid atherosclerosis”.
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(17 December) The new drug application (NDA) for
an additional indication of Recombinant Human Tissue
Plasminogen Activator Derivatives (r-PA) for injection (Ruitongli)
CESTREAANBEBESEABRABITEY GrilB L))
produced by CR Biopharm was approved by the National
Medical Products Administration (NMPA). The newly approved
indication is for thrombolytic treatment in patients with acute
ischemic stroke (AIS).

(+=B=+H)EHREREZE AL R) BR A 7 EE DT
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(20 December) China Resources RunCai Pharmaceutical
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (EHHHFEE 2 (LR) AR AR
successfully launched the CR 10T Platform, marking the
achievement of full coverage of the CR 10T Platform across the
entire CR Pharm Commercial .

In 2024, a total of six companies under CR Sanjiu and CR
Double-Crane were selected as “Green Factories” by the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology.
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Financial Highlights
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A summary of the Group’s audited results, assets and liabilities and the key
financial ratios for the last five financial years is set out as follows:

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
FE(BBARY) For the year (in RMB million)
Ik % Revenue
T¥% Manufacturing 41,420 39,190 34,488 31,040 25,962
D8 Distribution 206,076 195,858 176,072 158,468 145,757
=& Retail 10,104 9,579 7,588 6,829 5,732
Hh Others 73 77 35 31 200
wny Total 257,673 244,704 218,183 196,368 177,651
EA Gross profit 40,689 38,337 33,619 29,357 28,688
o EBELE Segment earnings
T¥% Manufacturing 13,324 12,083 10,055 8,077 7,299
7 8 Distribution 7,343 7,139 7,073 6,690 7,143
=& Retail 91 124 15 (43) (13)
HAh Others 51 25 18 57 134
wny Total 20,809 19,371 17,161 14,781 14,563
F AT E Profit for the year 8,403 7,775 6,658 5,528 4,816
NEEEE AEGFE Profit attributable to owners
of the Company 3,351 3,854 3,500 3,135 2,927
R12A31B (BBARK) As at 31 December (in RMB million)
IEMBEE Non-current assets 71,915 68,202 63,275 58,829 52,718
MBEE Current assets 185,845 178,568 152,259 144,396 123,513
BEE Total assets 257,760 246,770 215,534 203,225 176,231
ERBEE Non-current liabilities 27,451 19,563 13,207 10,020 5,677
mEaE Current liabilities 132,222 134,233 121,770 115,546 103,199
“EEREO Total debt 67,717 63,843 55,150 54,322 44,886
Fey=Nit Total liabilities 159,673 153,795 134,977 125,566 108,876
4R % A Total equity 98,087 92,975 80,557 77,659 67,356
[z Ratios
EH = Gross margin 15.8% 15.7% 15.4% 14.9% 16.1%
FAEE Net profit margin 1.3% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6%
FAE R Net debt to total equity® 523%  42.2% 49.6% 51.5% 52.6%
VIEII RS Current ratio 1.4 1.3 1.3 1.2 1.2
B EE - Notes:

(1) #REBERERTER ENEZ FENENS 0

Total debt refers to the sum of bank borrowings, bonds payable, and other

B B 77 1) EL At B AN SRIR A AR A ©

payables bearing interests due to related parties.

2 FEEFREEHRRAELASEEY - @
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Net debt equals to total debt less cash and cash equivalents.
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

2024 marked a crucial year in implementing the “14th Five-Year Plan”,
witnessing the rollout of significant reform measures in succession and
the sustained release of combined effects from macroeconomic policies.
Driven by factors such as the expansion of consumer demand, stable
investment growth, an increase in the contribution of net exports, and
steady development of new quality productive forces, China’s national
economy operated generally smoothly amidst stability. According
to data from the National Bureau of Statistics, China’'s GDP reached
RMB134.9 trillion in 2024, breaking through RMB130 trillion for the
first time, with a year-on-year growth of 5%. The main targets and
tasks were achieved as scheduled.

The pharmaceutical industry is a crucial sector related to the national
economy and people’s livelihood, and it is a key area for cultivating
and developing strategic emerging industries, as well as an important
part of China’s national economy. In 2024, the operating revenue of
China’s pharmaceutical manufacturing industry was RMB2,529.85
billion, remaining stable as compared to 2023 and demonstrating
strong development resilience in the industry. Currently undergoing
structural adjustments characterized by optimization of existing stock
and expansion of innovative pharmaceuticals and medical devices,
China’s pharmaceutical industry faces overall pressure with partial
differentiation in the short term while maintaining positive growth
prospects in the long term. Driven by multiple factors such as the
accelerated process of population aging, the increase in the demand
from the silver economy, the comprehensive promotion of the “Healthy
China” initiative, the industrial transformation driven by technology
innovations, and capital enabling industrial development, the industrial
pattern is shifting from follow-up innovation to independent innovation.
Differentiated and high-quality innovation has become the core
competitiveness of enterprises, while accelerated resource consolidation
and continuous industry concentration are also observed.
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Multiple fields such as innovative drugs, medical devices, and traditional
Chinese medicine (TCM) foster incremental growth space for the
Chinese pharmaceutical industry. Emerging technologies represented
by novel antibodies, gene and cell therapies, and synthetic biology are
gradually maturing, creating the vast potential for the pharmaceutical
industry to seize the opportunities of the new wave of scientific and
technological revolution and industrial transformation. Al technologies
are empowering all aspects of the pharmaceutical industry, facilitating
efficiency improvement and the evolution of business models.
Innovative drugs are greeted with full-chain supportive policies, while
China is comprehensively deepening reforms in drug and medical device
regulation, with review and approval resources increasingly allocated to
innovative products. Sustained support for the inheritance, innovation,
and development of TCM continues, with major projects for the
revitalization and development of TCM being gradually implemented.

Reforms and regulations in the pharmaceutical industry have driven
profound changes across the entire sector, providing strong guarantees
for its healthy development. The coordinated development of medical
insurance, medical services, and the pharmaceutical industry has led
the reform into deeper waters, continuously promoting the high-quality
development of the pharmaceutical industry. The reform of medical
insurance payment methods has been continuously deepened, and the
quality improvement and scope expansion of centralized procurement
have been carried out, facilitating the innovative transformation of
the pharmaceutical industry. The multi-level medical security system is
gradually being improved to promote the coordinated development
of basic medical insurance and commercial health insurance. There is
an increased focus on equipment renewal in the field of healthcare,
which drives the expansion of the pharmaceutical market and the
development of medical devices. The anti-corruption campaign in the
pharmaceutical and medical fields has been advanced in-depth, laying
the foundation for the industry’s institutional building and healthy
development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

GROUP RESULTS AND HIGHLIGHTS

In 2024, the Group proactively aligned with national strategies, actively
fostered new quality productive forces, and focused on planning
the layout of strategic emerging industries, optimizing research and
development (R&D) innovation strategies, strengthening external
development and professional integration, deepening state-owned
enterprise reform, and enhancing actions. The Group also actively
embraced centralized procurement, continuously improved digitalization
and green development. The Group has achieved steady growth in
results, continuous improvement in operational resilience, and sustained
enhancement of the momentum for high-quality development despite
significant pressures in the overall pharmaceutical industry.

The Group is a leading integrated pharmaceutical company with stable
and consolidated strength in China’s pharmaceutical industry. The
Group ranks third in the industry in terms of overall scale, second in the
top 100 pharmaceutical industry for its pharmaceutical manufacturing
business, and third in the industry scale for its pharmaceutical distribution
business. During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved outstanding
performance in brand building. Its subsidiary, CR Sanjiu was selected
as one of the “Top 100 Most Valuable Chinese Brands of 2024” by
Kantar, being one of the only three pharmaceutical brands on the list.
CR Jiangzhong ranked 6th in the pharmaceutical industry of the 2024
China’s 500 Most Valuable Brands list. Dong-E-E-Jiao successfully had
its brand marketing and product innovation case selected for the “2024
World Brand Yearbook”, ranking first in the Health Industry Brand
Value List for 10 consecutive years; and CR Zizhu was approved as a
“Specialized, Refined, and Innovative ‘Little Giant’ Enterprise” by the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology.

1.  Financial Performance

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded total revenue
of RMB257,673.3 million, representing an increase of 5.3%
compared to RMB244,703.9 million in the same period last
year. In 2024, the revenue of the Group’s three major business
segments, namely pharmaceutical manufacturing, pharmaceutical
distribution, pharmaceutical retail businesses and others,
accounted for 16.1%), 80.0% and 3.9% of the Group's total
revenue, respectively.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a gross
profit of RMB40,688.9 million, an increase of 6.1% from
RMB38,337.5 million in 2023. The overall gross profit margin in
2024 was 15.8%, which marked an increase of 0.1 percentage
points compared to 15.7% in 2023. This was primarily due to
the increase in the gross profit margin of the pharmaceutical
manufacturing business during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a net profit
of RMB8,403.2 million, representing an increase of 8.1% from
RMB7,775.0 million for 2023. The Company generated a profit
attributable to owners of RMB3,350.9 million, a decrease of
13.1% compared to RMB3,854.2 million for 2023. Excluding the
effect of one-off items such as the impairment of associates, the
net profit of the Group recorded a healthy year-on-year growth of
13.1% during the Reporting Period, while the profit attributable
to the owners of the Company recorded a year-on-year growth
of 0.5%. Basic earnings per share were RMB0.53 during the
Reporting Period (2023: RMBO0.61). Excluding the effect of the
increase in minority interests and one-off items, profit attributable
to the owners of the Company achieved double-digit year-on-
year growth in 2024. The Board recommended the final dividend
payment of RMBO0.052 per share for the year ended 31 December
2024.

FENE FRER
REVENUE PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
ARBEE 253% AREES +8.1%
RMB million RMB million
300,000 10,000
244704 257,673 8,403
77 ’
9,579 —— 8,000 7.775
200,000
6,000
4,000
100,000
2,000
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2023 2024 2023 2024
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2. BWBEK 2. Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Business
—E_MEAREKE %’éﬁ%ﬁ‘%&iﬂﬂ ) In 2024, the Group's pharmaceutical manufacturing business and
R BIRIL R - TR EE— TR sectors both recorded growth, and the gross profit margin further
FomoBRT m’%fi%é): oR=Ras increased, showing the positive momentum in the high-quality
e o S E BN AR B2 ) ok development track. During the Reporting Period, the Group
. bgE - EYRREEEEER focused on the construction of the whole industrial chain of TCM,
E—TEEPEEXERBTHE chemical drugs, and biopharmaceutical drugs to further release
B REHESeFEE - BEE T+ the potential of the TCM industry chain in leading and integrating

SEFR  BEZIEKR - BIF6 the development. The Group also promoted innovative
NERE—FSRA ITESHESR transformation firmly and made certain achievements by way
BE FTHRAEBEREZER KR of combining independent research and cooperation, which
FEFMGFEEERKTE  BE5% further enhanced its innovation ability; by building an excellent
THEE  MRINER R - EIR 3EFF operating system, taking initiatives to reduce costs and increase
BIEBEM S ESHEER T efficiency, the digitalization and green low-carbon levels were
CEEmAE HHHREER - improved significantly, thus earning the Group several honors. In
T (RE)EMHERER QA terms of extended development, three mergers and acquisitions
(BT FDOHBESRBER: (M&A) projects had been completed, leading to several products
FTEREEER YERBRERK introduced and the product portfolio enriched, reflecting the
ETHER- indeed impact of M&A and integration of entities such as KPC

and Green Cross HK (China) Biological Products Co., Ltd (%% 1
F(RE)AEDERERAR]) ("Green Cross”). Regarding the
centralized procurement, 14 products were included in the tenth
batch of the national centralized procurement.

72U = 2EWER
SEGMENT REVENUE SEGMENT GROSS PROFIT
ARBEE +6.6% AEBEE *7.1%
RMB million RMB million
50,000 46,324 40,000 90%
43,465
27,505
25,692
70%
25,000 20,000
50%
0 0 30%
2023 2024 2023 2024
I =7 Gross profit EFI% Gross profit margin
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(1)

Financial performance

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s pharmaceutical
manufacturing business generated segment revenue of
RMB46,323.7 million, representing an increase of 6.6%
compared with that of 2023. All business segments,
including TCM, chemical drugs, and biological drugs,
recorded a general increase in revenue. The gross profit
margin of the pharmaceutical business was 59.4%,
representing an increase of 0.3 percentage points
compared with the same period last year. This improvement

was mainly attributable to the optimization of product
structures, technological advancements, and enhanced
production efficiency.

Sales revenue from
pharmaceutical

manufacturing [ b 38 3R

RBEERER business by product —E-MF Year-on-year
HRl& o sHERA categories 2024 growth

(AREBEER) (ARBBEET
(RMB’million) (RMB'million)

i M 24,223.0 21,592.8 12.2%
Hh o JERR T 5 Of which: OTC drugs 15,770.3 13,868.9 13.7%
B 7 B Prescription drugs 8,452.7 7,723.9 9.4%
i(-%-1 Chemical drugs 17,510.1 17,032.0 2.8%
Heph o JEEH & Of which: OTC drugs 4,249.9 3,846.2 10.5%
B 7 B Prescription drugs 12,070.3 11,8243 2.1%

JR K} 52 APIs 1,189.9 1,361.5 -12.6%
/-3 Biological drugs 2,206.6 2,135.8 3.3%
EERBAREM Nutraceuticals and others 2,384.0 2,704.4 -11.8%
&5t Total 46,323.7 43,465.0 6.6%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Operation overview

The Group owns a comprehensive portfolio of
pharmaceutical products covering a wide range of
therapeutic areas, including chemical drugs, biological
drugs, TCM, and nutraceuticals. These fully cover all
major therapeutic and disease areas that offer favorable
business growth potential, such as cardiovascular and
cerebrovascular diseases, alimentary tract, endocrine
diseases, respiratory diseases, orthopedics, nephrology,
rheumatology and immunology, medical nutrition,
pediatrics, genitourinary system, dermatological diseases,
blood products, therapeutic infusions, antitumor drugs,
medicine for cough and cold, anti-infection drugs and
psychoneurosis. As at the end of the Reporting Period, the
Group had 75 production bases with 507 production lines,
which manufactured a total of 840 products, of which 439
were included in the National Reimbursement Drug List and
205 were included in the National Essential Drug List. All
of the Group’s pharmaceutical manufacturing subsidiaries
have established professional sales and marketing teams
that cover over 100,000 medical institutions. During the
Reporting Period, there were 73 products with sales of over
RMB100 million.
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In terms of product categories, the Group's revenue
from the TCM business of pharmaceutical manufacturing
segment was RMB24,233.0 million during the Reporting
Period, representing a year-on-year increase of 12.2%,
of which revenue from the TCM OTC drug business
increased by 13.7% year-on-year, with significant growth
in revenue from the E-Jiao series products and the cold
areas; while revenue from the TCM prescription drug
business increased by 9.4% year-on-year, mainly driven
by the significant increase in revenue from the medicinal
granular products. The chemical drug business recorded
revenue of RMB17,510.1 million, representing a year-on-
year growth of 2.8%, of which revenue from the chemical
OTC drug business increased by 10.5% year-on-year,
mainly driven by the revenue growth in dermatology areas;
revenue from the chemical prescription drug business
increased by 2.1% year-on-year, primarily due to revenue
growth in the anti-infection area; and revenue from active
pharmaceutical ingredients (API) business decreased by
12.6% year-on-year, affected by the fluctuations of API
prices and the intensified competition in the international
market. During the Reporting Period, the biological
drug business achieved revenue of RMB2,206.6 million,
representing a growth of 3.3% as compared to the same
period last year, with the revenue from the sales of blood
products and gastrointestinal area increased. The revenue
from nutraceuticals and other business recorded revenue of
RMB2,384.0 million, representing a decrease of 11.8% as
compared to the same period last year, mainly due to the
initiative of optimizing the product structure by reducing
the sales of OEM nutritional food products. The market-
leading position and share of self-diagnosis and treatment
business were further enhanced, the Group recorded a
revenue of RMB21.49 billion during the Reporting Period,
representing a year-on-year increase of 12.4%.
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Optimizing the industrial layout and focusing on the
development of strategic emerging fields

The Group regarded investment, M&A, as well as
professional integration, as important means to accelerate
the layout of strategic emerging industries, and intensify
the integration of high-quality resources in core fields such
as TCM, chemical drugs, biological drugs, and medical
devices.

Promoting equity mergers and acquisitions and
integrating industrial resources: During the Reporting
Period, the Group focused on promoting three M&A
projects. CR Sanjiu, a subsidiary of the Group, proposed
to acquire 28% equity interests of Tasly Pharmaceuticals
Group Co., Ltd. (KT HEBEEE B KB AR A F) (“Tasly
Pharmaceuticals”), which would further consolidate the
Group'’s leading position in the TCM industry and enhance
its innovation capabilities. In the field of biopharmaceuticals,
CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical, a subsidiary of the Group,
acquired 100% equity interests in Green Cross HK
Holdings Limited (“Green Cross HK"), achieving an
indirect acquisition of Green Cross, a domestic entity in
China. As a result, the Group has added a wholly-owned
blood product manufacturing enterprise, one production
license, four operating plasma collection stations, as well
as the commercialization rights of imported albumin and
recombinant factor VIIl. This will further strengthen the
Group's core competitiveness in the blood product field. In
the field of medical equipment and devices, the Group has
completed the acquisition of Sichuan Nigale Biotechnology
Co., Ltd. (K0l Fg 1% @ = ¥ BB IR 22 &) (“Nigale”).
Following the transaction, the Group holds approximately
72% of the voting rights in Nigale and has achieved
consolidation of the Company. Nigale is a manufacturer of
plasma transfusion and collection equipment, consumables,
and pharmaceuticals for full-system healthcare solutions,
and a leading enterprise in domestic plasma collection
equipment and consumables. This acquisition will further
strengthen the core competitiveness of the Group in the
blood products field, enabling strategic “supply chain
enhancement” (completing the chain) and “industrial chain
extension” (extending the chain) across two key sectors:
medical devices and blood-derived products.
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Attaching importance to post-investment integration
to realize investment value: The Group has actively
prioritized post-investment management, and focused
on the post-investment integration with KPC and Green
Cross during the Reporting Period. Following the strategic
acquisition of KPC in 2023, the Group has formulated
a strategic planning centering on four reshaping works,
defining KPC's strategic vision to become “a leader in
the silver health industry”. KPC officially launched the
“777" new brand. Centering on the corporate brand of
“Kun Zhong Yao 1381", by closely integrating intensified
marketing efforts with enhanced brand visibility and
driving multi-channel synergies, the Group accelerated
end-user conversion, rapidly expanded channel coverage,
and optimized its portfolio across premium TCM, the
Panax notoginseng (Sangi) industry chain, and non-Sangi
businesses. Concurrently, the Group extended its presence
in chronic disease management, refined organizational
governance, and further enhanced the operational quality
of KPC. Meanwhile, the Group actively advanced post-
investment integration with Green Cross, achieving full
alignment in plasma collection, production, quality control,
IT systems, and marketing operations. The China Resources
management system was systematically introduced, with
key leadership roles appointed and deployed, management
processes streamlined, and organizational structures
optimized, ensuring a steady integration of Green Cross into
the China Resources ecosystem.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Actively conducting product introduction and
continuously enriching the product portfolio: The
Group attaches great importance to the introduction
of advanced technologies and products at home and
abroad, constantly enriches its products, and enhances
its technological capabilities. During the Reporting
Period, exclusive sales agency contracts were signed with
Zhongtian (Shanghai) Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (K (/)
£ R B R A ) and Oneness Biotech Co., Ltd. (A —
R B BR A ), securing a 20-year exclusive agency
rights in mainland China for the Class 1.1 innovative drug
“Fespixon”. The transaction is conducive to strengthening
the Group’s resource advantages in the endocrine field,
promoting the innovation and service upgrade of the
diabetes business, and bringing better health management
solutions to Chinese patients with diabetic foot. The
introduction of Zhejiang Baidai Lactulose Oral Solution was
completed, filling the gap in the layout of the constipation
treatment in the intestinal product category. A strategic
cooperation agreement was signed with Shandong Dyne
Marine Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (11 R ZEREF LY
B2 5 F R 2 &)) for the vitamin D drops (capsule type)
product, making the Group the sole domestic agent of
this product, fully responsible for market promotion and
omni-channel marketing, and promoting the application
of vitamin D supplementation among a wider range of
people.
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Focusing on R&D and innovation to develop new quality
productivity

Concentrating resources on building a high-quality
R&D pipeline. The Group regards R&D innovation as
an important driving force for long-term growth. During
the Reporting Period, the total R&D expenditure was
RMB2,437 million. The Group has enhanced its innovative
R&D capability by following industry technology trends
and unmet clinical and market demands and through ways
such as independent R&D and external cooperation. The
Group has continued to streamline the R&D pipeline and
dynamically carried out optimization. By concentrating
on its advantageous resources and focusing on its core
business, the Group has enhanced its R&D efficiency and
the quality of its pipeline. At the end of the Reporting
Period, the Group had 417 ongoing drug R&D projects,
including 67 innovative drug projects and more than 50
classic Chinese medicine prescriptions. Moreover, the
Group achieved several important R&D results in the fields
of chemical drugs, biological drugs, TCM, and health
supplements.

Chemical drugs: During the Reporting Period, the Group
obtained drug registration approvals for 27 chemical
drug products including Glipizide extended-release
tablets, Apixaban tablets, Levetiracetam XR Tablets.
This has further enriched the product portfolio in the
treatment of hypertension, anti-infection, digestive tract,
and other areas. 14 products, including Clozapine Orally
Disintegrating Tablets, Ganciclovir for Injection, passed the
generic drugs quality and efficacy consistency evaluation.
NIP046, a drug for the treatment of chronic spontaneous
urticaria, has been approved to carry out a Phase Il clinical
trial.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Biological drugs: The Group has continued to enhance
its deployment of original biological drugs, improved new
drugs and blood products. During the Reporting Period, the
third-generation thrombolytic drug, Recombinant Human
Tissue Plasminogen Activator Derivatives (r-PA) for Injection
(product name: Ruitongli), was approved for marketing for
the indication of treating acute stroke, and the results of
its Phase Il clinical trial were published in the international
authoritative journal “The New England Journal of
Medicine” (IF:158.5). The application of new drug approval
for intravenous immunoglobulin (10%) and human tetanus
immunoglobulin was accepted; 20% subcutaneous human
immunoglobulin clinical trial registration materials were
submitted.

TCM: Adhering to the research principle of “inheritance
of essences and pursuit of integrity and innovation”, the
Group has focused on the research of classic prescriptions
of TCM, Chinese medicinal granular standards, and
Chinese materia medica resources. During the Reporting
Period, three classic formulas, namely Linggui Zhugan Tang
Granule, Wenjing Tang Granule, and Paeonia Lactiflora and
Liquorice Decoction Granule, were approved. Compound
E-jiao Jiang, an improved new drug for the treatment of
cancer-related fatigue, was approved for Phase Il clinical
trials, research achievements garnered the “Special
Merit Awards” of the 2024 American Society of Clinical
Oncology, and the “Best Research Award” at the Society
for Integrative Oncology Annual Meeting. A Class 1 TCM
innovative drug for the treatment of acute ischaemic stroke
is now in a Phase Il clinical trial.
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The Group has actively applied for national science
and technology programs and vigorously built up
competitive edge on intellectual property rights.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was awarded 21
national, provincial/ministerial-level awards, among which
the “Construction and Demonstrating Application of the
Theory and Technology System of Ecological Planting of
Chinese Medicinal Materials” project and the “Innovation
and Application of Key Technologies for Mining and
Industrialization of Fine Lactic Acid Bacteria Germplasm
Resources” project were both awarded the second prize of
the National Award for Science and Technology Progress;
Two First Prizes of Science and Technology Award were
granted by China Association of Chinese Medicine. The
Group obtained approval for 10 projects at national,
provincial/ministerial levels, including one national key
project, namely the “Key Technologies and Industrialization
Demonstration of Processing for Food and Medicine
Originating from the Same Source”, and participated
in one national key project, namely the “Scientific and
Technological Support for Food Manufacturing and
Agricultural Product Logistics”. The Group has actively
implemented the national intellectual property powerhouse
strategy, continuously improved its intellectual property
management system, and built competitive barriers for core
technologies. During the Reporting Period, 129 invention
patents were newly added.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Leveraging the Group’s multi-tier R&D platforms
to build technological capabilities in high-potential
tracks. As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group
had one state key laboratory, three national engineering
research centers, four national enterprise technology
centers, as well as over 90 provincial municipal-level R&D
platforms, and a post-doctoral research workstation.
Leveraging platforms at all levels, the Group has
accelerated innovative transformation with a focus on
high-growth and high-potential marked segments. It also
advanced the development of innovative R&D platforms for
TCM, chemical drugs, and biological drugs while actively
expanding into synthetic biology.

TCM: Relying on national-level research platforms including
the National Key Laboratory and National Engineering
Research and Technology Center, the Group focuses on the
research on innovative TCM, classic prescriptions of TCM,
TCM formular granular standards, development of modern
TCM and Chinese material medica resources.

Chemical innovative drugs: Targeting major diseases
such as anti-oncology, anti-infection, and autoimmune
disorders, the Group builds a comprehensive and efficient
R&D chain that integrates target discovery, AIDD/CADD
(Al-Driven Drug Design/Computer-Aided Drug Design),
compound synthesis, drug screening and optimization,
Chemistry, Manufacturing and Controls (CMC), clinical
studies, and biological evaluation.
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Bio-innovative drugs: Dedicated to innovative drug
design, molecular construction, and yeast expression
system-based CMC development for monoclonal
antibodies, bispecific antibodies, nanobodies, and
polypeptide drugs, the Group is advancing clinical research
to create differentiated competitive advantages in product
portfolios.

Synthetic biology: The Group has introduced a chief
scientist, established R&D teams, and built a pilot scale
experiment development platform to achieve large-scale
production. It continuous to construct and improve the
R&D-pilot-industrialization three-tier industrial system to
achieve full-chain industrialization of synthetic biology
products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group actively promotes external innovation and
cooperation to create a robust innovation ecosystem.
By establishing a mechanism for business development
synergy, the Group is dedicated to promoting strategic
cooperation with national innovative institutions, such
as National Medical Center in the field of innovative
medical projects and technologies and has made smooth
progress in this regard. At the same time, the Group
actively explores new collaborations with universities
and R&D institutions. While acquiring projects and
technologies, the Group accesses top external experts,
which allows it to diversify and optimize innovative
R&D pipelines. During the Reporting Period, the Group
initiated research collaborations with over 10 leading
research organizations. For example, we entered into
a strategic agreement with the State Key Laboratory of
Pharmaceutical Biotechnology at The University of Hong
Kong, and a strategic cooperation agreement with the
Institute of Advanced Studies of the University of Macau
in Henggin, resulting in four signed projects; we entered
into a strategic agreement with the Institute of Blood
Transfusion of the Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences
to establish the “Joint Innovation Center for Blood and
Cell Therapy”, focusing on key technology research and
application cooperation in the fields of blood and cells,
to jointly explore innovative modes of industry-university-
research and results transformation; we have established
a comprehensive strategic collaboration with Hong Kong
Baptist University on innovative TCM development,
securing approval for an “Industry-Academia-Research 1+"
project on “digestive system TCM drug development” with
finance support of HK$36 million from Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region Government; we jointly established
the “Joint Innovation Laboratory” with Jiangnan University,
the “Deer Industry Innovation Research Institute” with the
Dalian Institute of Chemical Physics, Chinese Academy of
Sciences, the “Joint Innovation Center for Gelatin-based
Drugs” with the Qingdao Marine Biomedical Research
Institute of China Ocean University, the “China Agricultural
University — Dong-E-E-Jiao Industrial Innovation Research
Institute” with China Agricultural University, the “Joint
Laboratory for New Drug Research and Development” with
Shenyang Pharmaceutical University, and the Academician
Workstation in collaboration with the academician team
led by Professor Shi Bi of Sichuan University, among others.
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The Group places great emphasis on attracting and
developing scientific talent to build a high-caliber
scientific research team. The Group has implemented a
comprehensive talent recruitment and development system,
strengthening efforts to nurture talent at all levels. Our
R&D team comprises approximately 3,000 professionals,
with master’s and doctoral degree holders accounting for
43.06%. To further drive innovative transformation and
sustainable development, the Group has refined its external
expert appointment system and expanded its network of
external specialists.

Strengthening the construction of the industrial chain to
enhance industrial resilience

The Group places great importance on the autonomy and
high-quality development of the industrial chain. The Group
actively established upstream medicinal materials planting
bases with a cumulative planting area exceeding 300,000
acres, and 13 varieties have passed the new version of GAP
Extended Inspection. The Group built a traceability system
for the entire TCM industrial chain, ensuring full traceability
for more than 100 key varieties of TCM. The Group also
conducted over 30 research projects on the protection and
breeding technology of donkey resources and passed the
“Three Nos and Whole Process Traceability” certification
for high-quality medicinal materials issued by National
Chinese Medicinal Materials Alliance, which filled a gap
in the domestic approval of animal-based medicinal
materials. Besides, the Group proactively implemented an
integrated strategy for chemical raw material formulations
by enhancing raw material research and development
and optimizing processes based on supporting industrial
facilities, thereby establishing a low-cost advantage under
the competitive mechanism of the APl market. During
the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a significant
reduction in contamination rates for key raw materials and
a decline in unit costs, and made substantial improvements
in basic management. In addition, the Group is highly
focused on the safety of raw material supply for blood
products. Through measures such as continuously refining
local plasma donation environments and improving the
quality of plasma station services, the Group successfully
achieved good growth in the collection of raw material
plasma and collected 522 tons of raw material plasma in
total during the Reporting Period, representing an 11.7%
year-on-year increase. The Group's two newly established
plasma collection stations have officially commenced
operation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Deepening operational excellence to enhance quality,
reduce costs, and improve efficiency

The Group adheres to a quality-driven approach to enhance
efficiency, creating an excellent operational system and
advancing the integrated development of intelligent
and green manufacturing. First, the Group significantly
improved its quality management standards. The entire
system initiated the construction of a Quality Management
System (QMS), achieving improvements in both efficiency
and quality. CR Sanjiu launched a standardized quality
system project aligned with international standards and
completed the acceptance of the first phase of the QMS
project. CR Double-Crane received the “2024 Excellent
Quality Award for Pharmaceutical Enterprises (== = P4
BEMEEHFEE )" CR Jiangzhong completed QMS
research, and its “Online Inspection Quality Control System
for the Entire Production Process of Major Traditional
Chinese Medicine Varieties ((F# X miE@ £ E 2 BIEHE
fin Rl E EEEEE X)) was selected as a “2024 Typical
Case of Intelligent and Collaborative Governance” by
the National Medical Products Administration. Dong-E-
E-Jiao introduced a Laboratory Information Management
System (LIMS) to establish a flexible production quality
assurance system for healthcare products. Second, the
Group implemented automation upgrades for production
lines. The Group continuously upgraded the automation of
infusion production lines, advanced the construction of the
Haisi Jinjiang Park (/& 87 & [ [&) project, and enhanced the
production capacity of BIFIDO ( B 7R3E), while completing
the full-line automation of An Bei Te (% B #%) oral liquid
production. Third, the Group innovated in the processes
and technologies. The Group launched lean projects in
key areas that improve the yield of several core products
in the TCM nourishment sector, thereby cost reductions
exceeding RMB10 million have been realized. Additionally,
the Group optimized the production processes for core
blood product offerings, maintaining a stable increase in
yield and remaining at the forefront of the industry.
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Proactively optimizing marketing strategies in response to
the centralized drug procurement policy.

The Group proactively participated in centralized
procurement. Since the implementation of the national
volume-based procurement (NVBP) policy, the Group has
had 49 varieties selected for the state-organized centralized
drug procurement. The centralized procurement of
drugs and medical devices presents both challenges
and opportunities for the Group. The Group proactively
embraced centralized procurement and implemented a
series of measures to adapt, thereby accumulating extensive
experience operational experience. Although centralized
procurement has led to price reductions that impact
profits, it has also opened up more potential markets
for the Group and driven changes in sales models. By
exchanging price for volume, the Group has minimized the
impact on product revenue and profits while continuously
promoting low-cost operations across the entire value
chain. The Group also constantly improved its scale of
production to reduce production costs and sales expenses,
thus ensuring its competitive edge in the industry. At the
same time, the Group actively developed products and
continuously obtained their approvals. Through centralized
procurement, such approved products have been allowed
to be sold directly in hospitals and generated procurement
bonuses for the Group. During the Reporting Period, 14 of
the Group’s products were selected for the tenth batch of
state-organized centralized drug procurement.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group continuously advanced the transformation
of marketing models. On the medical aspect, the Group
quickly entered the core medical market through the rapid
approval of generic drugs and participation in centralized
procurement. Building on this market foundation, the
Group focused on medication markets for chronic diseases,
lower-tier market and specialized areas, continually
enhancing its professional academic promotion and service
capabilities. For the out-of-hospital market, the Group
strived to create a three-dimensional marketing system that
integrates both online and offline channels, as well as in-
hospital and out-of-hospital markets. Through strategic
partnerships, the Group improved product coverage in the
retail market, ensuring the multi-channel accessibility of
prescription drugs both in and out of hospitals. Meanwhile,
the Group established a consumer-oriented retail model
to further drive the development of its over-the-counter
(OTC) brand. Additionally, the Group accelerated the
implementation of digital marketing by developing a
marketing system on mainstream e-commerce platforms in
China.
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Pharmaceutical Distribution and Retail Business

In 2024, the Group’s pharmaceutical distribution and retail
business reported steady growth. During the Reporting Period,
the Group focused on establishing an integrated system of drug
procurement and marketing nationwide, coordinating multiple
resources and deeply exploring customer needs to continuously
improve the quality and efficiency of business development.
Through strategic transformation initiatives, we have not only
built multi-channel and in-depth marketing capabilities, but also
secured product commercialization rights from foreign-invested
enterprises. Through extended development, the Group further
diversified the network layout to expand the in vitro diagnosis
(IVD) and blood product distribution business. The medical supply
chain management (SPD) and device business has been steadily
promoted to strengthen our leading position in the orthopedics
market. The Group also continuously explored new business
and models with a focus on Internet and commercial insurance,
while reinforcing its development strategies for retail business
to enhance professional pharmaceutical services. At the end of
the Reporting Period, the Group’s pharmaceutical distribution
network has covered 28 provinces across China, serving
approximately 270,000 clients. The Group operated a total of
708 self-owned retail pharmacies, including 270 DTP pharmacies
(professional direct-to-patient pharmacies) in total (including 182
“dual-channel” pharmacies, with 29 newly added).
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(1) Financial performance
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s pharmaceutical
distribution business recorded segment revenue of
RMB213,237.3 million, representing a year-on-year increase
of 5.5%. The gross profit margin of the distribution
business was 5.9%, remained stable compared with the
same period of last year.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s pharmaceutical
retail business recorded revenue of RMB10,104.2 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 5.5%, primarily due
to the rapid growth in revenue from the Direct To Patient
(DTP) business. During the Reporting Period, the DTP
business of the Group achieved revenue of approximately
RMB6.9 billion, representing a year-on-year growth
of approximately 17%. The gross profit margin of the
retail business was 6.2%, representing a decrease of 1.4
percentage point as compared to the same period of last
year, primarily due to the increased proportion of revenue
from the DTP business with lower profit margin.
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Business overview

Building an integrated organization of procurement and
marketing, and improving the business integration and
coordination capabilities.

During the Reporting Period, the Group established
the procurement and marketing department under CR
Pharmaceutical Commercial, which was responsible for
building an integrated system for drug procurement,
marketing, and operation nationwide. The Group
developed the capability to integrate procurement and
marketing between headquarters and regions while
developing and maintaining a good relationship with
KOL think tank from institutions related to the central
government. The Group also deeply explored the demand
of suppliers, and provided multiple models for the
cooperation between industry and commerce, such as
buyout of marketing authorization holder, centralized
negotiation and centralized procurement, centralized
negotiation and separate procurement, general distribution
and third-party logistics, and combined and mobilized
regional high-quality industrial resources to realise the
integration of channels across the country. Meanwhile, the
Group explored to create a supply chain-based and high-
value industrial service system, thereby contributing to the
high-quality development of its core business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Promoting strategic transformation and developing the
multi-channel and in-depth marketing capability.

Based on a profound understanding of customer needs,
the Group built an in-depth marketing service system,
formulated, optimized, and implemented the market
strategies of products and projects, strengthened the
management on channel partners and digital healthcare
innovation business, and promoted the effective
integration and precise allocation of resources. With a
focus on the domestic and overseas products that played
a stronger leading role in brands and prescriptions, the
Group enhanced its capabilities of in-depth marketing in
the healthcare market and orderly marketing in the retail
market, and created the in-depth marketing brand of
“Runyaoyu” (JE#13). Currently, the Group has provided
diversified solutions for more than 60 upstream well-known
pharmaceutical companies such as Pfizer, AstraZeneca,
Squibb, Viatris, and Eisai. The Group considers terminal
marketing and brand operation as its core competitive
strengths, striving to provide more healthcare services to
patients. During the Reporting Period, the Group entered
into a formal strategic cooperation agreement with
Pfizer Investment Co., Ltd. The parties intended to jointly
promote the commercial operation of four quality mature
medicines for lung cancer and breast cancer and carry out
in-depth marketing. This is an oncology product-marketing
project of a relatively large scale in the industry.
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Continuously consolidating the business foundation and
enhancing the operational capabilities of medical device
projects.

The Group has been continuously strengthening its medical
device business. During the Reporting Period, the revenue
from medical devices reached RMB33.4 billion, representing
a year-on-year increase of 5%. As the Group introduced
25 new SPD terminal service projects, the revenue from
SPD centralized distribution increased by 20% year-on-
year, further enhancing the lean management capabilities
of in-hospital logistics for the medical device business. The
Group has also actively carried out product introductions.
During the Reporting Period, the Group introduced 9
products as a general agency through unified negotiations.
The Group strengthened its specialized capabilities in
orthopedics, interventional supplies, and IVD diagnostic
reagents, accelerating the optimization of the business
layout in specialist areas. In the orthopedics sector, the
Group has achieved a leading position in the industry
and also set up a nationwide supply chain and service-
integrated platform. With over 100 orthopedic sub-
warehouses established across provinces, the Group has
developed an operation platform for smart orthopedics
of CR medical device to further enhance its intelligent
and professional service capabilities. The Group has also
established partnerships with several well-known domestic
and foreign manufacturers and undertaken the multi-
provincial business of products from Alcon, a US company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Exploring new models and businesses to enhance the
ability to foster new drivers of growth.

Exploration of new models: In response to the trend of
channel expansion and prescription outflow, the Group
offered prescription platform services to hospitals. During
the Reporting Period, the Group obtained the first Category
3 license for an integrated internet hospital of traditional
Chinese and Western medicine in Beijing and officially
launched its proprietary internet medical platform — Beijing
Run Xiaoyi (/)N ) Internet Hospital with the support
of Beijing Jiangong Hospital. The Group also vigorously
developed its online platforms such as “CR Pharma e-Store
(B 225 3)" and “CR E Purchase (B E#R)" to expand
the off-hospital market to include targeted end-customers
such as pharmacies, clinics and village health rooms.
During the Reporting Period, the online platform recorded
a transaction amount of approximately RMB31.1 billion.
Furthermore, the Group has been proactively handling
commercial insurance payments and collaborating with
Yibao Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (B R & & (L&)
ABR A ) to introduce universal outpatient insurance in
provinces such as Hunan and Shandong. This initiative has
resulted in 900,000 individuals being insured, recording
approximately 40,000 orders with a cumulative contract
performance amount of RMB4.74 million during the
Reporting Period.
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Expansion of new businesses: The Group accelerated
the layout of the distribution business in the field of animal
healthcare, and has successively acquired the national
general agency for pet digital radiography (DR), computed
tomography (CT), high-intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU)
and intelligent wearable ECG monitor products of Vertu
Ltd., Shenzhen and other manufacturers. The Group
has also obtained HISUN’s general distribution rights
in Southern China. Leveraging on the integration and
restructuring of Guangdong Fuda Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. (B E A E B H R 2 7)), the Group enriched its
resources of blood products, and integrated and expanded
its blood product distribution business. The Group
comprehensively promoted value-added scientific research
services for medical customers and offered comprehensive
supply chain solutions, so as to reshape the value of
traditional medical channels. During the Reporting Period,
the Group deeply operated COE (Centers of Excellence).
Besides, the Group carried out 2 scientific research projects
in the field of oncology. Moreover, the Group implemented
the “Digital Therapy Project” in Jiangsu, Shandong and
Henan. Digital therapy is an evidence-based medicine-
driven intervention program powered by software, which
is used for preventing, treating, or managing diseases and
improving disease prognosis.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Strengthening the development of specialized pharmacies
and enhancing the capabilities of servicing patients.

The Group has been continuously strengthening the
development of specialized pharmacies by optimizing its
product categories, and improving its operational quality
and service capabilities. The Group also unceasingly
facilitated the integrated development of its online and
offline businesses, creating competitive advantages in
terms of specialization, standardization, and digitization
of the retail business. Besides, the Group has consistently
enhanced its professional service capabilities and drug
supply system, aiming for integrated, standardized, and
regulated operation and management of pharmacies.
Efforts have also been made to facilitate the acquisition
of “dual-channel” and “outpatient coordination”
qualifications for pharmacies in order to actively
accommodate the growing outflow of prescriptions. During
the Reporting Period, the Group has continued building a
“pharmacy services + Internet” service ecosystem based on
“Run Care (ERAE )", its proprietary intellectual property-
based pharmaceutical service platform, to drive the
transformation and upgrading of pharmaceutical services.
The Group strengthened patient management and follow-
up services while further enhancing connectivity across
upstream and downstream sectors, offering professional
pharmaceutical services and management solutions to
both patients and manufacturers, thereby providing
patients with whole-process digital disease management
throughout their treatment cycles.
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Advancing digital empowerment to unlock new
growth drivers

The Group regards digital intelligence as the new engine
for innovative transformation and fully embraces digital
transformation. It enhanced digital intelligence coverage across
various business scenarios, including R&D, manufacturing,
quality control, operations, marketing, and commerce, while
exploring new models that integrate digital technologies with
business growth. During the Reporting Period, CR Sanjiu, Dong-
E-E-Jiao and CR Jiangzhong were successfully selected in the
first batch of “Outstanding Smart Factories” recognized by the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology (MIIT). Dong-
E-E-Jiao passed the “Level 4 Assessment of Matured Intelligent
Manufacturing Capability” by the MIIT, making it the third
enterprise within the Group to receive this certification. CR
Jiangzhong's digital transformation was awarded multiple top-
tier certifications, including the pharmaceutical industry’s first-
ever “Digital Transformation Maturity 3-Star Rating” by the MIIT
in China, the “AAA rating for Integration of Industrialization
and Informatization”, and the “Stable Level (Level 3) of the Data
Management Capability Maturity Model (DCMM)". Focusing on
the digital development strategy of “Digital Healthcare Commerce
and B-to-C”, the Group leveraged digitalisation to empower
commercial circulation, activate data value and empower
lean operations. It accelerated the development of business
digitalization, enriched the types of online platforms to meet the
multi-scenario purchasing needs of various end-customers, and
improved the transaction success rate and efficiency. Thirdly, it
accelerated the integration of the supply chain. Its key application
capabilities of pharmaceutical commercial digitisation have been
steadily improved, with the digital coverage rate of key segments
increased to 71%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Deepening green and low-carbon initiatives to fulfill
social responsibility

The Group remains committed to the concept of green and
low-carbon development and actively implements energy-
saving and carbon reduction initiatives to fulfill its corporate
social responsibility. It continuously improves its environmental
protection and governance capabilities, accelerates the
implementation of energy conservation and environmental
protection projects, adopts new technologies, and enhances
energy efficiency, to strengthen its sustainable development
competitiveness.

In terms of the construction of energy-saving and environmental
protection projects, the Group actively deployed distributed
photovoltaic (PV) power generation projects to increase
the proportion of green and low-carbon energy. In 2024,
12 subsidiaries of the Group completed rooftop distributed PV
power generation projects with a total installed capacity of 14.19
MW and achieved grid-connected power generation. These
projects provide over 17.4798 million kWh of clean electricity
annually, which will reduce carbon emissions by approximately
9,732 tons.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received multiple awards
and authoritative certifications for its achievements in green
development. Six subsidiaries were recognized as “National
Green Factories” for 2024. Jiangzhong Yaogu was rated as the
“Three-Star Zero-Carbon Factory” (the highest rating), making
it the first “Three-Star Zero-Carbon Factory” under the “Zero
Carbon China” initiative. CR Shandong Pharmaceutical achieved
online monitoring, and analysis and management of carbon
emissions data, making it the first smart low-carbon logistics
park in the pharmaceutical distribution industry. Additionally,
the logistics warehouses of CR Shandong Pharmaceutical, CR
Kelun Pharmaceutical, CR Jiangsu Pharmaceutical, and CR Tianjin
Pharmaceutical received the “First-Class Green Warehouse
(Three-Star) Certification”.
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Focusing on specialized integration to enhance core
competitiveness

The Group actively carried out the specialized integration of
its businesses to further enhance its specialized capabilities
in segments. Its subsidiary CR Double-Crane completed the
acquisition of 100% equity interest in CR Zizhu, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, for the purpose of strengthening its
two-way empowerment in research and development innovation,
marketing channels and internationalization by injecting quality
assets into the listed company. This acquisition helped refine the
management of CR Zizhu's sales channels, while further driving
the brand building and OTC platform construction of CR Double-
Crane and boosting the overall sales in the out-of-hospital
market. CR Zizhu achieved growth in both revenue and profit
in 2024. In 2023, CR Double-Crane acquired Guizhou Tianan
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (B MK L & E [ H FR A F]) (“Tianan
Pharmaceutical”) held by CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical.
Leveraging centralised procurement of raw materials, product
integration and cost savings, Tianan Pharmaceutical achieved
a growth in both revenue and net profit during the Reporting
Period. CR Pharmaceutical Commercial merged and acquired
Guangdong Fuda Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (/& 5 ¥ A 5 % 5 [
2 7)) held by CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical, effectively expanding
the resources of upstream manufacturers of blood products
and strengthening the core competitiveness of blood products
marketing. CR Sanjiu transferred 51% equity of Kunming China
Resources Shenghuo Pharmaceutical Company Limited ( 2 RHZE
BN B AR A F]) to KPC, which not only solved the problem
of competition in the same industry but also made full use of the
resource advantages of CR Shenghuo's “Lixuwang (32 £ )"
and KPC's “Luo Tai (#§ 2=)" Xuesaitong soft capsule, thereby
enhancing the core competitiveness in the field of slow-recovery
chronic diseases and the construction of the Sangi industry chain.
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Deepening the reform and enhancement of state-
owned enterprises, and stimulating the long-term
vitality of the organization

In alignment with national directives on advancing state-
owned enterprise (SOE) reform, the Group has prioritized dual
strategic imperatives: strengthening core competitiveness and
reinforcing critical functional capabilities. Guided by the objective
of serving national strategic priorities, we have spearheaded
initiatives to leverage sci-tech innovation, industrial stewardship,
and operational resilience as pivotal drivers in constructing a
modernized industrial framework and fostering sustainable
development paradigms. These reform-oriented efforts have
yielded measurable progress across key performance metrics.
In the annual assessment of enterprises for Exemplary Scientific
Reform Actions by State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council, CR Sanjiu
has been awarded the highest rating of benchmark for two
consecutive years, and CR Jiangzhong and China Resources
Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Z)E AW ELEH R A 7)) have been
evaluated as excellent for two consecutive years.

The Group actively promoted the optimization of capital
structure. CR Pharmaceutical Commercial successfully introduced
strategic investors, and the consideration for such transaction
totaled RMB6.26 billion. This move was conducive to improving
resource allocation and operational efficiency in the commercial
sector.

The Group improved the market-based mechanism by fully
implementing the tenure system and contractual management
of managerial members, strengthening the training and reserve
of young cadres, enhancing the market-based selection and
recruitment mechanism, as well as the exit mechanism for
the incompetent, to stimulate the vitality of the organization.
The Group explored and formed an advantageous university-
enterprise employment model for talents, which has broken
down barriers such as identity, system, social security, etc., and
been selected as a typical micro case of deepening and enhancing
the reform of state-owned enterprises. The Group improved the
positive incentive mechanism by timely launching and steadily
promoting restricted stock incentive plans, which have effectively
stimulated the innovation momentum of employees.
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The Group deepened corporate governance and strengthened
the construction of the Board. It further improved the corporate
governance mechanism in which each shall perform its duties,
assume its responsibilities, coordinate operations and take
checks and balances effectively, and improved the scientific and
efficient authorization mechanism. All of them aim to ensure the
standardized operation of the Company and effectively safeguard
the interests of the Company and the legitimate rights and
interests of all Shareholders.

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE STRATEGIES

China Resources Pharmaceutical is committed to becoming a trusted
and innovation-driven leader in the pharmaceutical and health
industry. The Group aims to enhance, optimize, and scale up core
business, accelerate innovation-driven transformation, and build a
globally competitive pharmaceutical enterprise with comprehensive
strengths. By enhancing its presence in emerging sectors, boosting
technological innovation, and intensifying expansion efforts, the Group
will continuously improve management efficiency and deepen regional
market penetration. Additionally, the Group will leverage digital
empowerment and implement green and low-carbon development.
Through these key measures, the Group will focus on enhancing core
competiveness, and fostering new quality productive forces, in a bid to
solidify its leading position in the domestic pharmaceutical industry and
make a positive contribution to public health.

1.  To enhance its presence in emerging sectors to

improve core competitiveness

With serving national strategies and safeguarding national
security as its top priorities, the Group will continue to strengthen
its deployment in the pharmaceutical strategic emerging
industry. Specifically, the Group will devote every effort to
develop the blood products, intensify industrial consolidation,
and continuously enhance core competitiveness and industry
leadership through “scaling-up, specification, internationalization,
digitalization and innovative-driven development”. Additionally,
the Group will focus on advancing in areas, including bio-
innovative drugs, featured specialized drugs, high-end medical
devices, and synthetic biology, by concentrating on high-
potential areas, building industrial platform and driving
technological upgrade. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to
strengthen the entire industry chain construction of TCM. This
includes improving the standardization of medicinal materials
and intelligent manufacturing, facilitating TCM innovation, and
enhancing product quality. Through these efforts, the Group aims
to further promote TCM culture and continuously consolidate its
leading position in the industry.
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To strengthen innovative development to foster new
quality productive forces

The Group will continuously strengthen scientific and
technological capabilities, with a core emphasis on two strategic
directions: The Pillars of a Great Power and the People’s
Livelihood of a Great Power. In terms of disease selection, the
Group will focus on major diseases, including tumors, immune
disorders, and cardiovascular diseases adhering to patient-
centered and clinical value-oriented principles. In terms of
resource investment, the Group will continuously increase
investment in innovative R&D and consolidate resources to
continuously optimize pipeline and accelerate the delivery of
key results. In terms of capability construction, the Group will
strengthen the construction of a differentiated innovative R&D
platform by accelerating the construction of a national key
laboratory and a national engineering technology research key
laboratory. In terms of the R&D model, the Group will improve
its diversified innovative strategies, including self-R&D, external
cooperation, and product introduction, and continuously
deepen its cooperation with national/provincial innovative
centers, scientific research institutes, medical organizations, and
innovative companies to enhance R&D efficiency.

To improve industrial layout by strengthening
external expansion

Adhering to the strategy of “enhancing core functions, improving
core competitiveness, and developing new quality productive
forces”, the Group will continue to increase investment and
mergers and acquisitions, vigorously develop biopharmaceuticals
and focus on the resources integration and extension throughout
upstream and downstream segments of the blood products
industrial chain to enhance the overall competitiveness of the
blood products business. The Group will facilitate business
presence in the fields of high-end medical equipment, innovative
drugs, and traditional nourishment through various means; invest
industrial funds appropriately to venture into cutting-edge fields
with high technical barriers such as antibodies, cell and gene
therapies. Besides, emphasis shall be placed on the quality of
external acquisitions. The Group will fully utilize the advantages
of industrial integration, and make business divisions among
acquired enterprises comprehensively, to achieve improvement in
both development quality and efficiency.
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To promote sustainable and healthy development by
strengthening management

Guided by living up to first-tier international enterprises and
centered on enhancing the quality, efficiency, and effectiveness
of development, the Group will, adhering to the principles
of coordinating qualitative and quantitative measures and
putting emphasis on core and specialized indicators, launch
benchmarking initiative with first-tier international enterprises
and industry leaders in terms of strategic execution, technological
innovation, and operational performance. The operation
evaluation index system shall be improved to achieve better
business performance. The Group will also pay more attention
to enhance steady operations and business development,
conducting differentiated management, and promoting lean
management deeply integrating with business, in order to achieve
comprehensive improvement in both quality and efficiency.

To accumulate momentum for development with
enhanced regional reach and engagement

The Group actively implements national regional development
strategies, optimizes the allocation of regional resources, and
identifies growth opportunities across provinces and cities to
foster mutual development and win-win cooperation. The
Group will promote collaboration between central and local
governments, and put more effort into expanding footprints in
strategic regions such as the Yangtze River Delta, Greater Bay
Area, Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region, and Chengdu-Chongging
economic zone. By fully leveraging local advantages in resources,
industrial strengths, talent pools, and policy support, the Group
will continuously expand and deepen cooperation. Back on its
robust industrial foundation, the Group will establish a multi-
tiered, multi-dimensional, and flexible collaborative mechanism
that facilitates deep cooperation across departments and sectors,
in a bid to accelerate regional industrial layout and development
and maximize the overall benefits.
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To fuel the enhancement in quality and efficiency by
intensifying the empowerment of digitalization and
Al

The Group will fully embrace digital transformation as a crucial
strategy to drive innovative development and enhance core
competitiveness. Committed to industrial digitalization, the
Group will leverage advanced technologies to reshape business
processes. The Group will push forward intelligent governance
by optimizing decision-making through data-based approaches.
Additionally, the Group will implement data elementization to tap
into data value for the empowerment of business innovation. It
will also build a technological platformization system to facilitate
the efficient integration of resources. In the R&D field, the
Group will explore the application of new technologies such as
artificial intelligence to improve the efficiency of pharmaceutical
R&D. In the production field, the Group will focus on smart
manufacturing to optimize production efficiency. It will also
strengthen supply chain management and promote intelligent
upgrading. In terms of marketing services, the Group will intensify
the new retail layout to unleash the potential of data. It will also
expand the application of “Internet+” in the medical and health
industry to build a new service marketing ecosystem. In terms
of management, the Group will use digital means to strengthen
post-investment management and compliance monitoring for the
comprehensive improvement in management quality.

To enhance social responsibility by contributing to
green and low-carbon development

To practice the green and low-carbon concept, the Group will
integrate the concept into its corporate culture by establishing
and improving the internal green management system. The
Group will fully consider green technological innovation in the
entire process including product design, material use, process
improvement, equipment renovation, and waste recycling.
Meanwhile, the Group will formulate and execute a carbon
peaking plan, and construct and renovate some green factories
and green supply chain projects, which will consistently fuel the
transformation and upgrading of the enterprise in a higher-end,
more intelligent, and greener way.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group adopts a prudent treasury management policy to maintain a solid
and healthy financial position.

The Group funds its operations principally from cash generated from its
operations, bank loans and other debt instruments and equity financing from
investors. Its cash requirements relate primarily to production and operating
activities, business expansion, repayment of liabilities as they become due,
capital expenditures, interest and dividend payments.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank balances and cash of
RMB16,424.7 million (2023: RMB24,650.7 million), which were primarily in
RMB and HKD.

As at 31 December 2024, the RMB-denominated and HKD-denominated
bank borrowings accounted for approximately 100% (2023: 99.9%) and 0%
(2023: 0.1%), respectively, of the Group’s total bank borrowings. Among the
Group's total bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024, a substantial portion
of approximately 70.5% (2023: 79.5%) would be due within one year.

The Group’s current ratio (being the ratio of total current assets to total
current liabilities) was 1.4:1 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 1.3:1).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's gearing ratio (being the ratio of net
debt divided by total equity) was 52.3% (2023: 42.2%).

In 2024, the Group’s net cash from operating activities amounted to
RMB17,535.5 million (2023: RMB15,549.9 million). The Group’s net cash
used in investing activities in 2024 and 2023 amounted to RMB8,887.8
million and RMB2,067.3 million, respectively. In 2024 and 2023, the Group's
net cash used in financing activities amounted to RMB16,838.5 million and
RMB4,065.3 million, respectively.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total bank borrowings amounted to
RMB60,568.5 million (31 December 2023: RMB54,213.1 million), of which
RMB1,997.5 million (31 December 2023: RMB1,915.3 million) were secured
and accounted for 3.3% (31 December 2023: 3.5%) of the total borrowings.

Certain of the Group's trade and bills receivables with an aggregate net book
value of RMB1,526.7 million (31 December 2023: RMB1,161.0 million) have
been pledged as security.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (31
December 2023: nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

In July 2024, CR Boya-Pharmaceutical conditionally agreed to acquire 100%
interest in Green Cross HK for a total consideration of RMB1,820 million
pursuant to a share purchase agreement dated 17 July 2024. The acquisition
was completed in November 2024 and Green Cross HK has become a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 17 July 2024, 14 August 2024 and 6
November 2024.

In August 2024, CR Sanjiu conditionally agreed to acquire 28% interest in
Tasly Pharmaceuticals at a total consideration of RMB6,211,844,130 pursuant
to a share purchase agreement dated 4 August 2024. The acquisition was
completed in March 2025 and Tasly Pharmaceuticals has become a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 4 August 2024 and 27 March 2025.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company had no other significant
investments and/or material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates
and joint venture during the Reporting Period.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this report, there are currently no concrete plans to acquire
any material investment or capital assets other than those conducted in the
Group's ordinary course of business.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's operations are located in the PRC and most of its transactions are
denominated and settled in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risks on certain cash and cash equivalents, borrowings from banks and
trade payables denominated in foreign currencies, the majority of which are
denominated in USD. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not enter
into any derivatives contracts to hedge the foreign exchange exposure.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed around 72,700 staff (31
December 2023: 72,986 staff) in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance, experience and
prevailing market rate while performance bonuses are granted on a
discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include, for example, medical
insurance and training.
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND CULTURE

“Protecting Human Health and Improving Quality of Life” is our lofty mission.
In the future, the Company will seize the opportunities for developing
and transforming China’s healthcare industry to propel the consolidation,
enhancement and renovation of the industrial chain with R&D innovation,
investment and M&As as the drivers and based on better resource allocation.
We will further promote business development and industrial upgrading, and
continuously enhance our core competitiveness for high-quality development.
Allin all, we are committed to becoming a leader in the pharmaceutical and
health industry that is trusted by the public and driven by innovation.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the CG Code
as its own code of corporate governance. The Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting Period, save
and except the following:

Pursuant to Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Since the redesignation from the position of the
Chief Executive Officer to the chairman of the Board, Mr. Bai Xiaosong
assumes the interim duties and responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer.
Notwithstanding the deviation from Code provision C.2.1, the Board
believes that with the support of the management, vesting the duties and
responsibilities of both chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer by
the same person can facilitate execution of the Group’s business strategies
and boost effectiveness of its operation. In addition, under the supervision
by the Board which currently consists of three executive Directors, four non-
executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors, the interest
of the Shareholders will be adequately and fairly represented.

In respect of Code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code, the Company did not
have formal letters of appointment for Directors. Since all Directors are subject
to re-election by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting and at
least about once every three years on a rotation basis in accordance with the
Articles of Association, there are sufficient measures to ensure the corporate
governance of the Company complies with the same level to that required
under the CG Code.
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Code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman of the
Board should attend annual general meeting. The then chairman of the Board
was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30
May 2024 due to other business commitments.

The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities and Delegation by the Board

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees the
Group's strategic decisions and monitors business and performance. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day management
and operation of the Group to the senior management of the Group. The
delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the
Board. The management is required to timely report to and seek approval
from the Board before engaging in any significant transactions. To oversee
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established five
Board committees, namely the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Corporate Governance Committee (together, the “Board Committees”).
The Board has delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out
in their respective terms of reference.

Directors may seek independent professional advice in performing their duties
at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to consult with the Company’s
senior management independently. The Board has adopted effective
mechanisms to ensure that independent views and input are available to the
Board and the Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanisms on an annual basis.

All Directors have the obligations to carry out duties in good faith and in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations and to act in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect of legal
action against the Directors and officers.
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Board Composition
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report,
the Board comprises the following Directors:

Chairman and non-executive Director
Mr. Han Yuewei (resigned on 29 August 2024)

Chairman and Executive Director
Mr. Bai Xiaosong
(former Chief Executive Officer,
appointed as Chairman of the Board and
resigned as Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 29 August 2024)

Executive Director and Vice President
Mr. Tao Ran

Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
Mdm. Deng Rong

Non-executive Directors

Mdm. Guo Wei

Mr. Sun Yonggiang

Mr. Guo Chuan (appointed on 7 June 2024)
Mdm. Jiao Ruifang

Mr. Hou Bo (resigned on 7 June 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne

Mr. Kwok Kin Fun

Mr. Fu Tingmei

Mr. Zhang Kejian

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Biographies — Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

During the year, the Board has met the requirements under Rules 3.10(1) of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors.

The Company has also complied with Rules 3.10(2), 3.10A and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board (with at least one
independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise).

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited Annual Report 2024

67'



I68

TEREAMSE

Corporate Governance Report

HRBEELIFRTESHERE LHRANFE3.13
REBLM  ARARRBEEFEIREBILA

T FIFHNAFRFE 1087 -

3 ]])Zf

S
i
=

EFERIMNEMCEFXAEFETFEARAE
FHITE ZRBREEAEARK(BRENS %
% Kk EMERHEBER)

2REF (BRBIUIRTER)HREFTES
RERBTANEELAAR  MEkEFIREE
EEERERBYHEF - BUFFRTESRE
BREFZES FHEERZES RAZ
BgktXEARZBSMER -

FRLCEXBEARTAKRXHESHEANARA
AIRAEABETRBENEE REE R EME AR
o ARRE AR AR SARN 2B
BROKE EFCRBERAARRARER
SENAEIAREMEEED -

ABRFESXERE
MN-EZNFRNEZENIERITESL)ILE
BER-ZT W& NARBES EMRAIE3.09D
Gtz A EBR  MECHERTHEEAAR
NAEEHEMS -

RBEREATATRENECI14G 28E
ER2HEBBEXER BRAUFHMEME K
et UWHERHESTEAGB2EAMRYAM
FLBEATHESSHEHER -

BEFZECETHESRERRENMBLTA
RAESFEERLEERELZEEEM AR
A RESTHHN e RHEEHNFTREEI -

2024 ERBEEEBRAF

As each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company
considers all of them to be independent parties. Details are set out on page
108 of this annual report.

None of the Directors has any personal relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationship) with any other
Director, nor between the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the number
and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments as well as the identity of the public companies or
organisations and an indication of the time involved, the Directors have
agreed to disclose their commitments and any subsequent change to the
Company in a timely manner.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Mr. Guo Chuan, being a non-executive Director appointed during 2024,
obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, on 5
June 2024, and he has confirmed he understood his obligations as a Director
of the Company.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director would receive an induction package covering
the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. The
Company has also arranged in-house trainings for Directors in the form of
seminars and reading materials.
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BEERFRL2HENFEIEERBELOT ¢ Participation of Directors in continuous professional development during the
year is as follows:

FESXRRMLE
Nature of
Continuous Professional Development
BREH - R
Mg 88K/ MERTEEEN
RAERRFTE REBERAFR
2ER/NRERH HEBNER
Receiving training;  Reading regulatory
attending and/or updates or
giving talks at  information relevant
seminars, conference to the Company
Name of Directors and/or forum or its business
TERIHTEE Chairman and non-executive Director
BRELERZZZEENAZTABEE)  Mr. Han Yuewei (resigned on 29 August 2024) / /
FTERATES Chairman and Executive Director
HELNGE (RERHRTE Mr. Bai Xiaosong (former Chief Executive Officer,
RZZZMENAZTNABERAE appointed as Chairman of the Board and resigned as
AEECIRUHTIERITE) Chief Executive Officer on 29 August 2024) v v
HITEFER BB Executive Director and Vice President
BALE Mr. Tao Ran v v
HITEERERHEE Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
Hax+ Mdm. Deng Rong / /
HHITEE Non-executive Directors
Hifpan Mdm. Guo Wei v v
Bk it Mr. Sun Yonggiang v/ v
BNEERZB_NESALAEZA) Mr. Guo Chuan (appointed on 7 June 2024) v/ v/
EHRART Mdm. Jiao Ruifang v v
FEAE (R ZE-NFAALHET) Mr. Hou Bo (resigned on 7 June 2024) v v
BUHNTES Independent non-executive Directors
223 ke Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne v/ /
PREEE Mr. Kwok Kin Fun v v
BEXEE Mr. Fu Tingmei v v
RrRBELE Mr. Zhang Kejian v v
EERBENFBENANFRE108E © Details of the Directors’ service contract are set out on page 108 of this

annual report.
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Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. With respect to regular meetings of the Board, Directors
usually receive at least fourteen days prior written notice of the meeting to
provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given. The agenda and accompanying Board papers are dispatched
to the Directors at least five days before the meetings to ensure that they
have sufficient time to review the papers and are adequately prepared for
the meetings. When the Directors or Board Committee members are unable
to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and
given an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman of the
Board or the relevant chairman of the Board Committee prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are recorded
in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board and the Board
Committees and the decisions made, including any concerns raised by the
Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committee
meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time
after the date on which the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board and Board
Committee meeting are kept by the duly appointed secretary of the meeting
and are open for inspection by Directors.
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During 2024, twelve Board meetings were held and the attendance of each

Director at the meeting is set out in the table below:

Board members

Chairman and non-executive Director
Mr. Han Yuewei (resigned on 29 August 2024)

Chairman and Executive Director

Mr. Bai Xiaosong
(former Chief Executive Officer, appointed as
Chairman of the Board and resigned as
Chief Executive Officer on 29 August 2024)

Executive Director and Vice President
Mr. Tao Ran

Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
Mdm. Deng Rong

Non-executive Directors

Mdm. Guo Wei

Mr. Sun Yonggiang

Mr. Guo Chuan (appointed on 7 June 2024)
Mdm. Jiao Ruifang

Mr. Hou Bo (resigned on 7 June 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne

Mr. Kwok Kin Fun

Mr. Fu Tingmei

Mr. Zhang Kejian

HE BT
ERRE

Meetings
Attended/Held

7/9

12/12

6/12

12/12

1112
12/12
717
12/12
5/5

1112
12/12
12/12
12/12
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all
the Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has complied
with the required standards as set out in the Model Code during the year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee currently comprises all the executive Directors,
namely Mr. Bai Xiaosong (Chairman), Mr. Tao Ran and Mdm. Deng Rong.

The principal duties of the Executive Committee include but are not limited to
the following:

1. to monitor the formulation, revision and implementation of the
Company's strategic plans;

2. to monitor the execution of the Company’s business plans and the
Company's business operations;

3. to monitor the operation of the Company’s subsidiaries;

4. to approve the scope of authority delegated to the Senior Management
of the Company and its changes;

5. to exercise part of the power on behalf of the Board between regular
Board meetings, with its power restricted to the areas that are
considered by the Board as material and related to the formulation of
the policy and business development direction of the Company;

6.  to review and approve operational matters which constitutes below
5% (for matters within the business plan of the Group) or below 1%
(for matters outside the business plan of the Group) of the audited net
asset of the Group in the previous financial year (except for notifiable
transactions and connected transactions for which announcements are
required under the Listing Rules);

7. to review and approve the financing matters within the financing plan
resolved and passed by the Board (including bank loans and trusts
etc.) and the corresponding provision of guarantee to subsidiaries in
proportion to their shareholdings;

8.  to review and approve on behalf of the Board the financing matters
within the financing plan resolved and passed by the board of directors
of the subsidiaries of the Company (including bank loans and trusts
etc.) and the corresponding provision of guarantee to subsidiaries in
proportion to their shareholdings;
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to exercise the following power in accordance with the needs of the
Company and its subsidiaries:

i. to approve on behalf of the Board banking facilities and/or
financial instruments to be granted to or issued by the Company
for the needs of the Company and its subsidiaries;

ii. to approve on behalf of the Board the grant of loan or other
financial assistance to the Company’s subsidiaries and/or
associates in proportion to their shareholdings;

ii.  to approve on behalf of the Board the provision of corporate
guarantees, indemnity and/or letters of comfort by the Company
for its subsidiaries and/or associates in proportion to their
shareholdings;

iv.  to approve on behalf of the Board the opening of bank or
securities related accounts and other ancillary matters of the
Company and/or its subsidiaries, including appointing the
signatories and approving the terms and mandate for such
accounts; and

V. to affix the Company’s seal on any instrument or document
related to the above items and approve any one or more of the
Directors of the Company to sign the instrument or document;

to authorize one or more Directors for executing relevant documents to
be filed and/or submitted to regulatory authorities on behalf or in the
name of the Company;

to deal with any other specific business authorized to this Committee
by the Board;

to approve on behalf of the Board the relevant arrangements for
the publication of voluntary announcement(s), overseas regulatory
announcement(s) made pursuant to Rule 13.10B of the Listing Rules,
announcement(s) made pursuant to Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules,
next day disclosure return(s), or announcement(s) on the principal
financial results of the subsidiaries of the Company on the HKEXnews
website of the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website; and

with the written consent of the members of the Executive Committee,
the aforesaid matters which the Executive Committee is authorized to
review and approve may be submitted to the Board for consideration.

The written terms of reference of the Executive Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited Annual Report 2024

73'



JJ:% \\L\ 315& =
Corporate Governance Report

E(‘ “HE-RTEEEERITTASE During 2024, ten meetings were held by the Executive Committee which
7 %$E BEETHNRESHE - primarily covered banking and financing matters of the Group.
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BITEESHE Executive Committee members Attended/Held
HEWNEE (RITZESFE) Mr. Bai Xiaosong (Chairman of Executive Committee) 10/10
FEAEE Mr. Tao Ran 10/10
BAZ+ Mdm. Deng Rong 10/10
EITEEE Audit Committee
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The Audit Committee currently comprises six members, including four
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne
(Chairman), Mr. Kwok Kin Fun, Mr. Fu Tingmei and Mr. Zhang Kejian, and
two non-executive Directors, namely Mdm. Jiao Ruifang and Mdm. Guo Wei.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include but are not limited to the
following:

1. to review and monitor the auditor’s independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards;

2. to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

3. to discuss with the external auditor before the audit commences, the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations, and ensuring
coordination where more than one audit firm is involved;

4, to monitor integrity of the Group’s financial statements, annual reports
and accounts, half-year reports and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly reports and reviewing significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them;

5. to review the Group'’s financial controls, risk management and internal
control system; and

6.  to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the Group, and reviewing and
monitoring its effectiveness.
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The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During 2024, three meetings were held by the Audit Committee to discuss
and consider the following matters:

J reviewed the financial statements, annual report, interim report and
internal control report; and

o reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance procedures,
internal control (including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function) and risk management
systems and processes.

Attendance of each Audit Committee member is set out in the table below:

HE BITEERE

Meetings

Audit Committee members Attended/Held

BEMWLZL Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne 3/3
(B ZECEE) (Chairman of the Audit Committee)

EilE - Regun Mdm. Guo Wei 2/3

Emszt Mdm. Jiao Ruifang 3/3

IR BT E Mr. Kwok Kin Fun 3/3

HEREE Mr. Fu Tingmei 3/3

SR ER A Mr. Zhang Kejian 3/3

BEEES Nomination Committee

RAZBEHRFADAKEAR  BE -2
TEFABRMRAELE (XF)  AREOREIIEHR
TEF DRRBERMLL FRFELE E
EERERERBRL -BREALCDHR -F
“HFENAZTARBREREEZBEER -

The Nomination Committee currently comprises five members, including one
executive Director, Mr. Bai Xiaosong (chairman) and four independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne, Mr. Kwok Kin Fun,
Mr. Fu Tingmei and Mr. Zhang Kejian. During the Reporting Period, Mr. Han
Yuewei was the chairman of the Nomination Committee and resigned on 29
August 2024.

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited Annual Report 2024

75'



I76

TEREAMSE

Corporate Governance Report

REZEENIZEMEBREBTRRY

1. EOSFRHEFEHEM - ABRAKX
(BIEHLE  OBRERFE) - LHER
BRARATNER MRS EES LD
SRR LTS

2. HEMERBEFNRARREBRERARER
MERZEREFAER TEREBE
ERIEANRZF RER - A KE B Et K
RAMEBIRBBERT o ERN BRHER

3. HEARYEHRSAFREES S TN
B

4 BEFEAREHEAUREF (LER
ERRITRER) BEHHAEFGRY
e

5. VEARAEERAETEENAL X
SRARAREBBE  HWERZEBAL
HEEFARBAESSRHER &

6. FAHRBIFRITESHELIE -

RAZBERAGE AELREFTEHREAME
AR AEREEFENESZTER K€
AR REITRERN 2B E RS N FREF
BREASETA - REBZBEGZEZBNE
RIBREFEGIUERE

RAZEENEEARBHERNBIMEARAF
MU ER

R-ZT-NE  RRZEELRIT=REH (B
FoRAEHEBBERRERTANET)
BREBZEFENESZLERE  BEFG
EEEMEZTEBRNAERUER RN EES
BB ABRAR EEYRAESEERERE
HMEELRAFNTESREIIFRTESMN
FRANFESE -

2024 ERBEEEBRAF

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include but are not limited
to the following:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company'’s corporate strategy;

2. to develop and maintain a policy for the nomination of the Directors
which includes the nomination procedures and the process and
criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to identify, select
and recommend candidates for directorship during the year, and to
review periodically the policy and progress made towards achieving the
objectives set in the nomination policy;

3. to develop, maintain and review periodically the policy concerning the
diversity of the Board;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and the succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive;

5. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships with regard to the nomination
policy of the Company; and

6. to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, whether the individual can bring to the Board the
perspectives, how the individual can contribute to the diversity of the Board,
experience, skill and ability to commit time and effort to carry out the duties
and responsibilities. The recommendations of the Nomination Committee will
then be put to the Board for decision.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During 2024, three meetings were held by the Nomination Committee (one
of which was held by way of circulation and passing of written resolutions),
mainly to review the Board Diversity Policy, which included the assessment
of its effectiveness, and to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board, to consider and make recommendation on the appointment of new
Directors and to review the time required from non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors etc..
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Attendance of each Nomination Committee member is set out in the table
below:

HE/ Em
ETEENY RBERAH
Meetings Written
Nomination Committee members Attended/Held Resolutions
BRERE Mr. Han Yuewei 12 17 23
(EZEe+F) (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
(RZZZWENAZTABEE) (resigned on 29 August 2024)
HENLE Mr. Bai Xiaosong TEANA TEANA TEANA
(EZEe+F) (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
(RZZZEENAZTNBEEA) (appointed on 29 August 2024)
BEMZL Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne 22 11 33
BRBTE Mr. Kwok Kin Fun 2 17 33
BEXEE Mr. Fu Tingmei 22 11 33
RRELE Mr. Zhang Kejian 22 11 33
ESRABEHME Summary of the Director Nomination Policy

AR THRERAESS AEEENMERT
BRkzugnBHRAaEnEn  TEINRES
ZEGEETAMENERZAE  RIESEH
REZEENAHEREETNEARLEE
ARABBUHEEFRRBER  BEIHIRES
ZEgAERE ZAELBEZEEETENT
i REREFSEXE &£ AEEZTE
BEHTERGYE AR RRNEBEN -

REGH RERZBEEHZREESEKHN
il BERAEFERREFREA  ZF
REBE (BRRRY) BERERTENZEE
BXER ZCBH HEFSNRENK
ERANEZERARTAREES HRNE
EER -

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of a Board with a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives. Given the importance of the
Nomination Committee’s role in ensuring the balance within the Board and
to give greater focus and transparency in relation to the election of Directors,
the Company has established the Director Nomination Policy. This policy aims
to set out the approach to guide the Nomination Committee in relation to the
selection, appointment and re-appointment of the Directors, and to ensure
the Board has a balance of skills experience, knowledge and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

Nomination Criteria: The Nomination Committee will assess, select
and recommend candidate(s) for directorship to the Board by giving due
consideration to criteria including (but not limit to) reputation for character
and integrity, region and industry experience, diversity in aspects, commitment
for responsibilities of the Board in respect of available time, and potential
contributions brought to the Board.
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Procedures and Process for Nomination of Directors: The Nomination
Committee may consult any source it deems appropriate in identifying
or selecting suitable candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors,
advertising, recommendations from third-party agency firm and proposals
from Shareholders with due consideration given to the criteria; the
Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems appropriate in
evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such as interviews, background
checks, presentations and third party reference checks; upon considering a
candidate suitable for the directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold
a meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the
recommendation to the Board for appointment; the Nomination Committee
will provide the relevant information of the selected candidate to the
Remuneration Committee for consideration of remuneration package of such
selected candidate.

Monitoring and Reporting: The Nomination Committee will assess and
report on the composition of the Board in the corporate governance report.

Review of the Director Nomination Policy: The Nomination Committee
will review the Director Nomination Policy periodically to ensure that it is
transparent and fair, remains relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects
the current regulatory requirements and good corporate governance practice.
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for approval.

The Company'’s Director Nomination Policy is available at the website of the
Company.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board, and sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in maintaining
a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include and make good
use of differences in the perspectives, talents, skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members of the
Board. The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the composition
of the Board and makes recommendations to the Board on appointment of
new Directors, and also oversees the conduct of the annual review of the
effectiveness of the Board. The Nomination Committee also develops and
maintains the Board Diversity Policy and periodically reviews the effectiveness
of this Policy and whether the measurable objectives are achieved and/or
should be amended.
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Measurable Objectives: The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree
annually all measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the Board
may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity and measure
progress accordingly.

Monitoring and Reporting: The Nomination Committee will report annually,
in the corporate governance report of the Company, on the process it has
used in relation to Board appointments. Such report will include a summary of
the Board Diversity Policy, the measurable objectives set for implementing the
Board Diversity Policy and progress made towards achieving these measurable
objectives.

Review of the Board Diversity Policy: The Nomination Committee will
review the Board Diversity Policy annually, which will include an assessment
of its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that
may be required and recommend any such revisions to the Board for approval.

In respect of the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has assessed
the diversity measures achieved by the Company. There is a balanced mix
of professional experience, knowledge and skills, as well as cultural and
education background and length of service at both the Board and senior
management level. As of the date of this annual report, there are currently
four female Directors on the Board, showing the Company’s commitment
to achieve gender diversity. As of 31 December 2024, the number of female
employees had accounted for approximately 50% in the total number of the
Group's employees.

The Company will continue to ensure there is a diversity (including gender
diversity) when recruiting and promoting staff at mid to senior level so that
it will have a pipeline of senior management and potential successors with
diverse background, experience, skills and gender to ensure diversity can
continued to be achieved over time. The Company will continue to emphasize
training and provide long-term development opportunities for its talents, and
take steps to achieve diversity (including gender diversity) at all levels of the
Company.

The Company’s Board Diversity Policy is available at the website of the
Company.
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Remuneration and Appraisal Committee

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee currently comprises five
members, including one non-executive Director, Mr. Sun Yonggiang and four
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwok Kin Fun (Chairman),
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne, Mr. Fu Tingmei and Mr. Zhang Kejian.

The principal duties of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee include
but are not limited to the following:

1. making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and Senior Management remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

2. being responsible for either (i) determining, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and Senior Management; or (ii) making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and Senior Management (this should include benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment);

3. making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

4. considering salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

5. reviewing and approving the Senior Management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

6. reviewing and approving compensation payable to executive Directors
and Senior Management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and
is otherwise fair and not excessive;
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reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are
consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration;

advising the Shareholders on how to vote with respect to any service
contracts of the Directors that require Shareholders’ approval under the
Listing Rules;

reviewing the Group's policy on expense reimbursements for the
Directors and Senior Management;

reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes of the
Company and/or its principal subsidiaries as required under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules;

studying, formulating and making recommendations to the Board
on material policies and proposals of the Company for remuneration
allocation in accordance with relevant requirements and procedures,
including the mechanism for managing the allocation of total
remuneration, correlation mechanism between remuneration and work
efficacy, systems for dynamically monitoring total remuneration of
employees, the Company’s budget for total remuneration, adjustments
to the budgeting and settlement plans;

organizing the formulation of the Senior Management'’s performance
and remuneration management policies, establishing mechanism for
differentiated assessments, to robust remuneration incentives and
incentive limits, etc, and making recommendation to the Board on the
above matters;

reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on annual and
term-wide operating performance pledges of the Senior Management;
and

organizing and launching operating performance appraisals on the
Senior Management in accordance with relevant requirements and
procedures, making recommendations to the Board on the appraisal
results, and reviewing and making recommendations to the Board
on the Senior Management’s remuneration allocation proposals with
reference to the corporate goals and objectives.
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The written terms of reference of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During 2024, four meetings (one of which was held by way of circulation
and passing of written resolutions) were held by the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee mainly to make recommendation to the Board for the
remuneration of the Directors and to review the remuneration policy etc..

Attendance of each Remuneration and Appraisal Committee member is set

E RN out in the table below:

EOEERE EBEERBRKEY

Remuneration and Appraisal Committee Meetings Written

FMEERZEERE members Attended/Held Resolutions
BRBTE Mr. Kwok Kin Fun 33 171 414

(FWEZRZECTE) (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)

Foxa skt Mr. Sun Yonggiang 33 11 4/4
BEMZL Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne 23 11 3/4
BEXEE Mr. Fu Tingmei 33 11 4/4
RRELE Mr. Zhang Kejian 33 11 4/4
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Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee currently comprises five members,
including one executive Director namely Mdm. Deng Rong and four
independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Fu Tingmei (Chairman),
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne, Mr. Kwok Kin Fun and Mr. Zhang Kejian. Mr.
Bai Xiaosong was a member of the Corporate Governance Committee and
resigned on 29 August 2024.

The principal duties of the Corporate Governance Committee include but are
not limited to the following:

1. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and to make
recommendation to the Board with regard to any changes;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management on corporate
governance;
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3. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors;

4. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board; and

5. to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report.

The written terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During 2024, one meeting was held by the Corporate Governance Committee
mainly to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code.

Attendance of each Corporate Governance Committee member at such
meeting is set out in the table below:

TREREEEHN
BEXELE
(PREBZBEERE)

ARMEE(R-Z-MFENR -+ EEE)
Bagt(RZZ-OAFNA-TLREZE)
BRBZET
BB L
RRBEE

HEBITEBRE

Meetings

Corporate Governance Committee members Attended/Held
Mr. Fu Tingmei il

(Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee)

Mr. Bai Xiaosong (resigned on 29 August 2024) 11
Mdm. Deng Rong (appointed on 29 August 2024) 8 FAN/A
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne 11
Mr. Kwok Kin Fun 11
Mr. Zhang Kejian 11
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HERRARS ATTENDANCE AT ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

FRN-ARBBITTMABREAE - BIRZZ  During the year, the Company held two general meetings, namely the AGM
“NERAZTHETHRREBESARE MR held on 30 May 2024, and the EGM held on 31 July 2024. Details of matters
ZEZMNFEAZ T ARITHRERAIAE - resolved and the poll results were published on the Stock Exchange's website
REEENFBREERREEZNBERELE  and the Company’s website after the general meeting on that day.

SRA& TR B AT P AB 0k e AR B 48 T B o

BB FMWEEZEZEGRLEEIARZ  The chairman of the Audit Committee, Remuneration and Appraisal
BeMEHEHEEFEREAFKRE  BERER  Committee and Corporate Governance Committee attended the AGM to
HRBERNERE BEERBYMNER (B3  ensure effective communication with the Shareholders. Separate resolution
BRTGARTES) NRERAF RS EUBIR was proposed at the AGM on each substantially separate issue, including
FEREE CWURZEHAETER BEHA re-election of each retiring director, and was put to vote at the meeting by

ETRRNFARFENAE L#EE - way of poll. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll were explained at the
meeting.
—E_mE —E-ME
AA=+H +tA=+-H
BEONRRBAEAE BINRRBAIKE
Annual Extraordinary
General Meeting General Meeting
held on held on
30 May 2024 31 July 2024
FTERFNTEE Chairman and non-executive Director
BRERERZF-NENAZTAHEML)  Mr. Han Yuewei (resigned on 29 August 2024) - v/
TERHITEE Chairman and Executive Director
BERNEE (RERHTE - Mr. Bai Xiaosong (former Chief Executive Officer, - -
RZZZMENAZTNBEZE appointed as Chairman of the Board
REFEIRVBEERNTE) and resigned as Chief Executive Officer
on 29 August 2024)
HITEER B Executive Director and Vice President
A% E Mr. Tao Ran - -
HITEFRERHEE Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
Hagt Mdm. Deng Rong v v
FHTEE Non-executive Directors
Eif- S Mdm. Guo Wei v /
FokELE Mr. Sun Yonggiang v v
B rERZBZMFAALAREEMA) Mr. Guo Chuan (appointed on 7 June 2024) THEBNA -
FEEE(R-F-_MNESALAFT) Mr. Hou Bo (resigned on 7 June 2024) v THEANA
PRt Mdm. Jiao Ruifang v /
BUHHITEE Independent non-executive Directors
BERZT Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne v v
DRELE Mr. Kwok Kin Fun v v
BiExxE Mr. Fu Tingmei v /
RRELE Mr. Zhang Kejian / -

I 84 2024 4FER EBMREEEARAF
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Remuneration of Senior Management

Details of the remuneration by band of the senior management of the
Company, whose biographies are set out on pages 99 to 102 of this annual
report, for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out below:

AB

Number of

Remuneration band individuals

Nil — RMB 1,000,000

RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000
RMB1,500,001 to RMB2,000,000
RMB2,000,001 to RMB2,500,000
RMB2,500,001 to RMB3,000,000
RMB3,000,001 to RMB3,500,000
RMB3,500,001 to RMB4,000,000
RMB4,000,001 to RMB4,500,000
RMB4,500,001 to RMB5,000,000

O O = = W wonN O

ESFBYBRBRRNYBHRRE
(52

EEPHEREARRARABE_T _MNF
TZA=1T " BLEFENUBRROBE - A
BER TR R E KA & B A AR A R
SENXERRERE -

EEREMESRREMBHMAREN &
EEREHESTERRIENALAHNBR
FETAENTE - AANEMEEE 2 BR
EBREAMALARE MARNBNEAE
AR -

EEUYTAEEAREEAKRBERELLEENRE
REEFENEFSAREBNEMEATRERSE

REMRESEEEARARLGAVERRNBR
B EHMEREFERAFTREI2Z7EEE 1338
B X BRI -

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 which give a true and fair
view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s results
and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and information
as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of
the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.
The Company provides all members of the Board with monthly updates on
Company’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 127 to 133 of this annual report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board for
maintaining an adequate risk management and internal control systems (which
cover, among others, significant risks concerning the Group’s operations and
material environmental, social and governance risks) to safeguard shareholder
investments and Company assets and reviewing the effectiveness of such
systems on an annual basis. The risk management and internal control
systems can provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss and are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure in the process of attaining business objectives.

The Group has established a comprehensive risk management and internal
control system, and devoted significant attention to internal control measures
of its pharmaceutical manufacturing, pharmaceutical distribution and
pharmaceutical retail businesses. It has adopted stringent internal control
measures and operating procedures to regulate all stages of its pharmaceutical
value chain, from research and development to manufacturing, distribution
and retail. The Group’s internal control system is designed according to
relevant industrial and management standards, including the GMP and GSP
requirements. The Group implements the procedures for periodic internal
control audit, internal risk management, and error correction and prevention
on a regular basis.

With respect to dissemination of inside information, the Company has
adopted its “Information Disclosure Policy” setting out the procedures of
proper information disclosure. Release of inside information shall be led by
the Board. Unless duly authorized, all staff members of the Company shall not
disseminate inside information relating to the Group to any external parties
and shall not respond to media report or market speculation which may
materially affect the trading price or volume of the Shares.

The Group's internal audit department plays a major role in monitoring the
internal governance of the Company. The major tasks of the internal audit
department include reviewing the financial condition, risk management and
internal control of the Group and conducting audits of subsidiaries of the
Company on a regular basis. The internal audit department is required to
report to the Audit Committee and the Board in relation to its review of the
Group's risk management and internal control system annually, and if there is
any material deficiency, such issue has to be reported in a timely manner.

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
and considered the systems to be effective and adequate. The Audit
Committee has also assessed whether the Group'’s internal audit department
is adequately resourced and reviewed its effectiveness.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the auditor
to the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately as
follows:

&8
Amount
(AR®F7)
(RMB'000)
PR 7% 8 7 Type of services
ZE AR Audit services 20,610
I ERTE Non-audit services
— H MRS — Other services 3,720
#aEt Total 24,330
7 Ewi COMPANY SECRETARY
—= fEE A—HZZ_Z_WFWA=-_+r From 1 January 2024 to 24 April 2024, the company secretary of the
H-ArrAlaawms (4 TWQJ) A% EE48%  Company (“Company Secretary”) was Mr. So Yiu Fung (“Mr. So”). With
E(Fﬁf‘aij) E-Z_PFEMA-+IMERE - effect from 24 April 2024, Mr. So resigned and Ms. Cheng Kwai Yuk (“Ms

ﬁ%i%&&%ﬂxiﬁi ([®+£]) FE;&Z%

REME - BRE—FFB FL2HAR
HA—E_MFMA-—tMOBEZRE & *Q
AWEBEYFARANEZRER RAESFSE

MILNEHORARNEFHEBERERAEERE
HERHER -AQREARMENT B4
ANBAER ﬂ%ﬂﬁ%%&%}*ﬁﬂ%ﬁmﬂﬁﬁi
RZFZWMFR BEERBZEIEAHER
WD 15/ NS AR B -

E)’?%ub&;—g#&ﬁ&ﬁ

ERBEXBERY  ARERTEHEBERNT
SRA BEXREARZRETRARXEREE
BRI EEER - B85 - I - MEF  RBREEMN
B REBARA T (ERBE) - EA A

WREE EENRE WREARBEBKER (B
RERP -ZEm HER ERANEHAS)

WEMT  BZEBEBEFHM BFXmEE
SRAAREATEANESE IR0 R BT
M RARARNTETR WHAERABPIES
ERENAPFIEZEEENERRERENERE
BEF (EEHBEARRAFARRRE) -

Cheng"”) was appointed as the Company Secretary. For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 24 April 2024. Although
the Company Secretary is not a full time employee of the Company, she
reports to the Board and in her capacity as Company Secretary advises the
Board on governance matters. The primary contact person of the Company
with the Company Secretary is Mdm. Deng Rong, the executive Director and
chief financial officer of the Company. Ms. Cheng has confirmed that she has
attended at least 15 hours of professional development in 2024.

ANTI-CORRUPTION SYSTEM AND WHISTLE-
BLOWING POLICY

In all commercial intercourse, the Group abides by business ethics and market
rules, and the Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for business
ethics supervision, and strictly prevent corruption, embezzlement, bribery,
fraud, money laundering and other incidents. The Group has also adopted the
“Whistleblowing Policy”, encouraging its employees, directors and officers as
well as other parties with whom the Group has dealings (including customers,
contractors, suppliers, creditors and debtors, etc.) to report any misconduct
concerning the Group to the department in charge of internal control
management of the Company by email, post or face-to-face meeting, and the
department in charge of internal control management shall report any such
reports to the chairman of the Audit Committee. (For more details, please
refer to the Sustainability Report of the Company).
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the Group’s
business, performance and strategies. The Company also recognizes the
importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will
enable Shareholders and investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The AGMs provide opportunity for the Shareholders to communicate directly
with the Directors. The Chairman of the Company and the chairmen of the
Board Committees will normally attend the AGMs to answer Shareholders’
questions. The Auditor will also be invited to attend the AGMs to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the
auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor’s independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a Shareholders’
communication policy which aims at establishing a two-way relationship and
communication between the Company and the Shareholders and maintains
a website of the Company at https://www.crpharm.com, where up-to-date
information on the Group's business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information are
available for public access.

The Board has conducted a review of the implementation of the Shareholders’
communication policy during the year and considered that it remained
effective in enhancing open communication between the Company and its
Shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting and putting
forward proposals at the general meetings

In accordance with Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the Directors
are required to call a general meeting if the Company has received requests
to do so from members of the Company representing at least 5% of the total
voting rights of all the members having a right to vote at general meeting.
Such requests (a) must state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting; and (b) may include the text of a resolution that may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. Such
requests (a) may be sent to the Company in hard copy form (by depositing
at the registered office of the Company for the attention of the Board) or in
electronic form (by email: ir@crpharm.com); and (b) must be authenticated
by the person or persons making it. In accordance with Section 567 of the
Companies Ordinance, the directors must call a meeting within 21 days after
the date on which they become subject to the requirement under Section 566
of the Companies Ordinance and such meeting must be held on a date not
more than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the meeting.
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Besides, Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance provides that members may
request the Company to give, to the members who are entitled to attend the
AGM, notice of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at its annual general meeting. The Company must give such notice
of resolution if it has received requests that it do so from (a) the members of
the Company representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual general
meeting to which the requests relate; or (b) at least 50 members who have
a right to vote on the resolution at the annual general meeting to which
the requests relate. Such requests (a) may be sent to the Company in hard
copy form (by depositing at the registered office of the Company for the
attention of the Board) or in electronic form (by email: ir@crpharm.com);
(b) must identify the resolution of which notice is to be given; (c) must be
authenticated by the person or persons making it; and (d) must be received by
the Company not later than (i) six weeks before the annual general meeting
to which the requests relate; or (ii) if later, the time at which notice is given
of that meeting. Section 616 of the Companies Ordinance provides that the
Company that is required under Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance
to give notice of a resolution must send a copy of it at the Company’s own
expense to each member of the Company entitled to receive notice of the
annual general meeting (a) in the same manner as the notice of the meeting;
and (b) at the same time as, or as soon as reasonably practicable after, it gives
notice of the meeting.

Procedure for Shareholders to nominate a person for election
as a Director

Article 90 of the Articles of Association provides that the Company may from
time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect any person to
be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board;
paragraph (2) of Article 90 stipulated that no person, other than a retiring
Director or a person recommended by the Board, shall be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing from
a shareholder of his intention to propose that person for election as a Director
and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected as a
Director shall have been lodged with the registered office of the Company;
unless otherwise determined by the Directors and notified by the Company
to the Shareholders, the period for lodgement of the notices referred to in
paragraph (2) of this Article shall commence on a day after the dispatch of
the notice of the meeting designated for such election of Director(s). If the
Directors should so determine and notify the Shareholders of a different
period for lodgement of the said notice referred to in paragraph (2) of this
Article, such period shall in any event be a period of not less than seven days,
commencing no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the said notice of
the meeting and ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting.
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Accordingly, if a Shareholder wishes to nominate a person to stand for
election as a Director at the general meeting, the following documents must
be validly served at the registered office of the Company, namely (1) his/
her notice of intention to propose a resolution at the general meeting; (2) a
notice signed by the nominated candidate of his/her willingness to be elected;
(3) the nominated candidate’s information as required to be disclosed under
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (4) the nominated candidate’s written
consent to the publication of his/her personal data.

The aforesaid procedures are available on the website of the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on 17 December 2018. Subject
to the relevant criteria, the Company may distribute not less than 20% of the
Group's annual distributable profit, excluding one-off gains, as dividends to
the Shareholders. Such declaration and payment of dividends shall remain
to be determined at the absolute discretion of the Board and subject to all
applicable requirements (including without limitation restrictions on dividend
declaration and payment) under the Companies Ordinance and the Articles of
Association.

The Company will regularly review the Dividend Policy and reserves the
right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the
Dividend Policy at any time, and Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a
legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends will be paid in
any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a
dividend at any time or from time to time.

The Company'’s Dividend Policy is available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
by addressing them to the Finance and Investor Relations Department (Hong
Kong) of the Company. The contact details are as follows:

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

Finance and Investor Relations Department (Hong Kong)
Room 4104-05, 41/F, China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Email: ir@crpharm.com

Tel No.: 852-2593 8991

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholding to the
Company's Share Registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong or fax number: 2861 1465.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During 2024, there is no change in the Articles of Association.
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DIRECTORS

Mr. Bai Xiaosong

Executive Director and Chairman

Mr. Bai Xiaosong, aged 53, was appointed as an executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company in January 2022. He resigned as Chief
Executive Officer and was appointed as the chairman of the board and the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company in August 2024. Mr.
Bai currently serves as a director of CR Sanjiu and CR Double-Crane. Mr. Bai
served as a vice president of CR Sanjiu from June 2021 to December 2021. He
served as an assistant general manager of China Resources Snow Breweries
(China) Co., Ltd. (ZE)HSZEE)E (P E) B R A F]) (“CR Snow Breweries”)
from March 2016 to October 2018 and served as a deputy general manager
of CR Snow Breweries from October 2018 to June 2021. He also served as an
associate president of CR Double-Crane, a human resources and development
controller and a deputy general manager of China Resources Shenyang Sanyo
Compressor Co., Ltd. (B E = ¥ B 45 #% £ [R A 7)), a sales director of
CR Holdings. Mr. Bai holds a bachelor’s degree in Engineering (Petroleum
Processing) from Fushun Petroleum Institute, Department of Petrochemical
Engineering and a master’s degree of Economics in Finance from Peking
University, School of Economics.

Mr. Tao Ran

Executive Director and Vice President

Mr. Tao Ran, aged 59, was appointed as the vice president of the Company
in June 2021 and appointed as an executive Director and a member of
the Executive Committee in September 2021. He was appointed as the
non-executive director of Immunotech in August 2021. He is concurrently
a chairman of the supervisory board of CR Sanjiu and a director of CR
Jiangzhong. He served as the chairman and director of CR Boya Bio-
pharmaceutical from December 2021 to October 2023. Mr. Tao has been
a deputy chief of Import Division | of China Resources National Corporation
(currently known as China Resources Company Limited), a general manager
of Strategic Development Division of China Resources Textiles (Holdings) Co.,
Ltd. and a senior director of Strategic Development Division and the general
manager of Strategic Development Division of the Company. Mr. Tao holds a
bachelor’s degree in Engineering awarded by Shanghai Jiao Tong University,
and a master’s degree in Economics awarded by School of Economics and
Management of Beihang University.
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Mdm. Deng Rong

Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer

Mdm. Deng Rong, aged 46, has been appointed as the chief financial officer
of the Company in June 2023, and has been appointed as an executive
Director and a member of the Executive Committee on 27 December 2023,
and a member of the Corporate Governance Committee on 29 August
2024. She is currently the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company,
a director of Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical and a supervisor of CR Sanjiu. She
previously held various positions within CR Double-Crane from 2004 to 2020,
including the Head of Financial Accounting and Tax Management Department
at the Financial Management Center, General Manager of the CR Double-
Crane Financial Management Center. She has also served as Vice President,
Board Secretary, and Chief Financial Officer at Dong-E-E-Jiao from 2020 to
2023. Mdm. Deng holds a Bachelor’s degree in Accounting from Central
South University (F7 B§ K 2) and a Master’s degree in Management from
Beijing Jiaotong University (1E R 3238 A 22). She is a certified board secretary
recognized by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mdm. Guo Wei

Non-executive Director

Mdm. Guo Wei, aged 49, was appointed as a non-executive Director in
February 2023 and has been appointed as a member of the Audit Committee
on 27 December 2023. She is currently serving as a designated external
director of the business unit of CR Holdings, and was appointed as a non-
executive director of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 291) in September 2023. Mdm. Guo was
a non-executive director from May 2019 to September 2021, and was an
assistant director (currently known as assistant general manager) and a deputy
financial director of the Finance Department of CR Holdings from August
2013 to November 2022. She was a director of CR Double-Crane from
December 2015 to September 2021 and a director of CR Sanjiu from April
2018 to September 2021. Mdm. Guo holds a bachelor’s degree in economics
from University of International Business and Economics and a master’s
degree in law from Peking University.
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Mr. Sun Yonggiang

Non-executive Director

Mr. Sun Yonggiang, aged 54, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director and a member of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee on
27 December 2023. He currently serves as a designated external director
of business units of CR Holdings. Mr. Sun joined China Resources Group
in 1998, from 2011 to 2023, he successively served as vice president, chief
human resources officer and human resources director of CR Land and also
served as general manager and deputy general manager of China Resources
Land (Hunan) Co., Ltd (ZEE & #h () BBR A 7], a subsidiary of CR Land).
Mr. Sun holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering from Dalian University of
Technology (K T X&),

Mr. Guo Chuan

Non-executive Director

Mr. Guo Chuan, aged 57, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
on 7 June 2024. Mr. Guo has joined Beijing State-owned Capital Operation
and Management Company Limited (“BSCOMC") since January 2024, and is
currently the deputy party committee secretary, director and general manager
of BSCOMC. From 1997 to 2024, he held various positions at Beijing North
Star Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock
code: 588) and on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601588)),
including serving as the director of the secretariat of the board of directors,
secretary to the board of directors, chief legal advisor and deputy general
manager, and as an executive director from May 2018 to January 2024. Mr.
Guo graduated from the Capital University of Economics and Business with
a bachelor’s degree in economic law, and the University of International
Business and Economics with an EMBA degree, and is a qualified lawyer.
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Mdm. Jiao Ruifang

Non-executive Director

Mdm. Jiao Ruifang, aged 47, was appointed as a non-executive Director and
a member of the Audit Committee of the Company in January 2022. Mdm.
Jiao joined the BSCOMC in 2014 and is currently the general manager of
the capital operation department of the BSCOMC and a non-independent
director of Beijing Foreign Enterprise Human Resources Service Co., Ltd. (3t
REBRANEXREBERMDARAF) (formerly known as Beijing Urban-
Rural Commercial (Group) Co., Ltd. (3t R 4B 2 (£ E) D B R A 7))
(the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
600861). Mdm. Jiao was appointed as a director of Hainan Jingliang Holdings
Co., Ltd. (B F RIE AR ML 19 B R A 7)) (the shares of which are listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock codes: 000505 and 200505) from March
2022 to September 2022 and Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd. (1t ;548 B A& &
3 BBR A F]) (the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
stock code: 600166) from January 2022 to November 2022. Mdm. Jiao served
as the board secretary of Beiren Printing Machinery Holdings Limited (3t A
EN 5l # 4% B% 15 55 BR /A 7), the board secretary of Beijing Jingcheng Electric
Company Limited (3t 7 745 # B i 15 5B PR 2 7)) and the deputy general
manager of Beijing Tianhai Industrial Co., Ltd. (1t RX/E T ZHR 2 7).
Mdm. Jiao holds a Master of Business Administration in Finance from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong-Tsinghua University.
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Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne

Independent non-executive Director

Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne, BBS, JP , aged 69, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and chairman of Audit Committee,
a member of Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, a member of
Nomination Committee and a member of Corporate Governance Committee
in August 2017. Mdm. Shing was appointed as a Justice of Peace of the
HKSAR in 2013 and awarded Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2017. Mdm. Shing is
currently an independent non-executive director of the following companies
listed on the Stock Exchange: CSSC (Hong Kong) Shipping Company Limited
(stock code: 3877), AEON Credit Service (Asia) Company Limited (stock code:
900), Analogue Holding Limited (stock code: 1977). Mdm. Shing is also an
independent director of China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. (listed
on Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 601872). Mdm. Shing was a
partner of Deloitte China for over 26 years until May 2016. She was also a
member of the 10th, 11th and 12th Jiangsu Provincial Committee of the
CPPCC. Mdm. Shing is a founding member and former president of the
Association of Women Accountants (Hong Kong) and the former chairman
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants Taxation Committee.
Her professional qualifications include fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Chartered Governance Institute. Mdm. Shing’s current
public appointments include court member of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University, advisor and member of the Finance Committee of Our Hong Kong
Foundation and member of the Hong Kong Deposit Protection Board and
independent non-executive director of Hongkong International Theme Parks
Limited. In 2006, Mdm. Shing received the National Hundred Outstanding
Women Entrepreneurs Award in Great Hall of the People in Beijing. She also
received the Outstanding Alumni Award of Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in 2007. Mdm. Shing has been consecutively named from 2001 to 2015 in
International Tax Review as one of the World's Leading Tax Advisors in Hong
Kong and Mainland. Mdm. Shing graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
(currently known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and obtained a
Higher Diploma in Accountancy and was awarded in 2016/2017 Honorary
University Fellow of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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Mr. Kwok Kin Fun

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Kwok Kin Fun, BBS, JP, aged 75, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and chairman of Remuneration and Appraisal Committee,
a member of Audit Committee, a member of Nomination Committee and a
member of Corporate Governance Committee in June 2016. Mr. Kwok serves
as a governing board member of Rehabilitation International and global vice
chairman of Social Commission of Rehabilitation International until September,
board member of Rehabilitation International Foundation until September,
chairman of Asia and Pacific Disability Forum, a vice chairman of The Hong
Kong Joint Council for Persons with Disabilities, president and governing
board member of The Hong Kong Society for Rehabilitation, a member of
Hospital Authority Central Institutional Review Board, a member of Voting
Members Committee of Riding For the Disabled Association until November,
chairman of Accessible IT Development Association Limited, a professional
consultant to the Professional Committee of Shenzhen Smart Assistive Tech
Association. Mr. Kwok has over 30 years of experience in disability research
and medical research ethics. He successively served as a senior lecturer, a
principal lecturer, and an associate professor of the City University of Hong
Kong from 1985 to 2009, and after retirement served as full-time and part-
time senior research fellow. Mr. Kwok was appointed as a Justice of the Peace
by the government of Hong Kong in 1997 and received the Bronze Bauhinia
Star awarded by the Government of Hong Kong SAR in 2005, “Kazuo ltoga”
Memorial Prize awarded by the government of Shiga Prefecture, Japan in
2006, and the Promoter title of “Asian and Pacific Decade of Persons with
Disabilities, 2013-2022" awarded by United Nations Economic and Social
Commission for Asia and the Pacific (UNESCAP) in 2012. Mr. Kwok received
the Rehabilitation International Centennial Award for Significant Contribution
in May 2023.

Mr. Kwok holds a bachelor’s degree in social science from the University of
Hong Kong, a master’s degree in social work from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong, and a Ph.D. degree in philosophy from the University of
Nottingham, the United Kingdom.
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Mr. Fu Tingmei

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Fu Tingmei, aged 58, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and Chairman of Corporate Governance Committee, a member
of Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, a member of Nomination
Committee and a member of Audit Committee in June 2016. Mr. Fu has over
30 years of experience in investment, finance, law and business management.
Mr. Fu currently serves as an independent non-executive director of China
Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd. (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2016;
and listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code 601916), China Resources
Medical Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 1515), Guotai Junan
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1788) and COFCO Joycome Foods Limited (formerly known as “COFCO
Meat Holdings Limited”), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1610). Mr. Fu was an independent non-executive director of Beijing
Enterprises Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 0392) from July 2008 to June 2017, an independent non-executive
director of CPMC Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0906) from June 2008 to July 2019 and an independent non-
executive director of Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd., a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1658) from May 2016 to March 2023.
Mr. Fu holds a master’s degree in law and a Ph.D. degree in law from London
University, the United Kingdom.
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Mr. Zhang Kejian

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Zhang Kejian, aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of Audit Committee, a member of Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee, a member of Nomination Committee and a member of
Corporate Governance Committee in June 2016. Mr. Zhang also serves as a
non-independent director of Boji Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (187522 &R}
f& 7 B BR A 7)) (formerly known as: Guangzhou Boji Medical Biotechnological
Co., Ltd. (B M 1% 75 5 B2 4 ) & g I 17 B PR 2 &) (a company listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange GEM, stock code: 300404), an independent
director of Liaoning Chengda Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (FEEK KEMRD B
[ 2 7)) (a company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 688739)
and an independent director of ApicHope Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (— & 4L
BmELERMD AR AT (a company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange
GEM, stock code: 300723). Mr. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in
the pharmaceutical industry of PRC. He was an independent director of CR
Double-Crane from February 2016 to June 2018, an independent director
of Yifan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (a company listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, stock code: 002019) from October 2014 to November 2020 and
an independent director of Hunan Fangsheng Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (j#
o B ERR ) AR A A]) (a company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange,
stock code: 603998) from October 2018 to January 2021, independent
director of Zhejiang Hisoar Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. GIT T /8 ZE D B IR
A A]) (a company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002099)
from November 2019 to October 2022. He was employed as a professor
of School of Pharmaceutical Sciences of Sun Yat-sen University and the
director (Pharmacy Administration) of The South China Center for Innovative
Pharmaceuticals, a researcher at the Institute of Medicine, Chinese Academy
of Medical Sciences (7 B %8 £ £} E [ 2 ) 5 58 A7), and successively served
as a deputy director of Center for Drug Evaluation (%% 2 5F # 0)) and a
deputy director of Center for Medical Device Evaluation (%% 2345 5 1T 2= 51
2 ) under the State of Food and Drug Administration of the PRC (BIZX & &
ZEmEEEIRB). Mr. Zhang received a master’s degree in pathophysiology
from China Medical University in Shenyang, the PRC and a doctor’s degree in
pharmacy from the School of Pharmaceutical Sciences of Chiba University in
Chiba, Japan.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wu Jianjun

Mr. Wu lJianjun, aged 53, is currently the chairman of CR Pharmaceutical
Commercial. Mr. Wu has served as the deputy director of workshop, deputy
director of sales division and deputy director of foreign trade division of Beijing
Erzhong Co., Ltd. (3t 1t =& 1D B R A 7)), assistant researcher of enterprise
reform division of Beijing Municipal Economic Commission (1t & 1 4% & &
HUFBE), deputy director of enterprise reform division of Beijing Municipal
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission (1t = B &
Z M EE JE), assistant general manager of Beijing Pharmaceutical Group
Co., Ltd. (It R E B L E 5 [R & LA 7A]), director of project management
of China Resources Pharmaceutical Industry Park (S B S EXEIHER &
I8 ), senior director of production and manufacturing department, general
manager of office, assistant president and vice president of the Company. Mr.
Wu holds a EMBA degree from Tsinghua University.

Mr. Qiu Huawei

Mr. Qiu Huawei, aged 58, is currently the chairman of CR Sanju. He has
previously held positions including the chairman of Shenzhen Sanjiu Medicine
Trading Co., Ltd. OFRYITT = NEE % E FH R A 7)), senior vice president and
president of CR Sanju, director of China Resources Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical
(Group) Co., Ltd. CGEE TR R 2L EAEREFL2AF]), and chairman of KPC
Pharmaceuticals Inc (E % £ B j% 15 & FR /2 §]). Mr. Qiu holds a Bachelor's
degree in Genetic Engineering from Fudan University, with the title of
senior engineer. He also serves as vice chairman of the Chinese Rural Health
Association, standing director of the New Drug Development Professional
Committee of the World Federation of Chinese Medicine Societies, and vice
chairman of the National Innovation Alliance for Standardization and Quality
Evaluation of Traditional Chinese Medicine.

Mr. Lu Wenchao

Mr. Lu Wenchao, aged 48, is currently the chairman of CR Double-Crane.
He previously held positions as research institute synthesis laboratory project
leader and the deputy director of the CEO'’s Office at Beijing Double-Crane
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Jt R E B 2 X I8 (D B R A 7)), and assistant
general manager at Beijing Industrial Park (1t 52 T 2 [&). He concurrently
served as the general manager of the Technical Innovation Department at CR
Double-Crane’s Production Management Centre and deputy general manager
of Beijing Industrial Park (Jt R T &), as well as deputy general manager,
general manager of the Marketing Management Center, assistant to the
president, assistant president, vice president, president of Double-Crane.
Mr. Lu holds a bachelor’s degree in Pharmaceutical Analysis from Shenyang
Pharmaceutical University and a master’s degree in Medicinal Chemistry.
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Mr. Liu Weiquan

Mr. Liu Weiquan, aged 54, is currently the chairman of Jiangzhong
Pharmaceutical. Mr. Liu has previously worked as the head of planning and
finance department, finance director, executive vice general manager, and
director of Jiangxi Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd (VL 78,
BlaE (£ E)H RS 2D F). He has also worked as the finance director of
Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical, and the finance director and board secretary
of Zhongjiang Real Estate Co., Ltd (P T b ZE & D B R A F]). Mr. Liu is a
Certified Public Accountant, holding a Bachelor’s degree in Economics from
the Department of Planning and Economics at Renmin University of China
and a Master’s degree in Management from Jiangxi University of Finance and
Economics.

Mr. Cheng lJie

Mr. Cheng Jie, aged 46, is currently the chairman of Dong-E-E-Jiao. Mr.
Cheng joined CR Sanjiu in July 2003, where he has held various positions,
including 999 Ganmaoling product manager, OTC sales and marketing
director, deputy general manager of marketing center, and general manager
of professional brands division. He has also served as the executive director of
Aino (China) Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (B & (4 H) %L %2 5 [R A 7)), director
and general manager of Sanofi-3S BioTech (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (= L& 3F
CFRINEEEE 2B MR A7) and the president of Dong-E-E Jiao. Mr. Cheng
graduated from Shenyang Pharmaceutical University with a Bachelor’s degree
in Traditional Chinese Medicine.

Mr. Qiu Kai

Mr. Qiu Kai, aged 55, is currently the vice president of the Company,
chairman of CR Boya Bio-Pharmaceutical. Mr. Qiu has served as deputy
general manager of Shenzhen Jiuxin Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (& 3l J1 5 2%
BB A 7]), deputy general manager of China Resources Sanjiu Marketing
Center (¥ 8 = /L% $4 7 ) and executive director of Kunming China
Resources Shenhuo Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (BRI EE A B X HRE D
al), general manager of Chronic Disease Business Division of CR Sanjiu and
general manager of Kunming China Resources Shenhuo Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. (R FEBE A EER A F]). Mr. Qiu holds a Bachelor's Degree in
Economics from the School of Management, Sun Yat-sen University.
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Mr. Wu Wenduo

Mr. Wu Wenduo, aged 51, is currently the director and president of CR Sanjiu
and the chairman of KPC Pharmaceuticals Inc (2 Z& & B & 5 B R A 7).
Formerly served as the business manager, assistant general manager and
planning manager, human resources manager, deputy general manager,
executive vice general manager, and general manager of Beijing Saike
Changsheng Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (It R B EREEZFREMT A
7]), marketing manager, deputy general manager, and general manager of
Beijing Saike Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (It RERI #EEF R & T A 7)), general
manager of China Resources Saike Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (ZE B &R 522
BBREE 2 A]), vice president of CR Double-Crane and CR Sanjiu, general
manager of China Resources Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd. (£
T R BBk M5 R & (LA 7)), and director of Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical.

Mr. Liu Changan

Mr. Liu Changan, aged 52, is currently the vice president of the Company.
Mr. Liu previously served in the Agricultural Committee and Agricultural
Bureau of the Beijing Municipal Party Committee. Mr. Liu holds a Master’s
degree in Military Science from the National Defense University of the People’s
Liberation Army.

Mr. Cui Xingpin

Mr. Cui Xingpin, aged 52, is currently the vice president of the Company, also
serves as a director of CR Pharmaceutical Commercial, CR Sanjiu, Jiangzhong
Pharmaceutical. Mr. Cui has been the chief staff member of the Changping
Branch of the Beijing Municipal Administration for Industry and Commerce
(AARTIEBEFHB), the chief researcher of the COFCO Nutrition and
Health Research Institute (FF 12 & & @ R 3T ft), and the deputy general
manager of the Environmental Health and Safety Department of CR Holdings.
Mr. Cui obtained a PhD degree in Analytical Chemistry from the Department
of Chemistry, University of Science and Technology of China and has
carried out postdoctoral research in the Department of Pharmacology of the
University of Pennsylvania, USA.
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2IEBREE Mr. Liu Yipeng
EMEE 375 BEARRRIALEER 2 Mr. Liu Yipeng, aged 37, is currently the Secretary of the Discipline Inspection
EEGTENRLEERAABBERIRNEL  Commission of the Company. Mr. Liu previously served as Deputy General
B(EHIE) FOUNALROARMAEMR AT Manager (in charge) of the Strategic Development Department at China
A EHEBBER TIESFE K EF L Resources Wufeng Co., Ltd., as well as the General Manager of Sichuan
TEZRITR - BEEHFBEEAREBRFHIE  Wufeng Lihong Food Co., Ltd., the Deputy Minister of Mass Work Department
BE4Eg MEFAMTABRETFHEEEET and Deputy Minister of Youth Work Department at China Resources Group.
== VA Mr. Liu graduated from the Department of Architectural Technology and
Engineering at Tsinghua University with a major in Architectural Environment
and Equipment Engineering, and holds a Master of Management Studies
degree from the Fuqua School of Business at Duke University.
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Report of the Directors

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in the research and development, manufacturing, distribution and
retail of an extensive range of pharmaceutical and other healthcare products.
Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2024 is set out in the Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of
profit and loss and other comprehensive income on pages 134 to 135 of this
annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of final dividend of RMB0.052 per
Share in cash for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMBO0.154 per
Share). The final dividend is subject to the approval of the Shareholders at
the forthcoming AGM to be held on 23 May 2025 and the final dividend will
be distributed on or about 14 July 2025 to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 2 June 2025.

The final dividend will be payable in cash to each Shareholder in HK$ by
default, converted at the exchange rate of RMB1.0: HK$1.08308 being the
average benchmark exchange rate of RMB to HK dollars as published by the
People’s Bank of China during the five business days immediately before
26 March 2025 (Wednesday), such dividend will be paid to Shareholders
at HK$0.056 per share. Shareholders will also be given the option to elect
to receive all or part of the final dividend in RMB. To make such election,
Shareholders should complete the Dividend Currency Election Form which
is expected to be despatched to Shareholders in early June 2025 as soon
as practicable after the record date of 2 June 2025 (Monday) to determine
Shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend, and lodge it with the
Company's share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
24 June 2025 (Tuesday).
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Shareholders who are minded to elect to receive all or part of their dividends
in RMB by cheques should note that (i) they should ensure that they have
an appropriate bank account to which the RMB cheques for dividend can be
presented for payment; and (ii) there is no assurance that RMB cheques can
be cleared without material handling charges or delay in Hong Kong or that
RMB cheques will be honoured for payment upon presentation outside Hong
Kong. The cheques are expected to be posted to the relevant Shareholders by
ordinary post on 14 July 2025 (Monday) at the Shareholders’ own risk.

If no duly completed Dividend Currency Election Form in respect of the
Shareholder is received by the Company’s share registrar by 4:30 p.m. on
2 July 2025 (Wednesday), such Shareholder will automatically receive the final
dividend in HK dollars. All dividend payments in HK dollars will be made in the
usual way on 14 July 2025 (Monday).

If Shareholders wish to receive the final dividend in HK dollars in the usual
way, no additional action is required. Shareholders should seek professional
advice with their own tax advisers regarding the possible tax implications of
the dividend payment.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 20 May 2025
(Tuesday) to 23 May 2025 (Friday), both days inclusive, in order to determine
the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend the AGM, during
which period no share transfers will be registered. To be eligible to attend
the AGM, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 19 May 2025
(Monday).

The register of members of the Company will also be closed from 30 May
2025 (Friday) to 2 June 2025 (Monday), both days inclusive, in order to
determine the entitlement of the Shareholders to receive the final dividend,
during which no share transfers will be registered. To qualify for the final
dividend, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 29 May 2025
(Thursday).
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Report of the Directors

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Company’s business, a discussion and analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year, the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group, the material factors underlying its results and financial position,
certain important events occurred since the end of the Reporting Period and
the future development of the Company’s business have been set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis of this annual report.

The Group shall comply with the relevant provisions governing environmental
protection and appraisal of environmental impact, as well as national
and provincial standards of environmental quality established by various
government authorities. The Group has carried out the relevant environmental
impact assessments and has obtained all the required permits and
environmental approvals for its manufacturing facilities. To ensure compliance
with relevant laws, rules and regulations on pollution control, the Group has
also established waste water treatment and waste management facilities at its
pharmaceutical manufacturing sites.

To the best knowledge and information of the Company, the Group
has complied with the relevant laws, regulations and other applicable
requirements that have a significant impact on the Group during the
Reporting Period.

The Group recognizes the importance of good governance to its sustainable
growth and strives to maintain effective communication with its stakeholders,
including its Shareholders, investors, employees, customers and suppliers.

In addition to the above, general information regarding the Group’s
performance on environmental and social-related policies, as well as
compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact
on the Group and an account of the Company’s relationships with its key
stakeholders are discussed throughout this annual report. Further details will
be also disclosed in the Company’s Sustainability Report 2024.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities for the last five
financial years is set out on page 24 of this annual report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's sales to its five largest
customers accounted for 3.1% (2023: 2.8%) of the Group’s total revenue
and our single largest customer accounted for 0.7% (2023: 0.7%) of the
Group's total revenue.

Major Suppliers

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 7.3% (2023: 6.9%) of the Group’s total purchases and our
single largest supplier accounted for 1.6% (2023: 1.8%) of the Group’s total
purchases.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the number of issued Shares) had any interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity pages 138 to 139.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's reserves available for distribution,
amounted to approximately RMB946.9 million.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2024 are set out in Notes 28 and 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS

The Directors up to the date of this annual report are:

Chairman and Executive Director
Mr. Bai Xiaosong

Executive Director and Vice President
Mr. Tao Ran

Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
Mdm. Deng Rong

Non-executive Directors
Mdm. Guo Wei

Mr. Sun Yonggiang

Mr. Guo Chuan

Mdm. Jiao Ruifang

Independent non-executive Directors
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne

Mr. Kwok Kin Fun

Mr. Fu Tingmei

Mr. Zhang Kejian

The names of all directors who have served on the boards of the subsidiaries
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 or during the
period from 1 January 2025 to the date of this report are available at the
registered office of the Company.

In accordance with article 78 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Guo Chuan
shall retire from office, and being eligible, has offered himself for re-election
at the AGM.

In accordance with article 88(1) of the Articles of Association, Mdm. Guo
Wei, Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne, Mr. Kwok Kin Fun, Mr. Fu Tingmei and
Mr. Zhang Kejian shall retire by rotation, Mdm. Shing and Mr. Kwok will not
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM while Mdm. Guo, Mr. Fu and Mr.
Zhang, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the circular
to the Shareholders dated 28 April 2025.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Company
are set out on pages 91 to 102 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and the Company considers such Directors to be independent
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 and remain so as of the date
of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each non-executive Director, including Independent non-executive Directors,
has no fixed term of service with the Company but is subject to rotational
retirement and re-election requirements at annual general meetings of
the Company at least once every three years pursuant to the Articles of
Association.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not terminable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or his/her connected entities had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company, its parent company or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year and up to the date of this annual report.
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Name of Director

BB BB A
Bai Xiaosong Beneficial Owner

Capacity/
Nature of Interest
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee was set up for reviewing the
Group's emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance of the directors and senior management and
comparable market practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and five highest paid individuals
during the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 10 and 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the Group are set
out in Note 2(hh) and 2(gqg) to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests/short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be entered into
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO; or (c) as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

INTERESTS/SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

(@) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
the Company:

BERBAES L
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
%

BA/HR
Long/short
Position

EERRODEE
Number of
ordinary shares

ey o)
Long Position

200,000 0.0032
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(Z) RADBIMEHEE — EHEMBE  (b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

ZERAERLT (AIEIEEEZERE China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings

FRATE]) BETEZERRIEERG Limited (formerly known as “China Resources Cement

BERER Holdings Limited”), an associated corporation of the
Company:

EREAOE D
515, REmitE HRE/ RE ZERROEAE Approximate

EEng Capacity/ Long/short Number of  percentage of
Name of Director Nature of Interest Position ordinary shares shareholding
%

B A EEBEAA T 120,000 0.0017
Tao Ran Beneficial Owner Long Position

() RAQBBELE — FEBHEMWBR () Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

NFERTEEREREEROTES China Resources Land Limited, an associated corporation
MRS of the Company:

BRSO
B Rty HRE/ KA ZERROEA Approximate

EERR Capacity/ Long/short Number of  percentage of
Name of Director Nature of Interest Position ordinary shares shareholding
%

A BEmAA "R 10,000 0.0001
Tao Ran Beneficial Owner Long Position
Fox iR BEmfAA "R 30,000 0.0004
Sun Yonggiang Beneficial Owner Long Position
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(T) AARDBIMEHEIE — EBENER  (d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

BRAGRCHTEBRRAAERSDF of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, an
EENER associated corporation of the Company:

EREAOE D
515, REmitE HRE/ RE ZERROEAE Approximate

EEng Capacity/ Long/short Number of  percentage of
Name of Director Nature of Interest Position ordinary shares shareholding
%

B A EEBEAA T 12,000 0.0002
Tao Ran Beneficial Owner Long Position

(I%) RARDTIRESEE — FZHEHE ()  (e) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

BRATBIEBHTEBERRMEBRM P of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited, an
EENER associated corporation of the Company:

FREABED T

B, R HE KA ZERKRMOEB Approximate

EERR Capacity/ Long/short Number of  percentage of
Name of Director Nature of Interest Position ordinary shares shareholding
%

Fox 8 [T ey ) 38,000 0.0012
Sun Yonggiang Interest of spouse Long Position

() RADBIEEEE — 2HE&EZER () Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

ERAGCETEERREERASD T of China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited, an
BENER associated corporation of the Company:

BEREAED L
51, Rt HRE/ RE ZERKRGOEE Approximate

EEnE Capacity/ Long/short Number of  percentage of
Name of Director Nature of Interest Position ordinary shares shareholding
%

Bk EEBEAA HE 92,000 0.0071
Sun Yonggiang Beneficial Owner Long Position
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(BR) RADBEBEE — ERBREE
BERAFACHRTEBERRAERSG P
EEER

S HEEME

ExpE

Name of Director

TRIK R
Sun Yonggiang

[k

Capacity/
Nature of Interest

Interest of spouse

(g) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares
of China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited, an
associated corporation of the Company:

FREABD K
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

%

BR KRB
Long/short
Position

EBERROEAE
Number of
ordinary shares

T
Long Position

50,000 0.0022
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, so far as it is known to the
Directors or chief executives of the Company, none of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company had any interests/short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required
(a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or (b) to be entered into the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (c) as otherwise to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year
was the Company, its parent company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any
of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right to
subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body
corporate or had exercised any such right.
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BERAR

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company)
had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part

R-ZZE-NMFE+-_A=+—H MAQRAES
il THOAL(WIFESTSIARRRZSITERA
B)RAREIRM ARG P EREREES K
HEEHEXVEE2R3IN BB AR RIEE
WEERLRRARRRIEER&IEKIE336

BETHFZELMAZERZIOXE

RR &

Name of Shareholder

hEEREERAR Rt EEEE 3,354,786,612 i1 & 53.40
China Resources Company Limited™ Interest in controlled Long position
corporation
EHERMHO Rt EE s 3,354,786,612 & 53.40
CRIM Interest in controlled Long position
corporation
CRC Bluesky Limited™ R HEEE R 3,354,786,612 A& 53.40
Interest in controlled Long position
corporation
EHERO Rt EEEE 3,354,786,612 i1 & 53.40
CR Holdings™ Interest in controlled Long position
corporation
EHEE(BE)ARQAFO EamEE A 3,333,185,612 & 53.05
CRH (Pharmaceutical) Limited™ Beneficial owner Long position
EREE iEt)EE g 1,094,800,000 {F & 17.43
BSCOMC®@ Interest in controlled Long position
corporation
ERBEEPLREERBERAR REHEE#ERE 1,094,800,000 #f & 17.43
Beijing State-owned Capital Interest in controlled Long position
Operation and Management Center corporation
Investment Holdings Limited®
EREEPLREEBEERAR? BEHmEAA 1,094,800,000 {F & 17.43
Beijing State-owned Capital Beneficial owner Long position
Operation and Management Center
Investment Management Limited®

pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

B0/ EEMtE

Capacity/Nature
of Interest

iR 2RI E

Number of
Shares held

BR/ KRR
Long/short
position

XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company

(ERAUNET)E
2R BE DL
Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding in
the Company

(%)
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(1) EZHEE(BE)ERAR(EHEE (BH)))
H#EFA3,333,185,612M 0% - & BAR A A
(B E)) BE#%+54521,601,0000& 817 - R %
(BE) REBHAEREENZEMB AR -
= B 22 [ A5 CRC Bluesky Limited 89 F 25 & & i B
A7)+ M CRC Bluesky Limited Bl 1 ZE B AL () & &
HBE - EHRMATHERERAFTNKKRE
DR AMBAR - REFHFRBEKD - F
EMARARF - ERHAD - CRC Bluesky Limited
REREEEARAANERER (BE) KA
HIRDP B RER

2) HFREEFLEEEEERAR ([LREER
BEERE] B RERLEBRAR) EER
£ 1,094,800,000 % f& 7 - L R EREETIE A
EREEFRLEEERARAR (A REAER
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IERRERELERSEHERARILERBEERE
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B IEBIFE 336 FMALM B RM A EEIOXE
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Notes:

M

@)

CRH (Pharmaceutical) Limited (“CRH (Pharmaceutical)”) directly held
3,333,185,612 Shares. Commotra Company Limited (“Commotra”) directly held
21,601,000 Shares. Each of CRH (Pharmaceutical) and Commotra is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CR Holdings. CR Holdings is a beneficially wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRC Bluesky Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRI. CRI is
an ultimately beneficially wholly-owned subsidiary of China Resources Company
Limited. By virtue of the SFO, each of China Resources Company Limited, CRI,
CRC Bluesky Limited and CR Holdings is deemed to have an interest in the Shares
held by CRH (Pharmaceutical).

Beijing State-owned Capital Operation and Management Center Investment
Management Limited (“BSCOMC Investment Management”, formerly known
as Beijing Pharmaceutical Investment Limited) directly held 1,094,800,000 Shares.
BSCOMC Investment Management is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Beijing State-
owned Capital Operation and Management Center Investment Holdings Limited
("BSCOMC Investment Holdings”, formerly known as Beijing Pharmaceutical
Holdings Limited), which is in turn wholly owned by BSCOMC. By virtue of the
SFO, each of BSCOMC and BSCOMC Investment Holdings is deemed to have an
interest in the Shares held by BSCOMC Investment Management.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors were not
aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive of the
Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 12 December 2017 (the
“Share Option Scheme”). No share option was granted under the Share
Option Scheme since adoption.

At the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period, the number of
share options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme was both
628,450,646, representing 10% of the issued shares as at the date of this
annual report.

1. Purpose
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to effectively retain and
attract exceptional talents through a further optimized remuneration
structure, align the interests of the employees and Shareholders, and
effectively motivate both the management team and key employees,
thereby fostering the long-term development of the Company and
maximizing the interests of the Shareholders.

2. Incentive Targets

There are 199 incentive targets under the Share Option Scheme, who
are the Directors (excluding non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors), senior management (including general
managers, deputy general managers, heads of the finance department
and those personnel with such functions, board secretaries and other
senior management pursuant to the Articles of Association), and other
key employees whose management and technical skills may have a
direct impact on the results of operation and strategic development of
the Group.

3. Limit of the Share Option Scheme
The total number of new Shares that may be issued upon exercise
of the share options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and all
other schemes of the Company (if any) shall not, in aggregate, exceed
628,450,646 Shares, representing 10% of the Company’s total issued
shares as at the date on which the resolution approving the Share
Option Scheme is passed at the extraordinary general meeting.

The Company may seek approval from the Shareholders at a general
meeting of the Company to grant share options exceeding the above
10% limit, provided that share options in excess of such limit are
granted to those incentive targets specifically identified by the Company
before such approval is obtained.

The total number of new Shares that may be issued in relation to the
first grant of the share options to the incentive targets under the Share
Option Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the Company’s total issued
Shares.
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Unless approved by the Shareholders in the general meeting of the
Company, the total number of Shares which are issued and will be
issued upon exercise of the share options (including both exercised and
outstanding Share options) granted to any one of the incentive targets
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company within any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the total issued Shares from time to time. Where further grant of share
options to an incentive target would result in the Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the share options granted and to be granted
to such incentive target (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
share options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the total
issued Shares, such further grant must be separately approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting of the Company with such incentive
target and his/her close associates (or his/her associates if such incentive
target is a connected person) abstaining from voting, and in such case,
the Company will send a circular to the Shareholders disclosing all
relevant information necessary under the Listing Rules.

The limit on the number of securities which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and other schemes (if any) shall not exceed 30%
of the relevant class of securities of the Company in issue from time
to time, and no share option may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company if this will result in this
limit being exceeded.

Validity Period and Exercise Period

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid for ten (10) years from its
effective date, unless otherwise terminated pursuant to the terms
therein.

The incentive targets under each grant of the Share Option Scheme
may only exercise the share options two (2) years after the grant date.

Once the conditions to the exercise are satisfied after the two-year
restriction period commencing from the grant date, the share options
may be exercised by three (3) years thereafter with the proportion of
30%, 30% and 40% of the share options in each year.
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5.  Exercise Price
The exercise price of the share options under the Share Option Scheme
shall be determined by the Board, but shall not be less than the highest
of the followings:

(i) the closing price of the Shares on the grant date (which must be
a trading day) as stated on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet; and

(i) the average closing price of the Shares for the five (5) trading
days immediately preceding the grant date as stated on the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the grant date.

The incentive targets, subject to the fulfillment of the relevant
conditions and within the relevant exercise period, may apply with the
Company in respect of the exercise of the share options granted to him/
her and shall pay the relevant subscription amount within 28 days.

Certain A-share listed subsidiaries of the Company (including CR Sanjiu,
CR Double-Crane and Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical) have adopted their
own share incentive schemes as at the date of this annual report. As
none of these subsidiaries constitutes a principal subsidiary (as defined
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules), their respective share incentive
schemes are therefore not subject to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed above, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company'’s listed securities during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this report. As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company did
not hold any treasury shares (as defined under the Listing Rules).
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company have entered into a non-
competition agreement (the “Non-competition Agreement”) with CR
Holdings on 14 September 2016.

The independent non-executive Directors have conducted a review of the
compliance with the Non-competition Agreement by the Company and CR
Holdings in respect of year 2024, including but not limited to the review of
the Non-Competition Agreement and internal confirmations by the Company
and CR Holdings. Having made all reasonable enquiries, nothing has come to
the attention of the independent non-executive Directors that, except for the
Retained Business (as defined in the Prospectus), CR Holdings has engaged
in, participated in or assisted others to engage or participate in, or procure its
subsidiaries (other than the Group) to engage in, participate in or assist others
to engage in, any business that competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, with our business within the PRC during year 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into the following connected transactions during the
year ended 31 December 2024:

On 5 February 2024, CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical, a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an entrusted construction agreement
(the “Entrusted Construction Agreement”) with Shenzhen Runzhi City
Construction Management Co., Ltd. CRIITHEEHTRREEEGR A F)
("Shenzhen Runzhi”), pursuant to which CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical has
entrusted Shenzhen Runzhi to undertake the entrusted construction services
for the construction of the Intelligent Factory (Phase 1) (as defined in the
announcement of the Company dated 8 February 2024) for blood product
business of CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical for a total fee of RMB29,462,393.54
(equivalent to HK$32,427,783.45). As at 5 February 2024, CR Holdings, being
a controlling shareholder of the Company indirectly held 59.55% interest in
CR Land, and Shenzhen Runzhi was a wholly-owned subsidiary of CR Land.
Accordingly, the Entrusted Construction Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute connected transaction for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into the following continuing connected transactions
during the year ended 31 December 2024:

LH#AA
AT
FELR a1
Annual cap EXBE&H
BERERS BRZBEAL permitted Transaction
Continuing Connected Connected Parties HE under the amount in
Transactions involved Nature Listing Rules 2024
BEARE BEARK
RMB million RMB million
2¥%§%ﬁﬁﬁ%%§ £REE WE R E m iR 140.1 134.4
iEE
Procurement CR Holdings Procurement of supplies and products
Framework Agreement
2023/24 (Note 1)
202324 FRBIER ik ER5E AR5 3R AR 45.9 316
(FzE1)
Procurement CR Holdings Procurement of services
Framework Agreement
2023/24 (Note 1)
2023/24 % & b K7 ¥H&E HEEmMNEm 108.2 67.3
HEER B (1)
Products and Commodities CR Holdings Sales of products and commodities
Sales Framework Agreement
2023/24 (Note 1)
%;E%&%%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ% £REE HENER/REENEERRS 120.0 65.6
& (EE
Property Lensing and Property CR Holdings Leased properties and/or various property
Management Services Framework management services
Agreement (Note 1)
202324 FEE A fE ERRMT FRREBRTEASRTRERE(RA 1,800.0 1,069.3
(M5E2) FEWFIS)
Strategic Cooperation CR Bank Maximum daily deposit amount placed
Agreement 2023/24 (Note 2) with CR Bank (inclusive of interest
receivable)
202324 FHE & E 1 ERBRT ERRTRANSRERNEA 900.0 200.0
(M5E2) EEAtoBRIE
Strategic Cooperation Agreement  CR Bank Maximum daily principal amount and
2023/24 (Note 2) interest in relation to financial products
provided by CR Bank
202324 FHES & E 1 ERBRT ERBITIREA H A & BE o KR 150.0 11.6
(M5E2) EaRBERLRAE
Strategic Cooperation CR Bank Maximum service fees and commissions
Agreement 2023/24 (Note 2) for other financial products and services
provided by CR Bank
202324 FHE A E ERiET ERERRENEBERNEA 100.0 Nil
(FfzE2) ERALERIE
Strategic Cooperation CR Trust Maximum daily principal amount and
Agreement 2023/24 (Note 2) interest in relation to financial products
provided by CR Trust
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EERERS
Continuing Connected
Transactions

202324 BB A ERF
(M5E2)

Strategic Cooperation
Agreement 2023/24 (Note 2)

202324 E B EHMAMF
GEIGEE)

CR Leasing Strategic
Cooperation Agreement
2023/24 (Note 3)

HREEERTZ
(Fi5E4)

Supplemental Sales Framework
Agreement (Note 4)

e E 2 IR ek (HIEE5)
Supply Chain Management
Agreement (Note 5)

2024 F{E ERM IR 5 i
B2 H (Mze)

IT Services
Procurement Framework
Agreement 2024 (Note 6)

RERIBER W (L 7)
Energy Purchase Framework
Agreement (Note 7)

B3R 2023 F R RS IR
FRISIEZE His (Hi5E8)

Amended Business Travel Services
Framework Agreement 2023
(Note 8)

BB RBENAERZ
(M¥5E9)

Cooperation Agreement in relation
to New Energy Projects (Note 9)

2023 FEREFKMpE (H17E10)

(Note 10)

BRZEBEAL
Connected Parties
involved

ERER

CR Trust

£RHE

CR Leasing

ERER

CR Healthcare

EHEE
CR Medical

EREH
CR Digital

WMEBRR
CR Gas Chenzhou

EEER

CR Digital

£HES

CR Power

EREERERRN

Framework Loan Agreements 2023  CR Holdings and CRI

LEH#A A
FrRRTE
FELR
Annual cap
permitted
under the
Listing Rules
BEARY
RMB million
EREREHNENERERR 70.0
RENESREEARAS
Maximum services fees and commissions
for other financial products and services
provided by CR Trust
EHHERANSURB RERLD 250.0
BaREERRAR
Maximum service fees and commissions
for the financial services and products
provided by CR Leasing
R I B o M 2,500.0

Sales of medical and pharmaceutical
products and consumables

EHERRUBENEHEREERS 150.0
Provision of supply chain management

services for medical supplies by CR

Medical

R SR RS 123.0

Procurement of IT Services

e 25.0
Purchase of energy

P IR AT AR S 368.0

Business travel service

HEREEEBAE 200.0

Cooperation on new energy power
generation projects

EHEERENDIESSAREER 789.0
BB (BEASRFER)
Maximum daily outstanding principal
amount and interest in relation to the
advances made or committed
by the Group

—ZE—p

—

ER5EH

Transaction
amount in
2024

BEARY
RMB million

Nil

44.4

1,290.6

69.4

22.0

298.1

73.8

400.3
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On 30 December 2022, the Company has entered into the procurement
framework agreement with CR Holdings for a term from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2024 (the “Procurement Framework Agreement 2023/24"),
pursuant to which the Group may from time to time purchase from CR
Holdings and its subsidiaries various types of supplies and products (including
raw materials, ingredients, apparel and software products, but excluding the
procurement of utilities by the Group from CR Holdings and its subsidiaries in
the Group’s ordinary and usual course of business) as well as services (including
logistics services, company secretarial services and services of an integrated
e-commerce and internet based service platform, but excluding IT technical
support services, property leasing services, and construction, decoration and
furniture services which are covered by separate agreements entered into
between CR Holdings and the Company) in support of our business.

On 30 December 2022, the Company entered into the products and
commodities sales framework agreement (the “Products and Commodities
Sales Framework Agreement 2023/24") with CR Holdings for a term from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2024, pursuant to which the Group may from time
to time supply products and commodities, which mainly comprise pharmaceutical
products, to CR Holdings and/or its subsidiaries that are not hospitals including,
among others, supermarkets.

On 23 July 2024, the Company entered into the Property Leasing and Property
Management Services Framework Agreement with CR Holdings (the “Property
Leasing and Property Management Services Framework Agreement”),
for a term commencing on 23 July 2024 and ending on 31 December 2025,
pursuant to which CR Holdings Group shall provide leased properties and/or
various property management services to the Group.

On 30 December 2022, the Company has entered into the strategic cooperation
agreement (the “Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2023/24") with CR Bank
for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024, pursuant to which the
Group may place deposits with CR Bank and use other financial services and
products of CR Bank, including (but not limited to) the provision of letters of
credit, guarantee, loans with collaterals, bill of exchange and discount services,
assignment of receivables, RMB and foreign exchange settlement, entrusted
loans and collaterals, financial and cash management services, financial advisory
services and other financial services and products as agreed by the parties.

On 30 December 2022, the Company entered into the strategic cooperation
agreement (the “Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2023/24") with CR Trust
for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024, pursuant to which the
Group may use the services and products provided by CR Trust, including (but not
limited to) cash management, asset management, custodian trust loan services,
assignment of receivables, advisory services in relation to redemptory monetary
capital for sale, and other financial or trust services and products as agreed by the
parties.
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On 30 December 2022, the Company entered into the strategic cooperation
agreement (the “CR Leasing Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2023/24")
with CR Leasing for a term from1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024, pursuant
to which the Group may use the financial services and products provided by CR
Leasing, including (but not limited to) financial leasing, leasing and the related
consultancy and guarantee services, and factoring in relation to the Group’s
principal businesses.

On 30 December 2022, the Company entered into the sales framework
agreement with CR Healthcare for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2024, pursuant to which the Group may from time to time supply medical and
pharmaceutical products and consumables, including prescription medicines
and over-the-counter (OTC) drugs to CR Healthcare, its associates and/or the
hospitals that are managed by CR Healthcare and/or its associates. On 17 June
2024, the Company entered into the Supplemental Sales Framework Agreement
(“Supplemental Sales Framework Agreement”) with CR Healthcare to extend
the term of the original Sales Framework Agreement to 31 December 2025 and
revised the proposed annual caps for the transactions for the year ended 31
December 2024 to RMB2,500 million.

The Company has entered into a supply chain management agreement (the
“Supply Chain Management Agreement”) with CR Medical on 29 December
2022 pursuant to which CR Medical, its subsidiaries and the medical institutions
owned or managed by it (collectively the “CR Medical Group”) shall provide
the Group supply chain management services of medical supplies in relation
to establishment of regional platforms and streamlining of supply chain
management procedures in order to improve the efficiency of supply chain
management of medical supplies of the Group and reduce the corresponding
costs. CR Medical Group shall receive management service fees from the Group
for the abovementioned services. On 26 April 2024, CR Pharmaceutical and CR
Medical entered into the Supplemental Cooperation Framework Agreement, both
parties agreed to revise the annual cap for the transactions under the Supply
Chain Management Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2024, to extend
the term of the Supply Chain Management Agreement to 31 December 2025
and to agree on the proposed annual cap for the transactions under the Supply
Chain Management Agreement for the year ending 31 December 2025.
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Report of the Directors

On 12 April 2024, the Company entered into the IT Services Procurement
Framework Agreement 2024 (the “IT Services Procurement Framework
Agreement 2024") with CR Digital for a term commencing on 12 April 2024
and ending on 31 December 2024, the Group may from time to time purchase
the IT Services from CR Digital and its subsidiaries (“CR Digital Group”),
and the IT Services to be purchased from CR Digital Group shall include (i)
maintenance services for generic applications and operating systems, including
daily maintenance, procurement of software, and licensing of software; (ii)
specific implementation services, including development and implementation of
unified application systems; (iii) IT infrastructure, including cloud platforms and
hardware and software, and technical support services for the informatisation of
traditional resource pool; and (iv) other services, including general contracting
projects such as data security, smart manufacturing and smart parks, industrial
internet of things (IloT), and collection of externally applicable software licensing
fees relating to legalization and localization of software, etc.

On 22 June 2021, CR Sanjiu Chenzhou, an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the Energy Purchase Framework Agreement
with CR Gas Chenzhou, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CR Gas, for a
term of three years until 21 June 2024. On 21 June 2024, CR Sanjiu Chenzhou
entered into the Energy Purchase Framework Agreement (the “Energy Purchase
Framework Agreement”) with CR Gas Chenzhou, pursuant to which CR Gas
Chenzhou will supply, and CR Sanjiu Chenzhou will purchase, energy for heating
and cooling, steam and electricity for use at the Southern China manufacturing
centre of CR Sanjiu Chenzhou, for a term commencing from the date of the
Energy Purchase Framework Agreement to 31 December 2025.

On 4 September 2023, the Company entered into the Amended Business Travel
Services Framework Agreement 2023 (the “Amended Business Travel Services
Framework Agreement 2023") with CR Digital for a term commencing from
4 September 2023 to 31 December 2024 to reflect the amended proposed
annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Business Travel
Services Framework Agreement 2023. The Group may use CR Digital Group's
online business travel platform to purchase the following services from time
to time, including: (i) enquiry, booking, cancellation and changing of flight
tickets, accommodations, train tickets and ride-hailing services; (ii) sourcing
and management of related independent third-party service providers or travel
agencies for enquiry, booking, cancellation and changing of flight tickets,
accommodations, train tickets and ride-hailing services; (iii) customer service,
including but not limited to the provision of a hotline for the handling of enquiry,
complaints, emergencies, compiling and reporting of related business data, and
customer satisfaction surveys at regular intervals; and (iv) other related business
travel services.
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9. On 15 May 2024, CR Sanjiu entered into the Cooperation Agreement in relation
to New Energy Projects (the “Cooperation Agreement in relation to New
Energy Projects”) with CR Power for a term commencing on 15 May 2024 and
ended on 31 December 2024. CR Sanjiu and CR Power have agreed to cooperate
with each other on new energy power generation project(s) (the “New Energy
Project(s)”) in the following manners: (a) CR Power Group will engage CR
Sanjiu Group to plan and provide land abandonment management services at
the location of the New Energy Projects or its adjacent areas; and (b) CR Sanjiu
Group will assist CR Power Group to resolve the issue of abandoned land in the
New Energy Projects by planting traditional Chinese medicinal (TCM) herbs and
provide comprehensive land management services to meet the land requirements
for the relevant projects.

10.  On 3 April 2023, the Company entered into the offshore framework loan
agreement 2023 and the onshore framework loan agreement 2023 (collectively,
the “Framework Loan Agreements 2023") with CR Holdings and CRl,
respectively, each for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2023 and
ending on 31 December 2025.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions have
been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii)  in accordance with relevant agreements governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the auditor
of Company to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
" Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued his unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions win
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group on
pages 119 to 124 of the Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules.

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted as connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and
is in compliance with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the year, the Company had no
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions which fell to be
disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the charitable and other donations made by the
Group amounted to RMB32,849,000.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of directors who have served on the board of the subsidiaries of the
Company during the year and up to the date of this annual report is available
on the Company’s website at www.crpharm.com under “Investor Relations—
Corporate Governance”.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that every Director or other officer
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities (including any such liability as
mentioned in Section 468(4) of the Companies Ordinance) which he/she may
sustain or incur in the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto, and no Director or other officer shall be liable for any loss,
damages or misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the Company
in the execution of the duties of his/her office or in relation thereto, provided
that this article shall only have effect in so far as it is not invalidated by the
Companies Ordinance.

So far as may be permitted by the Companies Ordinance, if any Director
or other person shall become personally liable for the payment of any sum
primarily due from the Company, the Board may execute or cause to be
executed any mortgage, charge, or security over or affecting the whole or any
part of the assets of the Company by way of indemnity to secure the Director
or person so becoming liable as aforesaid from any loss in respect of such
liability.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought against the
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The events after the Reporting Period are disclosed in Note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had, together with the management and external
auditor of the Company, reviewed the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 65 to 90 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the total issued Shares, the
prescribed minimum percentage of public float approved by the Stock
Exchange and permitted under the Listing Rules, was held by the public at all
times during the Reporting Period and as of the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young retired as the auditor of the Company with effect from the
close of the annual general meeting held on 29 May 2023. The appointment
of KPMG as the new independent auditor of the Company following the
retirement of Ernst & Young was approved by the Shareholders at the same
meeting.

The financial statements of the Company for the year have been audited by
KPMG. A resolution will be submitted at the forthcoming AGM to reappoint
KPMG as independent auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Bai Xiaosong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the members of China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Resources
Pharmaceutical Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
"Group”) set out on pages 134 to 280, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
and notes, comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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AR E RTS8 KEY AUDIT MATTERS

FRETEESRERMANBELE - RBY  Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
RHGEMBERENEFRAEENEEE  of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
LEFLERMBAEREBRAMBHRERKLEE  of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
ERFETEEN HMITZHELEERREM  audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
BENER - opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

BEREE

Impairment of goodwiill

BRI E B IR M AT 18 LA R MTaE 2(1) K 2(h) 89 & 71 B ©

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Notes 2(f) and 2(h).

BRETEE
The Key Audit Matter

RZZEZ_MF+_A=+—H BEEEFEREHEARY
2369 BB RETRREELEN ((ReELEM]) -
As at 31 December 2024, the carrying value of the Group’s
goodwill amounting to RMB22,369 million was allocated to
different cash generating units (“CGU").

EREESFHANKRETHEREENERENBERT
4 SEENFHEETRENE BERESHERBEHEEE (8
EME BELRRBAREBTVEE dRGSEREEELEM
EAREE R AT AT B S BEETHE IR SERARE
BREERKN ([AAEBEREEXNE]) IEREEFNRSE -
Management performs impairment assessment of the Group’s
goodwill annually or whenever there is an indication that the
carrying value of goodwill may be impaired. Management
compares the carrying values of the individual CGU to which the
goodwill and associated assets, including property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets have been allocated, with the
estimated recoverable amounts, which are the higher of the fair
value less costs of disposal (“FVLCOD") or the value in use.

I 128 2024FFH  ERBEEEERAA

BN BTN EEZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B EEERENEAEFEEATAR
Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of goodwill
included the following:

— AHMAEEEEREREMEENABIEGN R RERE -

Assessing the design and implementation of
management’s internal controls relating to goodwill
impairment.

— EBMELBL-FHNMRREREBYIEARFEE

WERERETORAMLEES  UIHESFEEERRE
REMIR

Performing a retrospective review by comparing the
prior year's discounted cash flow forecasts with the
current year’s actual results on a sample basis to assess
whether there is any indication of management bias;

—  HERARERLE - BRNFHFFEEREE  HEMERAN
BERT AR BN - 2FRITEHERESR - W
BT E LA Al AL IR FAEITEELL R - RTAAL
WEMEEM
Involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us,
on a sample basis, in assessing the appropriateness
of the impairment assessment methodology adopted
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accountings standards, and the reasonableness of
discount rates used by benchmarking against those of
comparable companies;




BRETEH (&
HEAE ()

Impairment of goodwill (continued)

FREIEE AN 18 A R 2() & 2(h) B9 & 5T -

B XA RS
Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Notes 2(f) and 2(h).

BERENEE
The Key Audit Matter

ERECAEERN EREABEARCEABNGRHARRS
METER - RBBIRB S RETEAS RERRBALRE - K
REFE R R EHEH)EKEIE G HE -

In determining the value in use, management prepares
discounted cash flow forecasts for each CGU. The preparation of
discounted cash flow forecasts involves the exercise of significant
management judgement, in particular in relation to future revenue
growth rates, future gross margins, and discount rates.

BB EEREZERN A - ARREZEIE  BAETHE
KE(B) S RBERENEEEBHE  MERBHETER
BEBHNTREN WARIINERERENTE -

We identified impairment of goodwill as a key audit matter
because determining the level of impairment, if any, involves
a significant degree of management judgement, which can be
inherently uncertain and could subject to management bias.

BHNETNNEERZSE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

FREMBIAE B EDRE2REANIBR LR
RA#IA R BRERREBTEOLE - MR
RIRBAERERARREFNEHN SR

Evaluating the reasonableness of future revenue
growth rates and future gross margins on a sample
basis by comparing with the financial budget, our
understanding, experience and knowledge of the life
sciences sector and the Group's future business plans;

MR ERRBETEREST - EEBLUEREE
BEEGHTEUALERBRNEERSFAEER
ErmR &

Performing a sensitivity analysis of key assumptions on
a sample basis and considering the resulting impact on
the impairment charge for the year and whether there
is any indication of management bias in the selection of
these key assumptions; and

2ERTEF RN ERFT RGN BRETEHE
AL EN SR -

Assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements in respect of
impairment assessment of goodwill with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
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2024 ERBEEEBRAF

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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B XA RS
Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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2024 ERBEEEBRAF

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Yu Wai Sum.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

26 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

( E_FTNF+ A =+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

(UAARE([ARB])Z3)  (Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”))

2024 2023

B 5 AR¥T R ARETTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Uy & Revenue 4 257,673,256 244,703,884
THERAR Cost of sales (216,984,387)  (206,366,398)
EF Gross profit 40,688,869 38,337,486
HAb U A Other income 5 1,801,527 1,771,446
Eab iz M BB Other gains and losses 6 (1,642,579) (1,564,959)
HE RS HAXZ Selling and distribution expenses (19,809,905) (18,909,898)
TR Administrative expenses (6,727,404) (6,328,166)
E b HEE Other expenses, net (2,147,821) (2,044,162)
BE A Finance income 7 681,103 587,686
BLE A AR Finance costs 7 (2,281,882) (2,386,312)
BERKA - JFEE Finance costs, net (1,600,779) (1,798,626)
DIEEE AT REEREEN  Share of profits of associates
and joint ventures 368,014 417,106
BR AT R Profit before taxation 8 10,929,922 9,880,227
FriS R > Income tax expense 9 (2,526,679) (2,105,224)
FRAER Profit for the year 8,403,243 7,775,003
FE4h - Attributable to:
RARIEREB A Equity shareholders of the Company 3,350,857 3,854,247
FEVERR R RS Non-controlling interests 5,052,386 3,920,756
8,403,243 7,775,003
TATEBRERBEEA Earnings per share attributable to
EhESRAER ordinary equity shareholders of
the Company: 13
EAREE(ARK) Basic and diluted (RMB) 0.53 0.61

£ 143280 BRI TBAR AT EREN—3 5

I 134 2024FFH  ERBEEEERAA

The notes on pages 143 to 280 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

(EZFTNF+ A =1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(UAREZ5)  (Expressed in RMB)

2024 2023

ARMT 5 AREF 7
RMB"000 RMB'000
FRER Profit for the year 8,403,243 7,775,003
FREMEZERES Other comprehensive income for the year
HE gk EM S B ERaIEE - Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
HAE o B K B LA SN R TS E AR Y Exchange differences on translation of
E)‘i%%ﬁ operations outside Mainland China (40,652) (188,376)
BB EETDEEEEN Other comprehensive income that
Eﬁﬁi@l&m may be reclassified to profit or loss under
equity method (1,542) -
BT BT EEEZRIEE - Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
DIEEE AR H A 2 E U Share of other comprehensive income of
associates (96) (15)
EFFTERTEXmTE Remeasurement of defined benefit plans (22,739) 11,261
RERZREMERSHYE - Gain on revaluation of property, plant and
BERFEOWE - MNBRTRIE equipment upon transfer to investment
properties, net of tax 20,394 120,433
BAREEFAEMEAKGEN Changes in equity instruments, at fair value
T A through other comprehensive income (4,036) -
FREMZEKE  HRHE Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax (48,671) (56,697)
FRZEKREHAHE Total comprehensive income for the year 8,354,572 7,718,306
ML Attributable to:
KRBT EFEEA Equity shareholders of the Company 3,319,132 3,795,203
FEVERR R R Non-controlling interests 5,035,440 3,923,103
FRAEZEKEATE Total comprehensive income for the year 8,354,572 7,718,306

F 1432280 BRI FEREA A #ERERH —30 5 ©
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZZE_NF+=-A=+—H At31December 2024
(UNRBZ22%)  (Expressed in RMB)

2024 2023

B 5 AR¥T R ARETTT

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
WME - B REE Property, plant and equipment 14 20,988,872 20,117,615
FHREEE Right-of-use assets 16(a) 4,918,458 4,925,159
REWE Investment properties 15 1,673,690 1,692,206
EBEE Intangible assets 17 8,507,954 8,016,756
[GES Goodwill 18 22,368,811 21,454,280
REEE QAR = Interests in associates 19 5,536,147 6,005,836
NE & ENER Interests in joint ventures 22,924 31,211
HEMERESemEE Other non-current financial assets 20 584,325 841,445
EEFEE E Deferred tax assets 30 1,968,756 1,773,365
HEMIEREEE Other non-current assets 21 5,344,804 3,344,593
EMEEERTE Total non-current assets 71,914,741 68,202,466
REEE Current assets
FE Inventories 22 37,052,579 31,875,487
E 5 & E b FEMROR Trade and other receivables 23 93,929,934 79,188,302
EfnsemEE Other current financial assets 24 28,211,657 34,615,717
JRE s B Bt 5 B IA Amounts due from related parties 38 1,262,265 1,061,519
CINqEE Tax recoverable 222,147 118,997
EIRFER KT TR Pledged and term deposits 25 8,703,691 7,018,574
ReRBEREEY Cash and cash equivalents 25 16,424,739 24,650,670

185,807,012 178,529,266

DREREFENEE Assets classified as held for sale 38,567 38,564
mMENEELRRR Total current assets 185,845,579 178,567,830
REEE Current liabilities
B 5 & H M ERFRIE Trade and other payables 26 80,742,110 79,075,321
EHBEE Contract liabilities 27 4,224,594 4,022,937
HEBE Lease liabilities 16(b) 520,268 463,529
JFE A BE B 5 SROE Amounts due to related parties 38 875,778 4,123,718
HRITIE Bank borrowings 28 42,702,306 43,119,673
&S Bonds payable 29 2,150,582 2,640,387
FEfH IR Tax payable 954,898 730,031
REXmEE Defined benefit obligations 31 51,388 57,159
mEN B EREE Total current liabilities 132,221,924 134,232,755
RBEERE Net current assets 53,623,655 44,335,075
HEERRBAE Total assets less current liabilities 125,538,396 112,537,541

F 1432280 BRI FEREA A #ERERH —30 5 ©

I 136 2024FFH  ERBEEEERAA

The notes on pages 143 to 280 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZZE_NF+=A=+—H At31 December 2024
(UANRBZ25)  (Expressed in RMB)

2024 2023

B 5 AR¥T R ARETT

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
kREBEE Non-current liabilities
IRITIER Bank borrowings 28 17,866,213 11,093,432
&S Bonds payable 29 4,997,673 3,999,046
HEaE Lease liabilities 16(b) 768,138 844,894
RLEFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 30 1,915,360 1,718,120
REX=EE Defined benefit obligations 31 773,542 761,698
FE{S RA B 75 38 Amounts due to related parties 38 = 43,500
HEfIEREEE Other non-current liabilities 32 1,130,192 1,102,037
EmE B EREE Total non-current liabilities 27,451,118 19,562,727
EEFE NET ASSETS 98,087,278 92,974,814
BEXR#E CAPITAL AND RESERVES 33
[N Share capital 24,630,493 24,630,493
B Reserves 23,613,743 21,329,112
AAEEZBRREGEREE  Total equity attributable to equity

shareholders of the Company 48,244,236 45,959,605

IR ER Non-controlling interests 49,843,042 47,015,209
B TOTAL EQUITY 98,087,278 92,974,814

R-ZE-_RE=A -+ NB&E=< AENLIE  Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 March

HETE - 2025.
SR -F7N GBS
Bai Xiaosong Deng Rong
BF BF
Director Director

F 1432280 BRI FEREA A #ERERH —30 5 ©

The notes on pages 143 to 280 form part of these financial statements.
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MEEMEER
Consolldated Statement of Changes in Equity

( E_FTNF+ A =+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(UANR#22)  (Expressed in RMB)

ARARERRER
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

HE % Es

Ra  EAGE BRRR AKRR  EfEE  RBEE AtER  REEA a5t FERER
Statutory Property  Exchange Non-

Share Capital surplus Merger revaluation fluctuation Other  Retained controlling
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total interests

AR®F R AR®TR ARETR ARBTR AREBTR ARBTR ARBTR AEBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

AMB000 AMB000 AV 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB000
RZB-ME-A-H  At1January 2024 24,630,493 (5,971,47) 124184 (447,172) 606,324 (2,590,823) 27,146 29,580,740 45,959,605  47,015209 92,974,814
FREH Profit for the year - - - - - - - 3350857 3350857 5052386 8,403,243
FREMZENGE:  Other comprehensive income
for the year:
BERBEREMMNER  Exchange differences on translation of
EENERZR operations outside Mainland China - - - - - (42,902) - - (42,902) 2,250 (40,652)
REXEHUNENHE  Remeasurement of defined benefit
plans - - - - - - 1458 - 1458 (24,197) (22,739)

EEERENERER  Gainon revaluation of property,

% MERRED  plantand equipment upon transfer

Wiz NRHE toinvestment properties, net of tax = = = - 12275 = = = 12275 8,119 20,39
AEEREENARE  Other comprehensive income that may

BENERZERE  beredassiied to profit or loss under

equity method - - - - - - (934) - (934) (608) (1,542)
MEBRERATL Share of other comprehensive income
Falia of associates - - - - - - (M) - (M) (19) (%)
BAREEALRZE Changesin equity instruments, at far
WEMERTAZY  value through other comprehensive
income - - - - - - (1,545) - (1,545) (2491) (4,036)
ERRENEER Total comprehensive income for
the year - - - - 12,215 (42,902) (1,098) 3350857 3319132 5035440 8354572
BRATREEED  Other equity movements from
EhEREY investments under the equity method - (a561) - - - - - - (A2561) (6639)  (49,200)
HERERTE Capital contributions from
(HsE33(0) non-contralling interests (Note 33(o)) - (169,899 = - - = = - (169.899) 2,336,009 2,166,110
HERERERR Changes in percentage of shareholding
iz & in non-controlling interests without
(REREHE) loss of control - 86495 - - - - - - s (92125)  (62310)
IEREEZRAMRE  Equity-settled restricted stock incentive
AR plan expense - 68 - - - - - - ks 3148 78315
WENELA Acauisitions of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 3G 37610
WEErRER Acquisitions of non-controling interests - (301,637) - - - - = - (301,637)  (228,746)  (530,383)
BpERERN Issuance of financial instruments
$RIE classified as equity - - - - - - - - - 3,000,000 3,000,000
[EENERERN Repayment of financial instruments
%Vaﬂlﬁ dlassified as equity - - - - - - - - - (3,000,000) (3,000,000)

52023 final dividend declared and 2024
Interim dividend declared (Note 12)

( MT? 2/ - - - - - - - (1,488,955)  (1,488,955) - (1,488,955
PEESEBESY  Distrioutions to holders of financial

%pﬂlﬁl\%ﬁ i instruments classified s equity - - - - - - - - - (126015 (126,015)

WHEERRRERRE  Dividend dedlared to non-contralling
shareholders - - - - - - - - - (3,630,865 (3,630,865)

EEMBLAZBHME  Unlocking of restricted share incentive

REREE scheme of subsidiaries - 55,321 - - - - - - 55,321 43510 98,831
BOHEL ARG Repurchase of shares of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (15872  (15872)
Eft Others - 1,453 - - - - - - 1453 5113 6,566
R=Z-pE At 31 December 2024

+-A=t-B 24,630,493 (5,516,793) 124184 (447172) 618,599  (2,633,725) 26048 31442642 48244236 49,843,042 98,087,278

F143E 280 BHIMI s A AN TEERER B —EB2 © The notes on pages 143 to 280 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

(EZFTNF+ A =1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(UAREZ5)  (Expressed in RMB)

Attributable to equity shareho\ders of the Company

RE ¢ : e EiER i AR REEN
Statutory Property  Exchange
NEG Capital surplus Merger  revaluation  fluctuation Other Retained controlling Total
capital Teserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Teserve eamings Total interests equity

AEBTTL AEBTT AEBTR ARBTT AR ARBTT ARETTR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARBTT

RMBO00 RMBO00 RUB000 RUB000 U000 U000 AMB00D AWB00D AWB000 AWB000 AWB000
NZEZZF-F-R  At1lanvary 2023 24630493 (5,458,580) 124,144 (447.172) 491103 (2403823) 14411 26,606,458  43557,034  37,000310 80,557,344
P Poftforheyer - - - - - - S IBANT3EAUT 3907% 777500
FREAMZENE:  Other comprehensive income
for the year:

RERERENNEHR  Exchange differences on translation of

EAMELZE operations outside Mainland China - - - - - (187,000 - - (187,000 (1376)  (188376)
FEXHIEMER  Remeasurement of defined benefit plan

it - - - - - - 12,748 - 12,748 (1487) 11261

ERERENERER  Gainon revaluation of property,
% MERRED  plantand equipment upon transfer

%Tli il to investment propertes, net of tax - - - - s - - - s 5212 120433
{REE DRI At A U Share of other comprehensive income
of associates - - - - - - (13) - (13) 2) (19)
FREENREE Total comprehensive income for
the year - - - - 115,221 (187,000) 12,735 3854247 3795203 3923103 7718306
BRATREEED  Other equity movements from
EhERED investments under the equity method - (59,233) - - - - - - (59,233) - (59,233)
FERERIA Capital contributions from
non-controlling interests - (38911) - - - - - - (38911) 3668434 3629523
FRRERERHE  Capital reduction by
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - (5,949) (5,949)
IERREZBHMBRE  Fquity-settled restrcted stock incentive
BEERT plan expense - 83,89 - - - - - - 83,896 57995 141,891
WEHBRR Acaquisitions of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 5583345 5583345
IR RER Acquisitions of non-controling interests N VEREL] - - - - - S (BB B30 (516836)
ER-E-2ERGRE 2022 final dividend declared (Note 12)
Mﬁ 12) - - - - - - - (879965 (879965) - (8719969)
HEESEBESY  Distrioutions to holders of financial
SBIARER instruments classified as equity - - - - - - - - - (1278000 (127,800)
MFEERRRERRE  Dividend dedlared to non-controlling
shareholders - - - - - - - - - (2753724) (2753724
Eft Others - (324,685) - - - - - - (324,685) 12,597 (312,088)
W=%F==% At 31 December 2023
TZA=+-8 24630493 (5971,247) 124,144 (447172) 606,324 (2,590,823) 27146 29,580,740 45959605  47,015209 92,974,814

143 %280 BMKIsEEA AN TS3RER M —EB5 ©  The notes on pages 143 to 280 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

( E_FTNF+ A =+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(UNRBZ22%)  (Expressed in RMB)

2024 2023

B &% AR¥T T ARBTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
KRETEE Operating activities
B 5 B Profit before taxation 10,929,922 9,880,227
BB IE R Adjustments for:
BEM AR Finance costs 7 2,281,882 2,386,312
DIEEERNT REEREREN Share of profits of associates and
joint ventures (368,014) (417,106)
FLEUW A Interest income 7 (681,103) (587,686)
Hj’%%i i E R EIEE 8 (Gain)/loss on disposal of items of property,
Wa), B8 plant and equipment 6 (51,641) 12,196
i ’% LIV NCIDNE: NS Iy Gain on disposal of subsidiaries and
Woas %58 associate, net 6 (23,819) (38,686)
HEFAREEEN R Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets 6 (8,444) (26,548)
HEREMENER (IR Loss/(gain) on disposal of investment
properties 6 13,783 (10,814)
RAREERABEN Fair value changes of financial assets at
SREENAABEES fair value through profit or loss 6 (79,891) 21,337
BEMEARBEE Fair value changes of investment properties 6 10,960 24,649
LIFERE AR BERA Loss on derecognition of trade receivables
Hibh 2 HE Wz 28 measured at fair value through other
f’i Z W IE R E 18 comprehensive income 6 263,797 450,667
ape Negative goodwill 6 (73,273) -
W BERRENTE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 8(b) 2,024,898 1,948,020
FREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8(b) 704,668 625,810
| EEME Amortisation of intangible assets 8(b) 627,144 590,535
MEEERIBEERE Impairment loss recognised on assets 1,595,888 1,135,928
XS # B Government grants (111,347) (91,898)
TEIERRETENREE Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete
inventories 8(b) 201,047 210,282
LARE 2= 45 E 2 R I AR 3= Equity-settled restricted stock incentive
B ET B X plan expense 8(a) 78,315 141,891
17,334,772 16,255,116
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(EZFTNF+ A =1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(UANRBZ25)  (Expressed in RMB)

2024 2023

B &% AR¥T R ARETT
Notes RMB000 RMB'000
HEEREE Changes of working capital:
FEHM Increase in inventories (4,940,438) (2,668,151)
B 5 K H ftb FE UL FRIEIE hn Increase in trade and other receivables (6,913,806) (6,077,390)
JE W5 2 Bt 75 R IE 3 A Increase in amounts due from related parties (104,072) (256,520)
B 5 K H fth FE A FRIEIG N Increase in trade and other payables 14,435,241 10,910,226
BB EEM Increase in contract liabilities 201,657 279,436
FE RS T s an, Cri ) Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to
related parties 51,874 (405,700)
HEw3EmehadEsEmn Csd) Increase/(decrease) in other non-current
liabilities 103,020 (180,481)
KERBRE Cash generated from operations 20,168,248 17,856,536
EATFTSH Income tax paid (2,632,734) (2,306,650)
RETHFAESEERNETHE Net cash flows generated from operating
activities 17,535,514 15,549,886
REEE Investing activities
HEWE  WFELEZEER - Proceeds from disposal of items of property,

KWEMERGRAEEE plant and equipment, investment properties

P8 308 and right-of-use assets 181,832 176,954
HEEMRSEMERE Proceeds from disposal of other current

FRi§0A financial assets 32,524,266 22,355,447
HEREEMSNRIE Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets 4,410 2,034
HEMBAA Disposal of subsidiaries (2,866) 39,847
T R B HEE Net changes in term deposits (2,755,200) 306,975
SR EYS) Interest received 682,386 587,686
B UL ER B & N BIRR B Dividend received from associates 68,255 87,851
MBS QR (EE), #ft (Repayments to)/advances from associates (96,674) 937,000
Wi B IR A #6 B Receipt of government grants 36,482 53,040
BEME  BFELZEEE Purchase of items of property, plant and

equipment (2,644,560) (2,523,237)
BEELEE Purchase of intangible assets (435,316) (478,948)
BEMHAREEE Purchase of right-of-use assets (122,951) (130,530)
XA IRIERE R Payments for equity investment (100,000) -
WEEH B AR - 1k (2fF),  Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash (paid)/

BEE S received (1.862,803) 646,533
HEBERAAREEDRE Disposal of associates and joint ventures 196,777 24,000
HEREE RN REERE Investments in associates and joint ventures (92,423) (82,650)
BEEMRBEREE Purchases of other current financial assets (34,469,386) (24,069,289)
BRETHFTANRESARETFE  Net cash flows used in investing activities (8,887,771) (2,067,287)

F 1432280 BRI FEREA A #ERERH —30 5 ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

( E_FTNF+ A =+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(UNRBZ22%)  (Expressed in RMB)

2024 2023

P 5 AR¥T T ARBTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
RMEEE Financing activities
IRITIE RS FA Proceeds from bank borrowings 25(b) 76,720,285 83,183,860
BITEHEHIA Proceeds from issuances of bonds 25(b) 3,000,000 2,000,000
EEPHEZERATENR Repayment of loans from intermediate
holding companies 25(b) (2,993,021) (5,212,976)
BOIDEAERAKAE Proceeds from issue of perpetual securities
Fri8sIA classified as equity 3,000,000 -
R AERAKAFE Redemption of perpetual securities classified
as equity (3,000,000) -
FEERRFEE Capital contribution from non-controlling
shareholders 2,166,110 3,629,523
BEBEITER Repayment of bank borrowings 25(b) (80,324,859) (80,169,884)
BEENES Repayment of bonds payable 25(b) (2,500,000) -
(fai%éﬁiﬁ?i%)/ﬁﬁiﬁ (Repayment of)/proceeds from asset-backed
EHF SRR securities (4,075,237) 1,146,130
TRHEEERE Payments of lease liabilities 25(b) (596,847) (627,943)
BAE T PS8, (EiERIE: /7) Proceeds from/(repayment to) related parties  25(b) 23,453 (1,628,194)
ERHE Interest paid (2,101,578) (2,643,778)
AR E Dividend paid 25(b) (1,488,955) (879,965)
B IEHE Hxﬁxﬁﬂx 8 Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders (4,061,549) (2,345,257)
EAENINEE N Repurchase of shares of a subsidiary (75,872)
Ui B FE 4 Hﬂ% = Acquisitions of non-controlling interests (530,384) (516,835)
MELTBHFARESRERHE Net cash flows used in financing activities (16,838,454) (4,065,319)
iE%&ﬁ%%E% Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
W), IR EE cash equivalents (8,190,711) 9,417,280
—A—BWERERESLZEEY Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 24,650,670 15,223,726
MEEZZHNEE 8 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,
net (35,220) 9,664
+TZA=t+—-HHERER Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December
REEEY 16,424,739 24,650,670
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEZZT-WF+-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(BIEEHE - B AN REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

NEREEER
FHEEEEFRARTARARAD /K
REBEMRIZOB D ERAR - EBHD
REBBERSMBRAR LT B
—RNETAZTNABREEN - HEERER
RAIREBREE (B ERAR ([EH
SH (B —ZINRBREZES ([R
BRAZES]) EMKINAR) MEK
RERARRTEERARAR ([HEHE
Bl —RRPEARKME (THE]) K
VEBEBRE)

$ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%$?ﬂﬁﬂ$£”¥ﬂ
HATRBEFBEEBERRERAENE
4104-05 % °

ARBR/—HRREZERRGF - KRR RHE
MEAR(TAEE]) T2REBERRE
mHRE  DHRTE -

BENBRARNER
ARREEMBARNFBEWT

AEER

Place of incorporation/
registration and business

Name of company

FHEEIRERARA i/ hER
(rEEBEER]) (Fﬁ&( )c))

China Resources Pharmaceutical Holdings -~ PRC/Mainland China
Limited Company ("CR Pharmaceutical
Holdings") (Note (2)(c))

FHEEREERAA i/ hER

(IEBEERE]) (M 2)0b)

China Resources Pharmaceutical Investment PRC/Mainland China
Company Limited ("CR Pharmaceutical
Investment”) (Note (2)(b))

1

AMAY/EREEREE CRTEER/ERRE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (“the Company”) is a
public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with effect from 28
October 2016. Its immediate holding company is CRH (Pharmaceutical)
Limited (“CRHP"), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
("BVI") and its ultimate holding company is China Resources Company
Limited ("CRCL"), a state-owned enterprise established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

The address of the registered office and the principal place of business
of the Company is Room 4104-05, 41/F, China Resources Building, 26
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) is principally engaged in the manufacture,
distribution and retail of pharmaceutical and healthcare products.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

AAAEEERRERD L TEEH
Issued ordinary/  Percentage of effective equity
registered share capital interest attributable to the Company Principal activities
2024 2023

AR 18,507,000,000 7T 100% 100% RERR
RMB18,507,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding

AR3,215,206,800 7 100% 100% RERR
RMB3,215,206,800 100% 100%  Investment holding

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEZT-WF+-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(BrIFE B - AU REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 QAAKREEER (B) 1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
BREMBLARNER () Information about subsidiaries (continued)
NEE EMRY/ EMERES BROZER/ZEMRE ARAEEERRERS L TEEH
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  Percentage of effective equity
Name of company registration and business  registered share capital interest attributable to the Company Principal activities
2024 2023

EB-NBERMARLR(EE=N)) DB/ TEAL ARI51,284,298,685 T 63.02% 63% EmtERHEE
(FFRE (1) R 20()

China Resources Sanjiu Medical & PRC/Mainland China RMB1,284,298,685 63.02% 63%  Manufacture and sale of
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. ("CR Sanjiu”) pharmaceutical products
(Notes (1) and (2)(d))

ZERMWBARLR(HEQ0) 8/ PERY ARE421N 6757 56.62% 56.62%  REER

China Resources Dong-E-E-Jiao PRC/Mainland China RMB422,771,675 56.62% 56.62%  Investment holding
Company Limited (Note (2)(b))

RMBRAGRARD(RAWNE]) &/ TEAL AR 643,976,824 23.30% 231% ERtEREE
(HEEE() ) B2 3))

Dong-E-E-Jiao Company Limited PRC/Mainland China RMB643,976,824 23.30% 2231%  Manufacture and sale of
("Dong-E-E-Jiao") (Notes (1), (2)(d) pharmaceutical products
and (3))

IRBESEAREALA QM) #8/ AR AR2,320,000,0007 100% 100% REZK

Beijing Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB2,320,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
(Note (2)(@)

ERITHEREARELLA hE/HEA ARHE252,441,045 0 60.55% 6055% EmEEREE
(rEBIhEE]) (1 Q0)

China Resources Jiangzhong PRC/Mainland China RMB252,441,045 60.55% 60.55%  Manufacture and sale of
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. pharmaceutical products
("CR Jiangzhong Group”) (Note (2)(b))

TPEXRAERARD(TIHER]) B/ TEAL AR 629,444,958 0 26.10% 2608% EmtEREE

Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB629,444,958 26.10% 26.08%  Manufacture and sale of
("Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical ") pharmaceutical products
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEZZT-WF+-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(BIEEHE - B AN REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

RAREEER (F) 1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
BREMBLARNER () Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RRER HMAL/AREEREE ERTZER/ARBA ARAEEERRERS L TEEH
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  Percentage of effective equity
Name of company registration and business  registered share capital interest attributable to the Company Principal activities
2024 2023

ZEYBEERNERRA hE/HEA ARH1,038,894,722 71 60.24% 60.19% EmEEREE
(FEELE]) () RQId)

China Resources Double-Crane PRC/Mainland China RMB1,038,894,722 60.24% 60.19%  Manufacture and sale of
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. pharmaceutical products
("CR Double-Crane”)

(Notes (1) and (2)(d))

ZEREBZEEERAA hE/HEA AR 19,646,531,358 7T 80.13% 8.11% %REE
(rEEBZHx]) (3 Q0)

China Resources Pharmaceutical PRC/Mainland China RMB19,646,531,358 80.13% 86.11%  Trading of pharmaceutical
Commercial Group Co., Ltd. products
("CR Pharmaceutical Commercial”)

(Note (2)(o)

ZERRLEYHESERAERAT A/ TEAL ARIES04,248,738 1 30.28% 29.28% ER4E
(rEEEREn ) (3 R2)d)

China Resources Boya Bio-pharmaceutical - PRC/Mainland China RMB504,248,738 30.28% 29.28%  Manufacture of
Group Company Limited pharmaceutical products
("CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical”)

(Notes (1) and (2)(d))

RESERAERARD(EESE]) B/ TEAL ARHE757,986,969 70 17.68% 17.65%  Emii £ERES
(& 2d) &3)

KPC Pharmaceuticals, Inc ("KPC") PRC/Mainland China RMB757,986,969 17.68% 17.65%  Research and development,
(Notes (1), 2(d) and (3)) production and sale of

pharmaceutical products

BTF(PE)ENHRERAA hE/HEA AR 158,547,020 T 30.28% TER  EEREENREM
(M2 RE)

Green Cross HK (China) Biological Products PRC/Mainland China RMB158,547,020 30.28% NA  Manufacture and sales of
Co., Ltd. (Notes 2(c) and (3)) blood products
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEZT-WF+-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(BrIFE B - AU REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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2024 ERBEEEBRAF

1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Notes:

(1) CR Sanjiu, Dong-E-E-Jiao and CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical are listed

on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and CR Double-Crane, Jiangzhong
Pharmaceutical and KPC are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

(2) For those subsidiaries established in the PRC, their legal entity types are as
follows:
€)] Sino-foreign equity joint venture
(b) Limited liability company
(o] Wholly foreign owned enterprise
(d) Joint-stock limited company

(3) These entities are accounted for as subsidiaries by virtue of the Company’s
control over them through non-wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Except for CR Pharmaceutical Holdings, which is held directly by the
Company, the remaining subsidiaries above are held indirectly by the
Company.




2 BAREFTHEHE

(a)

(b)

BHREH

ZEMBHRRDIBRBEFEGID
g ([EBGFAMRE) BB ZAE
EREAMBWELA ([FEYH
REER ) (BEMEERZERNE
AUBHRELER  BEGHEN(E
BERTERD kRE) REE(AR]
RO R ERB - ZFH WK
NeaBEBMARIMARDRES
ERRAZERBEEGRTE - A
SEFRMNERSABERIENT -

BRI AEERME TEER
EREUBHREEL  ZFERRAE
SEzARNEFHEERERAH
PR - M2 Rt =B RER
ZEFERETNEITBRRNTME
PEENER ERRZEVBHR
KPRBROASTHEABRER
BN EAER -

MHBmREREE
HAVBRERAAREZY - HE
EREONTRE  MARBNIY
gEB BT (AT -

REBAIFDZZAAREETER
BE R ARAEEZER/RMAA

REERAKEGAYBRENE
JEHEREE -

HE-_T-_NMF+-_A=+—H1
FEMEREVWBREBEARTR
HEHWBRARUERAEBMNE L AR
REENRIFHRER -

Notes to the Consolidated Financia

IR BTSRRI 5
Statements

(EZFTNF+ A =1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(B IESHHB  TEIAANRBERIR)  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current accounting period reflected
in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB,
rounded to the nearest thousand, while the functional currency
of the Company is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$").

The majority of the Group’s transactions are denominated and
settled in RMB, so the directors of the Company consider that it is
more appropriate to adopt RMB as the presentation currency for
the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and
the Group's interest in associates and joint ventures.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in
the accounting policies set out below:

— investment property, including interests in leasehold land
and buildings held as investment property where the Group
is the registered owner of the property interest (see Note
2(k);

— investments in debt and equity securities (see Note 2(0)).

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell (see
Note 2(1)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9

(d)

Changes in accounting policies
(i) New and amended HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial statements
for the current accounting period:

. Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as current or
non-current (2020 amendments”) and amendments
to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements
— Non-current liabilities with covenants ("2022

amendments”)

o Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability

in a sale and leaseback

. Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —
Supplier finance arrangements

None of these developments have had a material effect
on how the Group’s results and financial position for the
current period have been prepared or presented. The
Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date on which control
commences until the date on which control ceases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income
and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction gains or
losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI"”) either at fair
value or at the NClI's proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
NCl in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between NCI and the equity shareholders of
the Company. Loans from holders of NCI and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with Note 2(r) depending on the nature of the
liability.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises
the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI
and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see Note
2(h)), unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal Group classified as held for sale).
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An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to
bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition
of associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates or joint ventures.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

()

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture,
the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of
the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence
or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets include an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.
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When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

(9)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active

markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end
of each reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment
properties and non-current assets/a disposal group classified as
held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years.
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DAIAN REZ ) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(i) Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

a. the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i)
(ii)

(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

b. the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group; and the sponsoring employers
of the post-employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or a jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and
is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further explained
in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and disposal
groups held for sale”. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as
follows:

Building 20-35 years

Machinery and equipment ~ 5-10 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms
and 5 years

Motor vehicles 2-5 years

Furniture and fixtures 3-10 years
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

)

(k)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress
is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Changes in the fair values of investment properties are included
in the statement of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year of the retirement or disposal.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

0)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing
use. For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must
be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such
assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All
assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group
are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values
less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 BREFHE(E)

(m) BEEE (BER)

BB ETLEEN TS ERE
BRAE REBEHFMBAE
WEEMRARKERRO L RE
BE-BREENTNERFHOIRE
REHRAEREFH - BBEERA
ERFHNELEERRRAIER
REFHNEE YRETFRET
BV EERNRHIRERETRE
- RAEARAERFHOER
BENBFEHLREHEDEZZINE
B U 2 A RIS ARAT ©

EREAERAFHNEVEE (A
THR 8FRENIZREELSE
R EAETRENR ZEEF
BEFNTHE BREENERFH
METZEENAERFRESFET
mE NEEREDAAUIFFE
HEAERFHNFHIA TR
7% 32 R HOE FOE S A 68 B A B e Y
EAABTEELRBERFHAR -

BRE T RARRARBOERNCRH
AN BIEEERLTHRAR
BERZEE BVEERKARME
R ERBEIIE HEEAERF
M EREEHE BVEENTIE

hEF A ERFEOT

B R 5Z204F
IEE R AT 5Z104F
EEEs 5Z204F
BEFEF 10E 204
Hh 5% 104

(m)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, such as certain
trademarks, are tested for impairment annually either individually
or at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite
life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the
useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on
a prospective basis.

Except for certain capitalised development costs not yet available
for use, intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over the following periods: Intangible assets are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The principal estimated
useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:

Patents and licences
Non-patent technology

5 1o 20 years
510 10 years

Trademarks 5 to 20 years
Customer relationships 10 to 20 years
Others 5to 10 years
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BAIAN REEZ ) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(m)

(n)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a
lease component, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each lease and non-lease component on the basis of
their stand-alone prices. A practical expedient is available to a
lessee, which the Group has adopted, not to separate non-lease
components and to account for the lease and the associated non-
lease components (e.g., property management services for leases
of properties) as a single lease component.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(n) Leases (continued)

(1)

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset
or the site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold land
Building
Other equipment

2 to 60 years
2 to 50 years
1to 10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

Leases (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group
and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings, machinery
and equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period
in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset is
capitalised at the present value of the lease payments and related
payments (including the initial direct costs), and presented as
a receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the
lease. The finance income on the net investment in the lease is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of return over the lease terms.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(o)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group's business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in
other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of profit
or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(o)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income when they meet
the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is
determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of
part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains
are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are
not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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(p)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit
or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms
of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial
asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to
be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

— therights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

—  the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p)

(a)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights
and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information. The Group considers that there has been a
significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flow.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except
for trade receivables (including trade receivables that contain
a significant financing component) which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 —

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 —

Stage 3 —  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(r)

(s)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings, payables as appropriate.

Al financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables
and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(t)

(u)

(v)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Financial instruments classified as equity
Financial instruments issued by the Group are classified as equity
instruments when all the following conditions have been met:

—  The financial instruments have no contractual obligation
to pay cash or other financial assets to others, nor to
exchange financial assets or liabilities with others under
potential unfavourable circumstances;

—  The financial instruments will or may be settled in the
Group's own equity instruments: if the financial instrument
is non-derivative, it should not have the contractual
obligation to be settled by the Group delivering a variable
number of its own equity instruments; if the financial
instrument is derivative, it should solely be settled by
the Group delivering a fixed number of its own equity
instruments in exchange for a fixed amount of cash or
other financial assets.

Financial instruments classified as equity instruments are
recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a weighted average method and,
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion
of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(w) Cash and cash equivalents

(x)

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is included
in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general policy for provisions above; and
(i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with the
policy for revenue recognition.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(y)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a
business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in
ocl.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable
on the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustments
to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The
amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate
of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Current tax also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria
are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for:

—  temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination
and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;

—  temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries,
associates and joint venture to the extent that the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in
the foreseeable future;

—  taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill; and

—  those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar
Two model rules published by the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(y)

Income tax (continued)

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-
use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused
tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are
determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is
insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future
taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary
differences, are considered, based on the business plans for
individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of
future taxable profits improves.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with Note 2(k), the amount of deferred tax recognised
is measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale of those
assets at their carrying value at the reporting date, unless the
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the property over time, rather than through sale.
In all other cases, the measurement of deferred tax reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria
are met.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(2)

(aa)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way
of a reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the
grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary assets
and released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method, as
further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial liabilities”
above. The benefit of the government loans granted with no or at
a below-market rate of interest, which is the difference between
the initial carrying value of the loans and the proceeds received, is
treated as a government grant and released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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(aa) Revenue recognition (continued)
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Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Sale of pharmaceutical products

Revenue from the sale of pharmaceutical products is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer.

Some contracts for the sale of pharmaceutical products provide
customers with rights of return and volume rebates, give rise to
variable consideration.

(i) Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates
of variable consideration are applied in order to determine
the amount of variable consideration that can be included
in the transaction price. For goods that are expected
to be returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability is
recognised. A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding
adjustment to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right
to recover products from a customer.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(aa) Revenue recognition (continued)

Sale of pharmaceutical products (continued)

(i) Volume rebates
Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased during
the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract.
Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the
customer. To estimate the variable consideration for the
expected future rebates, the most likely amount method is
used for contracts with a single-volume threshold and the
expected value method for contracts with more than one
volume threshold. The selected method that best predicts
the amount of variable consideration is primarily driven
by the number of volume thresholds contained in the
contract. The requirements on constraining estimates of
variable consideration are applied and a refund liability for
the expected future rebates is recognised.

Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period
in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Service fee revenue is recognised over the contract period based
on the performance progress, or recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of relevant services.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(bb)

(cq)

(dd)

(ee)

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due,
a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration
that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover
the goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is
measured at the former carrying amount of the goods to be
returned, less any expected costs to recover the goods, and any
potential decreases in the value of the returned goods.

The Group updates the measurement of the asset recorded for
any revisions to the expected level of returns, and any additional
decreases in the value of the returned goods.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund
some or all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a
customer and is measured at the amount the Group ultimately
expects it will have to return to the customer. The Group updates
its estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in
the transaction price) at the end of each reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(ff) Share-based payments

Certain subsidiaries of the Company operates restricted stock
incentive plans for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of
subsidiaries’ operations. Employees (including directors) of the
subsidiaries receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is determined based on the
market price.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

The equity amount is recognised in the capital reserve until
either the option is exercised (when it is included in the amount
recognised in share capital for the shares issued) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.
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2 BERETTHX(E) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f) URMDAEBRNNRE) (ff) Share-based payments (continued)
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For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of
the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.
The dilutive effect of outstanding restricted share is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(gg) Employee benefits

Pension scheme

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme or state-
managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Mainland China

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
specified contributions.

Hong Kong

The Group participates in a defined contribution scheme which is
registered under a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) established under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.
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(continued)
(hh) EEEER (hh) Other employee benefits
BEZ il &l Defined benefit plan
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The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan which
requires contributions to be made to a separately administered
fund. The benefits are unfunded. The cost of providing benefits
under the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected
unit credit actuarial valuation method.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit pension plans,
comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset
ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on the
net defined benefit liability) and the return on plan assets
(excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined
benefit liability), are recognised immediately in the consolidated
statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or
credit to retained profits through other comprehensive income
in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier of:

—  the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and

—  the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related
costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the
net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group recognises the
following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under
“cost of sales” and “administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss by function:

—  service costs comprising current service costs, past-service
costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine

settlements

—  netinterest expense or income
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(if)

)

(kk)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the year. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rate when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured based on historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date
of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised in profit or loss.
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2 BEREFHBEGE) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(kk) HhEsias (&) (kk) Translation of foreign currencies (continued)
SR - BME T AIIE B FTE £ HMNE However, foreign currency differences arising from the translation
EERNEMEEREPER of the following items are recognised in OCl:
— BEARRAAREAEFAHME —  aninvestment in equity securities designated as at FVOC;

HRENRAFEFERE

— EEAREHRENEBERE — a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net
FREMNESREE  HUEHERA investment in a foreign operation to the extent that the
R & hedge is; and
—  REPBEROBRT  H@/E —  qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedges
R EIIR @ RAETTEH o are effective.
BINEBNEE KB E (BERER The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill
EEMEERAAEBEAR) KRS and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated
HEMEXRBRERARE - BN into RMB at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income
BRWARFAZELZ 5 E A RE =X and expenses of foreign operations are translated into RMB at
BREBARE - the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
SNEZBREMEEEEPER Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCl and
W INEREE RET - Mo B = IEIE accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the extent that
% e 2 B BEE 6 ZE BRBR AP o the translation difference is allocated to NCI.
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(a)

(b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies
Control over Dong-E-E-Jiao, CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical and KPC

The directors of the Company concluded that the Group has
control over Dong-E-E-Jiao, CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical and KPC
although the Group holds less than 50% of the voting rights in
the investees. In arriving the conclusion, the Company has made
a holistic assessment of the relevant facts and circumstances
taking into account factors such as the size of the Group’s
holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of the
voting rights of the other shareholders, any history of any other
shareholders collaborating to exercise their votes collectively or
to out vote the Group, the Group's practical right to appoint the
majority members of the board of directors of the investees, and
the Group’s relationship with the key management personnel
of the investees. The Company would continue to re-evaluate
such conclusion on an ongoing basis as facts and circumstances
change.

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Notes 18 and 40 contain information about the assumptions and
their risk factors relating to valuation of goodwill impairment
and financial instruments. Other significant sources of estimation
uncertainty are as follows:

0] Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its intangible assets with finite
useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generated
unit to which the asset belongs.




(BRI =B&H

3 ERTHER AR (F)

(b) fHEFREERZNRR (&)

(i)

(ii)

ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ§FMM@ﬁﬂ
TE R KA B F AR
ﬁﬁ/ééﬂi l:l/)j”ﬁﬁi‘ KE@
BB RELEERSR
WIReEEBLMAIRE S
(AEREEXALBERL
EREAMERSER/E) o5
HEREBEEEKAEEMGEFR
CELBEMTERESNRKR
EREUANBEARIRE - DT
HRE - -WERAKRERE
BEREH  XEFBREREE
M THEAARRIRERE - A6
EEABERRBEER #—
RIEEE -

B S RN RE A E EE R
B
REBERREREGTES
FEM IR TA B E B B8 o B
BELRBEAFRUBEERN
(Bl is EmBEE - K P
BRENFR ARERERK
1t 7 A5 B AR B 69 AR 6 )
MR BB P o R E 5 YR
HEOREDINETE °

BRERENSIRAEBESLH
REMEHXREE - AEEH
Wﬁﬁ@%@%%%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ
EELEEBRER -N&
HHE FE%%UWL%T
7% T DA SE #3049 BT RE 1 FHE
BB LETT DT o

HESBRIMNEHNE - 88
Ak R T A= B 518 2 [
AR MR T —BE A
ﬁ TEHEEBEENEEYR
""""" AL Ko T8 R A IR I BURR -
$EIWEEE%%E%@&
SR AR S TEDRI IR AT B AR
BEERRNEREN - BHEX
SEZHEKGIENEREE
B 18 0 & B B S SR R T R
237 EE -

e M WARM

(EZFTNF+ A =1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

DAIAN REZ ) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(1)

(ii)

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets (continued)

When determining whether goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives are impaired, the Group
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating units to which goodwill and intangible
assets have been allocated, which is the higher of the
value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flows are
less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future cash flows, a
material impairment loss/further impairment loss may arise.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on the
ageing of trade receivables for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by geography, product type, customer type and rating,
and coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit
insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade receivables is disclosed in Note 23 to the financial
statements.
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4 WKk abmReE

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(@) Wz (a) Revenue
o gad:obaN: 3N Disaggregation of revenue is as follows:
2024 2023
ARSTT
RMB’000
REBH KRG ER Revenue from contracts with customers
FISHEBEAMN within the scope
EFENKRE of HKFRS 15
BEEMEE Sale of pharmaceutical products 257,538,411
R B HAth SRR = Revenue from other sources
RECEHEIREMERN Gross rental income from investment
A N property under operating leases 134,845
257,673,256

EPAHBER X —REEHER -
BhmSBELEI NEFLANK
AT AR B R 4(D) (i) R B EE -

REEEUWZEHI10% 38 10% A HHY
WAL IEREHE -—BFRHE -

AEBOEAEAVBRELELSE
159EE 121 BMERMET 2% -
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TREHE —FHARN - I EE
BRAANETHNRTEBOET-

2024 ERBEEEBRAF
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The revenue from contracts with customers is recognised at a
point in time. Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by geographic markets is disclosed in Note 4(b)(ii).

No revenue amounting to 10% or more of the Group’s total
revenue was derived from sales to one customer.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121(a) of HKFRS 15 and does not disclose the remaining
performance obligation under existing contracts as the
performance obligations under the Group’s existing contracts has
an original expected duration of one year or less.
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wRoWBRE (B 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)
DERE (b) Segment reporting

Management has determined the operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by the board of directors that are used to
make strategic decisions. The board of directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM"), considers
resource allocation and assesses segment performance from a

different business type perspective.

Specifically, the Group has four reportable segments as follows:

(@  Pharmaceutical manufacturing business (Manufacturing
segment) — research and development, manufacture and
sale of a broad range of pharmaceutical and healthcare

products

(b)  Pharmaceutical distribution business (Distribution segment)
— distribution, warehousing, logistics, and other value-
added pharmaceutical supply chain solutions and related
services to pharmaceutical/medical device manufacturers
and dispensers, such as hospitals, distributors and retail

pharmacies

(©)  Pharmaceutical retail business (Retail segment) — operation

of retailing of pharmacy stores

(d)  Other business operations (Others) — property holding and

others

No operating segments have been aggregated to derive the

reportable segments of the Group.

Inter-segment sales are conducted at prices and terms mutually
agreed amongst those operating segments, with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then

prevailing market prices.

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)

(b)

Segment reporting (continued)

(1)

Segment results, assets and liabilities
The board of directors assesses the performance of the
operating segments on the following bases:

Segment results represent the profit earned by each
segment without allocation of other income, other gains
and losses, administrative expenses, other expenses, share
of results of associates and joint ventures, finance income
and non-leased-related finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

° all assets (including investments in subsidiaries
and the amounts due from group entities within
the Group), other than deferred tax assets and tax
recoverable, are allocated to reportable segment
assets; and

° all liabilities (including the amounts due to group
entities within the Group), other than tax payable,
deferred tax liabilities, bank borrowings, bonds
payable and other non-current liabilities, are
allocated to reportable segment liabilities.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued)

DERE  BERAE (F)
HEPRITNAOBARIRH
TAKREIZRERRENAE
SERImE DA ER D B
mT - BERERTIARAEE
ﬁ&.:ﬂé%z%é_q_@i&_
—=Ft-A=1t—RLF

(1)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the information regarding the Group’s reportable
segments as provided to the Group’s CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 is set out below.

F B BRI o
BE-Z-_MOF+=-A=+— Year ended 31 December 2024
BLEE
HELH YAk -pak ZELY Eftr
Manufacturing  Distribution Retail
segment segment segment Others
ARBTE  ABMTRE  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
kg Segment revenue
shepsEE External sales 41,419,953 206,075,547 10,104,175 73,581 257,673,256
PHmEE Inter-segment sales 4,903,784 7,161,724 - - 12,065,508
46,323,737 213,231,211 10,104,175 73581 269,738,764
A4 Elimination:
EHHPREHE Elimination of inter-segment sales (12,065,508)
7 e Segment revenue 257,673,256
THERE Segment results 13,324,378 7,342,758 91,149 50,702 20,808,987
Rt A (Fi7E5) Other income (Note 5) 1,801,527
EtREREE (FE6)  Other gains and losses (Note 6) (1,642,579)
THRAX Administrative expenses (6,727,408)
EHRFR Other expenses, net (2,147,821)
BEELINUEY) Finance income (Note 7) 681,103
HENA Finance costs (other than interest
(TREREEEME)  onlease liabilties) (2,211,905)
AEBERER Share of profits of associates and joint
BELER ventures 368,014
BB A Profit before taxation 10,929,922
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4 WmkoEBwE (&) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)
(b) DEBHRE (&) (b) Segment reporting (continued)
() DEEE BEEREEE) () Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
HE-_ZT-_=F+=-A=+— Year ended 31 December 2023
BIEFE
SENT YAk paxi ZEHT =
Manufacturing Distribution Retail
segment segment segment Others
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
kg Segment revenue
ME#HE External sales 39190495 195,858,229 9,578,797 76363 244,703,884
PHEHE Inter-segment sales 4,274,503 6,295,222 - - 10,569,725
43,464,998 202,153,451 9,578,797 76,363 255,273,609
A4 Elimination:
EHHPREHE Elimination of inter-segment sales (10,569,725)
Ak Segment revenue 244,703 884
A Segment results 12,082,710 7,139,353 123,952 25,297 19,371,312
EflA (Brss) Other income (Note 5) 1,771,446
EtREREE (FE6)  Other gains and losses (Note 6) (1,564,959)
Gk Administrative expenses (6,328,166)
EHRFR Other expenses, net (2,044,162)
BEELINUEY) Finance income (Note 7) 587,686
RARKK Finance costs (other than interest
(TREREEEME)  onlease liabilties) (2,330,036)
AEBERER Share of profits of associates and
aetFEf joint ventures 417,106
B AER Profit before taxation 9,880,227
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Wz & o B & (A 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)
(b) DEBHRE (&) (b) Segment reporting (continued)
() DEEE BEEREEE) () Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
AT RBIZAI SRS RS ERN D § The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and
HASBEEHBENDT liabilities by reportable and operating segments:
—E-_NmME+=-HA=+—8 31 December 2024

HEAR  2E2E EEAW B

Manufacturing  Distribution Retail
segment segment segment Elimination

ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
HEHEE Segment assets 93316816 155429947 3,151,400 17,242,780  (13,571526) 255,569,417
EIEHIBEAE (H3530)  Deferred tax assets (Note 30) 1,968,756
MHETHE Tax recoverable 22,147
EEBH Total assets 257,760,320
AHEE Segment liabilities 20,245,697 66,949,954 2,602,157 6,636,014 (8,478,004) 87,955,818
APEEE Unallocated liabilities 71,717,224
RELE Total liabilities 159,673,042
—E-=F+=-RA=+—H 31 December 2023
BENT YAk pax ZEHE Efth i
Manufacturing ~ Distribution

segment segment segment Others Elimination
AEEFT AREFT AEETT AEEFT AEEFT AEEFTL
RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AHAE Segment assets 92447312 144,982,882 3177873 20527445  (16,257,578) 244,877,934
EHBLE (15£30)  Deferred tax assets (Note 30) 1,773,365
npERE Tax recoverable 118,997
BERE Total assets 246,770,296
AHEE Segment liabilities 19,630,649 67,015,101 3561693  12,024826  (12,883014) 89,349,255
FORER Unallocated liabilities 64,446,227
BlEgE Total liabllties 153,795,482
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
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(continued)
(b) DEBHRE (&) (b) Segment reporting (continued)
(i) HIEE R (i) Geographic information
TRIIREBEAREE KB IMND The following table sets out information about the
BRI RAEBNE - geographical location of the Group's revenue from external
WEREE FREEE & customers and the Group's property, plant and equipment,
EWE - BREE BEER right-of-use assets, investment property, intangible assets,
g RNEIREERERER goodwill, and interests in associates and joint ventures
([HEEIERBEE]) AIHIEAL ("specified non-current assets”). The geographical location
BZEH - BPHMIBAE X of customers is based on the locations of the customers.
B A - SR - ]| The geographical location of the specified non-current
ERFZEMES  EEERBE assets is based on the physical location of the asset, in
ERIENENEENERM the case of property, plant and equipment, the location
ERE MENEEREEM of the operation to which they are allocated, in the case
T OUHEMOEEBNMES of intangible assets and goodwill, and the location of
I HREBECEREEDLE operations, in the case of interests in associates and joint
BWE=ME  WHZEMTH ventures.
RE -
REIMPEF M EEERBEE
Revenues from external Specified
customers non-current assets
2024 2023 2024 2023
AR%T T AREF T AR%T R ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
B A Mainland China 256,136,275 243,113,566 63,728,853 61,916,628
HAh Others 1,536,981 1,590,318 288,003 326,435
257,673,256 244,703,884 64,016,856 62,243,063
H AU A 5 OTHER INCOME
2024 2023
AR%ST T AREFTT
RME’000 RMB'000
RSB YA Service fee income 793,869 792,996
BB Government grants 491,384 509,933
HESWA Compensation income 30,353 37,931
H A Others 485,921 430,586
1,801,527 1,771,446
2024F 3 ERHBEEEERAA
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6 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2024 2023

EE: ARMF 5 ARMF 5
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
MU BEREREBEER Impairment recognised on property,

RE plant and equipment 14 (40,447) (122,401)
A EERERY Impairment recognised on right-of-use

A assets 16 (4,387) (13,144)
MEPEERRRNRE Impairment recognised on intangible assets 17 (123,079) (450,930)
TR EERANRE Impairment recognised on goodwill 18 (92,228) (82,814)
B E R FERER Impairment recognised on interests in

RIE associates (800,299) (199,349)
HE 5 EYGRIBER Impairment recognised on trade

WIE - FRE receivables, net 41(a) (506,363) (243,405)
BEE f E WK IB TSR Impairment recognised on other

A - FEE receivables, net 41(a) (29,085) (23,885)
HEWB AR LEEL QTR Gain on disposal of subsidiaries and

Uz - JF5E associates, net 23,819 38,686
HEYE  HENMREERAN Gain/loss) on disposal of items of property,

Wz (E18) - F58 plant and equipment, net 51,641 (12,196)
HEFABEERNUE  JF5  Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets, net 8,444 26,548
HEREMFED (Loss)/gain on disposal of investment

(B8 W - F8 properties, net (13,783) 10,814
BIFERIZ AN EE Loss on derecognition of trade receivables

FPAEMEE WG 2 measured at fair value through other

B E B EWGRIER B 1R comprehensive income (263,797) (450,667)
RARBEFEEHE Fair value changes of financial assets

AR EREERN at fair value through profit or loss

N EEE 79,891 (21,337)
WEMELAREBEEES Fair value changes of investment properties 15 (10,960) (24,649)
ams Negative goodwill 73,273 -
Hfth Others 4,781 3,770

(1,642,579) (1,564,959)
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7
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BME KA FEE 7

FINANCE COSTS, NET

ARMF % ARBFI
RMB’000 RMB'000
B RS Finance costs:
RITIEFRF B Interest on bank borrowings 1,971,643 2,041,417
JEREH RS (L 29) Interest on bonds payable (Note 29) 215,322 184,344
KB —RPEERA A Interest on borrowings from an
B9 15 KR 2 intermediate holding company 6,972 85,565
HEHENE (KM3E16) Interest on lease liabilities (Note 16) 69,977 56,276
REXHBENE (HFE31) Interest on defined benefit obligations
(Note 31) 20,083 23,798
B E - BB RERED Less: Interest capitalised in property,
B F B plant and equipment (2,115) (5,088)
= N Total finance costs 2,281,882 2,386,312
AE WA — FE WA Finance income — Interest income (681,103) (587,686)
BB R AN R R Net finance costs 1,600,779 1,798,626

Mk : RFEEENMEFEA3.90% (ZTE =4
3.30% £4.60%) °

Note: The capitalisation rate is 3.90% for the year (2023: 3.30%-4.60%).

BRBE A& A 8 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
AN B BR AR AT s R T3 A0 B (BT ) BA The Group’s profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
TEIBEER
(@) BIMAK (a) Staff costs
2024 2023
=S AR%T R ARBTT
Note RMB"000 RMB'000
i Directors’ remuneration 10 8,744 8,088
EERMAX Employee benefit expense
(TBEEEHM) (excluding directors’ remuneration)
T& K HAth )28, Salaries and other allowances 9,628,669 9,181,351
VARE 25 45 & 2 BRIl 1% Equity-settled restricted stock
I =B AT B X incentive plan expense 78,315 141,891
BER W EIF X Defined benefit scheme expense 31 11,013 (19,662)
RKEFIET IR * Retirement benefit scheme contributions* 1,099,463 978,094
b Total 10,826,204 10,289,762
* REBE R E F I 8508 W K * There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group

A AERIEIRA HBUKFE -

2024 ERBEEEBRAF

as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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BRBLAE A ()

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financia

AN
I8

BTSRRI 5

Statements

(EZFTNF+ A =1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(BIEEHE - B AN REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

8 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

Hh==1g (b) Other items
2024 2023
G ARBF 5 ARBF
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
1% £ RN 7 B Auditors’ remuneration
— ZER — Audit services 20,610 17,600
— H AR — Other services 3,720 1,190
24,330 18,790
Y - BB MEEITE  Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 14 2,024,898 1,948,020
FHREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16 704,668 625,810
B EE#H Amortisation of intangible assets 17 627,144 590,535
B RREFERE Allowance for slow-moving and
obsolete inventories 201,047 210,282
R Cost of inventories* 214,767,011 204,661,244
iR Research and development expenditure
GtAEAMBR ) (included in other expenses) 2,009,857 2,072,354
T AHEBER=E Lease expenses not included in the
MEERX measurement of lease liabilities 16 160,921 138,610
P& i 58, Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net
(Mam) @ #5 33,178 (206,471)
B Donations 32,849 61,955
* HEETHARNEBBEBOHTEK * Cost of inventories relating to staff costs and depreciation are also

AT ALXEFEENEEAL

B
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RiFEBmRANAER

(a) #HRABEmERARIEARE

9

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

2024 2023

ARBF R ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BE — P EEMER Current-PRC Enterprise Income Tax
(THEEEmRBHD (“PRC EIT")
FREE Provision for the year 2,692,141 2,354,759
BIE — BB FEH Current-Hong Kong Profits Tax
FARE Provision for the year - 12
IEFE B8 (B EE30) Deferred tax (Note 30)
ERMEENEENERE Origination and reversal of
temporary differences (165,462) (249,547)
2,526,679 2,105,224

—E_NEEBNESREEFRNEENHE
HEEREENN165% (ZE =4
16.5%) RIF R ETIE ©

RBFEBEMAEHA ([REAEHIE]D
R BEEBUAEIRD] - & B E AR
B25% MB R BB - RIFHBEMEBBL
AEEETHBRARZHEZEMBHRR

AEBEZERLEERFARER %5
AAEERGERREFABRMHL - A
HITRAAMB MO RBRA - K
SEIERNGE - RAEAEH R
FE SNERRAME_EAT A4
SHRAMBERRENEATE -

2024 ERBEEEBRAF

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2024 is calculated at
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
year.

Under the Law of PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
PRC subsidiaries is 25%. In accordance with the relevant tax rules
in the PRC, certain subsidiaries of the Group enjoy various income
tax reductions.

The Group operates in multiple jurisdictions, which will enact
tax laws to implement the Pillar Two model rules published by
the OECD in forthcoming years. The Group is in the process of
making an assessment of what the impact of Pillar Two model is
expected to be on the income taxes. So far it has concluded that
the Pillar Two model is unlikely to have a significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.




9
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(b) ZEABRFENHIRMRES

&)

RiFEBmRANAER
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HEZZT-WF+-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(BIEEHE - B AN REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

9 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting

F1a F B $ BR profit at applicable tax rates
ARBF R AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
R %5 A1 42 ) Profit before taxation 10,929,922 9,880,227
225% (ZFZ=4 :25%)K)  Tax at the PRC EIT rate of 25% (2023: 25%)

B PTIS TR G E B BIR 2,732,481 2,470,057
SETE RS B R Statutory tax concession (792,415) (638,949)
TEAKEEEE ‘EL BEH Effect of different tax rates of

TR RN E Group entities operating in Hong Kong 5,038 (855)

DMEEERNTREECEER Tax effect of share of results of

MIIETE associates and joint ventures (92,004) (98,702)
NAMBRZ T B E Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 155,776 212,888

9,\;-%@%451)\?]%%15\% = Tax effect of non-taxable income (29,861) (24,038)
Tff 8% AR AN 45 I H0 R Special deduction of research and

development costs (429,708) (404,705)
BRI AR R BIIEEE Utilisation of tax losses previously not

recognised (53,355) (57,403)
A BT RERL Utilisation of deductible temporary

A HR R = R differences previously not recognised (41,686) (7,078)
RERREEBENTELE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 332,207 460,404
RER AT R ERER Tax effect of deductible temporary

MEZE differences not recognised 512,431 79,515
BAFEEE Provision in respect of prior years 117,236 23,109
R EFEMB Dividend withholding tax 126,472 69,665
HAh Others (15,933) 21,316
BEMIAR X Actual tax expense 2,526,679 2,105,224
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10 EERESTHBRAENEE 10 DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION
BR LA - B R EERIZE 383(1)a) Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
L) @QFEOERAR (FBEEEFNZER) pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
BROIE 25 MBEAFTFENEST RE&EST the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
BAEMB ST - (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:
4R BREF “EomE
H A2 TG @t
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees  allowances contributions Others
ARBTE  ARMTER  ARTR  ARMTE  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BITES Executive directors:
HERLAE Mr. Bai Xiaosong - 3,080 50 - 3,130
BRLE Mr. Tao Ran - 2,744 50 - 2,794
Waz L (fizta) Mdm. Deng Rong (note a) = 1,674 50 = 1,724
FHTES: Non-executive directors:
BRELE (HED) Mr. Han Yuewei (Note b) = = = = -
MEat (Wac) Mdm. Guo Wei (note ) = = = = -
Hokag s & (3d) Mr. Sun Yonggiang (note d) - = = = =
ERF LT Mdm. Jiao Ruifang - = = = =
FEEEE (Hite) Mr. Hou Bo (note e) = = = = =
A (B EES) Mr. Guo Chuan (note f) = = = = -
BUFHTES: Independent non-executive
directors:
REY e Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne 274 - - - 274
BRFHrE Mr. Kwok Kin Fun 274 - - - 274
BREEEE Mr. Fu Tingmei 274 - - - 274
RRELE Mr. Zhang Kejian 274 - - - 274
1,096 7,498 150 - 8,744
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10 EERESTHBRAENEE 10 DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

(& REMUNERATION (continued)
BRINEF
RN
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
allowances  contributions
AREFT ARET AR®EF T AREFT AR®ETFT
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BITES Executive directors:
HERLAE Mr. Bai Xiaosong - 3,551 50 - 3,601
mREE Mr. Tao Ran - 2,894 50 - 2,944
Waz L (fizta) Mdm. Deng Rong (note a) - 11 - - 11
S§EZu+ (M) Mdm. Weng Jingwen (note g) - 429 23 - 452
FHTES: Non-executive directors:
BRELE (HED) Mr. Han Yuewei (Note b) - - - - -
BB A& (HT5Eh) Mr. Lin Guolong (note h) - - - - -
MEat (Mac) Mdm. Guo Wei (note ) - - - - -
ok s & (M3d) Mr. Sun Yonggiang (note d) - - - - -
FEEEE (Hite) Mr. Hou Bo (note e) - - - - -
30y Mdm. Jiao Ruifang - - - - _
BUFHTES: Independent non-executive
directors:
REY e Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne 270 - - - 270
BeHLE Mr. Kwok Kin Fun 270 - - - 270
BREEEE Mr. Fu Tingmei 270 - - - 270
RRELE Mr. Zhang Kejian 270 - - - 270
1,080 6,885 123 - 8,088
LTHEZRERTHRAENHSEREAR The above directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration only included
REIEBUIFRAITES AITEE RIEH remuneration during the tenure of each independent non-executive
TEEREHZMNE - £/ BEENIE director, executive director and non-executive director of the Company.
BITESHS - There were no remuneration payable to the non-executive directors

during the year.
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10 EERBESTHRAENHE

I 204

(&

Miita: BELLTR -_T-_=F+-A-++
HEZTAHITES -

MieEb: BREAER_Z_WMFNAZTIL
BRBEEFERNTES -

Mitkc: FHmATtHR_TB-_=F_A+=H%
ZERBIENTES -

Mizkd: BRKBEER-_ZT-_=F+=A
T+t BEERTAEHNITESE -

Mitte: BREEER-_ZB-_WNEXA+HTE
BAIERNTES -

MisEf.  SPEER—_T-_WMENALHES
EAIFERITES -

Miztg SHEZLXLTR-_ZE-_=%,A+=H
FEETHRITES -

Mizth: MBEREEENR-_ZT-_=F+=-A
ZHEHETBEEENTES -

2024 R ERHBREEEEGRAA

10 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION (continued)

Note a:

Note b:

Note c:

Note d:

Note e:

Note f:

Note g:

Note h:

Mdm. Deng Rong was appointed as an executive director on 27
December 2023.

Mr. Han Yuewei ceased to be a non-executive director on 29 August
2024.

Mdm. Guo Wei was appointed as a non-executive director on 13
February 2023.

Mr. Sun Yonggiang was appointed as a non-executive director on 27
December 2023.

Mr. Hou Bo ceased to be a non-executive director on 7 June 2024.
Mr. Guo Chuan was appointed as a non-executive director on 7 June
2024.

Mdm. Weng Jingwen ceased to be an executive director on 13 June
2023.

Mr. Lin Guolong ceased to be a non-executive director on 27
December 2023.
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BEagmATHME 11 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
hEEaTMALY ME(ZTZ=4F: Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2023: Nil) are
BIESE e RBERM 10 HMAE directors whose emoluments are disclosed in Note 10. The aggregate
(ZZ=Z=F 1 1%) ATHNe@zE0T of the emoluments in respect of the five (2023: five) individuals are as

follows:

AR®TT AREF T

RMB'000 RMB'000

e REHMER Salaries and other allowances 15,633 21,683

RURAE TR B3 Retirement benefit scheme contributions 221 195

15,854 21,878
hEmERTHATHMSER A TEE - The emoluments of the five individuals with the highest emoluments

are within the following bands:

2024 2023

A A

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

Y& 3,000,001 7T 2 /& 5 3,500,000 7T HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 4 -
Y& 3,500,001 7T 2 /& 15 4,000,000 7T HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 1 -
V& 4,000,001 7T 2 7 15 4,500,000 7T HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 - 1
Y& 4,500,001 7T 2 /& 15 5,000,000 7T HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 - 2
Y& 5,000,001 7T 2 /& 5 5,500,000 7T HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 - 2
5 5
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12 BRE 12 DIVIDENDS

2024 2023

ARBF 5
RMB’000
FRERBDIREARTF Dividend for ordinary shareholders of the
LTRRREMERE Company recognised as distribution

during the year:
— T FERE — AR 0.0837T Interim 2024 — RMB0.083 521,448
TR — FREMAE Final 2023 — RMBO0.154 per ordinary share
ARBE0NS4T(ZE-= (2023: Final 2022 — HK$0.16 per
T CFRE— ordinary share)
TR mREE0.167T) 967,507

RIEHHEERE  ARREZERREE
TE-NFE+ A=+ —BIEFEIRSE
R BEERE MR ARE0.0527T (=
T-=F: AR¥0.15470) BEARE
NIABEBL(ZZT-_=F: AR¥SES
gL HEAGFREREERREAE L&
& FREE -

I 206 202444 EHBEEEARAF

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 of RMB0.052 (2023:
RMBO.154) per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount of RMB327
million (2023: RMB968 million), has been proposed by the directors
of the Company and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the
forthcoming general meeting.
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(EZFTNF+ A =1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(BIEEHE - B AN REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

13 BRER 13 EARNINGS PER SHARE
BRERBIOGFEERAR R @A The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit
@A A SR F A K% 3,331,270,000 attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of
TT(ZE==%F : AR 3,854, 247 ,0007T) RMB3,331,270,000 (2023: RMB3,854,247,000) and the weighted
fﬂilﬁ?’*ﬁﬁ’]6,282,510,461 fEEmE (= average of 6,282,510,461 ordinary shares (2023: 6,282,510,461
T =1 :6,282,510,461 & L iBAX) &9 0 ordinary shares) in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

BEFHE GEOT

2024 2023

AR¥T T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
27 Earnings
AN A 5 A% B FE A A Profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company 3,350,857 3,854,247
W FAMBARIRZERHIA?  Less: Forfeitable dividends declared
BB AT IR DE RS to owners of the restricted shares
of subsidiaries during the year (19,587) -
FARTESREARBFEARAT  Profit attributable to ordinary equity
L 378 8 2 % SR FE A i A shareholders of the Company used in
the basic earnings per share calculation 3,331,270 3,854,247
RGBEE Number of shares
BRETEERERATE Weighted average number of ordinary
FARBITEBERME T shares in issue during the year used
in the basic earnings per share calculation 6,282,510,461 6,282,510,461

TR BEE - = N REHERNRGIMT The restricted stock incentive plans of Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical, CR
REMEEEEREET  WERER Sanjiu and CR Double-Crane are anti-dilutive, the basic and diluted EPS
BEEE R — 5 o are the same.
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14 Y% - BER&RE 14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
BT  BARERE HENREE j BARKE HRIR
Machinery Furniture
and Leasehold Motor and  Construction
Buildings ~ equipment  improvements vehicles fixtures  in progress
ABBFR  ARBTR  AREER  ARBFR  ARETR ARMTR ARMER
RME000 RME000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RME000
bﬂi ' Cost:

AF-mE-A-H At 1 January 2024 16,347,933 9,434,117 962,154 319,606 2,801,163 1,389,127 31,254,100
WE Additions 20,573 349,797 87,354 34,081 254,074 1,755,589 2,501,468
k= Disposals (114,141) (199,206) (53,200) (51,866) (120,908) (31,806) (571,127)
LEEN Acquisition of subsidiaries 225,324 105,472 - 3719 9,201 196,192 539,908
ERERENE Transfer to investment properties (8.851) - - - - - (8.851)
ERARENE W15 Transfer from investment properties

(Note 15) 23,668 - - - - - 23,668
1] Transfers 1,010,796 477,670 64,401 1,286 199,223 (1,753,376) -
lE bR Exchange adjusments (532) 184 303 ®) 329 - 276

AZZZE+Z A=+—H At 31 December 2024 17,504,770 10,168,034 1,061,012 306,818 3,143,082 1,555,726 33,739,442
% ‘HﬁE : Accumulated depreciation;

AE-mE-A-H At 1 January 2024 3,121871 4,388,335 432,44 150,274 2,123,799 - 10,816,699
Erxit Charge for the year 604,749 826,320 131,525 38,006 424,298 - 2,024,898
e Disposals (54,876) (180,101) (52,497) (48,401) (107,494) - (443,369)
ERERENE Transfer to investment properties @113) - - - - - (@2113)
EHRE Exchange adjustments - 193 yL)) 40 315 - 830

AZRZREFZ A=+ At 31 December 2024 4,269,037 5,034,747 511,724 139,919 2,440,918 - 12,396,345
AE: Impairment;

RZE-NE-A-H At 1 January 2024 223,724 40,138 1,847 118 3,568 50,391 319,786
EEDEFEESE (H36)  Impairment loss recognised (Note 6) 18,172 1728 48 2 250 217 40,447
HE Disposals (1,536) (4013) (19 {) (439) - (6,008)
RZFZMEFZ =18 At31 December 2024 240,360 57,853 1,876 19 3319 50,638 354,225
Emﬁﬁ : Net carrying amount:

AZZ &+ A=+—H At 31 December 2024 12,995,373 5,075,434 547,412 166,780 698,785 1,505,088 20,988,872
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14 Y% - BER®&E (&) 14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
Machinery Furniture

and Leasehold Motor and  Construction

Buildings equipment  improvements vehicles fixtures in progress
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARBTT AEBTT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000

EHS' Cost:

RZBZZF-f-A At 1 January 2023 13,660,830 7,838,769 743,861 302,251 2,433,667 1,977,005 26,956,433
AE Additions 48,984 427,408 101,779 38,165 428 394 1473312 2,518,102
HE Disposals (121,257) (213.394) (78,919) (52,871) (166,457) ) (635,169)
ENE AT Acquisition of subsidiaries 1523210 593,528 128,002 3,067 105,214 119,488 2,501,509
BETRENE Transfer to investment properties (97428 - - - - - (97.428)
ERALENE (ME15)  Transfer from investment properties

(Note 15) 50,559 - - - - - 50,559
BEEDEEEEEENBE Transfer to assets classified as

held for sale - - - - - (38,564) (38,564)
g5 Transfers 1,285,091 781,756 67,056 - - (2,139.903) -
ERAE Exchange adjustments (2,106) 50 375 9] 345 - (1342)

AZFZZF+Z A= +—H At31 December 2023 16,347,933 9,434,117 962,154 319,606 2,801,163 1,389,127 31,254,100
i"Hﬁﬁ : Accumulated depreciation;

RZBZZ%F-f-A At 1 January 2023 3,248,451 3,711,010 401,714 144,356 1,868,025 - 9,373,556
ERxit Charge for the year 568,988 833,093 105,195 53,198 387,546 - 1,948,020
e Disposals (76,752) (155,849) (74.860) (47297) (132,085) - (486,843)
BETRENE Transfer to investment properties (18810) - - - - - (18810)
Bz Exchange adjustments - 81 365 17 313 - 776
RZFZZF+ZF=1—H At 31 December 2023 3,721,877 4,388,335 3414 150,274 212379 - 10,816,699
HE: Impairment;

R-E-=F-f-H At 1 January 2023 153,560 12,819 2,090 89 5418 46,823 220,799

BRAOHESEHE6)  Impaiment loss recognised (Note 6) 80,744 36,147 8 53 1,881 3568 122401

e Disposals (10,580) (8,828) (251) (24) (3.731) - (23,.414)
RZEZ=F+ZF=1—H At31 December 2023 23,724 40,138 1,847 118 3,568 50,391 319,786

RERE: Net carrying amount;

AZZZZF+Z A=+ At31 December 2023 12,402,332 5,005,644 527,893 169,214 673,79 1,338,736 20,117,615
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(BrIESHaHH -

14 Y% - BEKRE (E)

I 210

HEZZ-MF+-_A=+—80 £5H
B ARESIREEEAARE1,274,055,000
T(ZEZ=F+=-A=+—H: AR¥
1,544,929,0007T) M EEY K F E B #
#F o BAREEDER PRBEREFENRIER -
REBEBEEZFYE - BHEBHME
bR - ARFESRAE  HEBM
P MZEMENRBIBEERIE -

HRAAREBETYE  BERLBENERA
MBI REITRE  ZEWE  BE KR
HEHEmMEYEREBRE" IﬁAimE
T ROR (8 5 18 A R %5 40,447,000 7T (=

—=%: AR#¥122,401,00070) ° Wé%éf
ENAIKESBNREALEBERHEEX
AR FEREEAERNESEET -

RERN AEEHBREEETEAMES
HEWE (MHE15) - WEREEB AN
/Aﬁf?‘ifﬁi@?%}\ﬁ‘fﬁMM%OOOﬁ(:;
T =4 ARM240,952,0007T) © A E
BEeREEEMNEZTE AR 20,394,000 7T
ZEZ=F: AR®162,334,0007T) (3
BREIE) fE[Hb 2 E e Rtk AE R
Uz -

2024 ERBEEEBRAF

BAIAN REEZ ) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The Group had not yet obtained the building ownership certificates
of certain buildings with a carrying value of RMB1,274,055,000 (31
December 2023: RMB1,544,929,000) as at 31 December 2024 and
the Group is still in the process of application of title certificates. The
Group continues to possess these properties without objection from the
relevant authorities. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
risk of the relevant government authorities confiscating these properties
is relatively low.

Due to physical damage and technical obsolescence in respect of
the Group’s certain property, plant and equipment, these items
were impaired and impairment losses of RMB40,447,000 (2023:
RMB122,401,000) have been recognised for the year. The recoverable
amounts of the relevant assets have been determined based on
the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use
calculations.

During the year, the Group transferred owner-occupied properties to
investment properties (Note 15). The fair value of the properties was
approximately RMB30,756,000 (2023: RMB240,952,000) on the date
of transfer. The excess of the fair value over the carrying amount, net
of tax, of RMB20,394,000 (2023: RMB162,334,000) was recorded as a
revaluation gain in “other comprehensive income”.
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15 REW=

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2024 2023

ARMF % ARBFI
RMB’000 RMB'000
R—A—HB/ERE Carrying amount at 1 January 1,692,206 1,492,168
W BB B B A R Acquisition of subsidiaries = 35,704
RERFRANAAEE Net change of fair value recognised
a5 (Miske) in profit or loss (Note 6) (10,960) (24,649)
EREYE  BERERE Transfer from property, plant and equipment 30,756 240,952
EREYE  BERRE Transfer to property, plant and
(M5E14) equipment (Note 14) (23,668) (50,559)
HEREME Disposal of Investment properties (14,644) (1,410)
FREEE Carrying amount at the end of the year 1,673,690 1,692,206

AEBEREVER_ZB_MNF+A
=St HOAABEDNENBIAERE
FHEMARR LR BREETMHES
RABETHEEMES - R T _MF
TZA=1t—8 AAEBENREAEE
o HZENENRANLEEEMNTIS
MeFERREE - THEES2EWETH
MEMWESIARITRUDENE D
ISR - BRIR KT 2 Z h AR
RMEHEX ZAFREDNEE LD
HEUGEMEREENTISRBIARBR
AEEREVEFENER - RERMEK
ROEETELEELERE - RNEEDE
MARBER DENREAEAEES
K& ERE -

AEEREVENAABEFEBRRE
EAEERNE=R -RFAREE R
HE_RRANEBREEEARBELE=

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December
2024 has been arrived at based on valuations carried out by Vocation
(Beijing) International Assets Appraisal Co., Ltd., an independent
qualified professional valuer. As at 31 December 2024, the fair value
was determined based on the income approach, where the market
rentals of all lettable units of the properties are assessed and discounted
for this type of properties. The market rentals are assessed by reference
to the rentals achieved in the lettable units of the properties as well as
other lettings of similar properties in the neighbourhood. The discount
rate is determined by reference to the yields derived from analysis
of sales transactions of similar commercial properties in the PRC and
adjusted to take into account the market expectation from property
investors to reflect factors specific to the Group’s investment properties.
There has been no change in the valuation method used during the
year. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best
use of the properties is their current use.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s investment properties falls

into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. There were no transfers between
Level 1 and Level 2 and into or out of Level 3 during the year.
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15

REW= (B
THRARENEEERBEERITRES
HWABISHE :

15

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key inputs
to the valuation of investment properties:

e EB EXTUERH ABE BENMEFIH
Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs Range or weighted average
2024 2023
IES WA () BERXE
Property Income approach (i) Discount rate 6.5% 6.5%
(i) FHEAER(BEHK) BYHK BYHK
AR¥1.42-216 T AR¥0.01-1757T
(i) Average monthly rental RMB1.42-216 RMB0.01-175
(per square meter) per square meter per square meter
16 HE 16 LEASES
AEBERABEA The Group as a lessee

I 212

AEEREGEHEES M EFREMR
BERERBIEHEESLD - RATN —
RN FARER AREEE 10 - A
R30E60F REZF LHEEGRKH
TEEEFENR HELHREFTOMRE
H—RAB/1E30F - MEMKRENEE—
BRAR1Z210F - EHEEEMNHE — K
A1218 A AT RS AE B F R EE
B —RMs ZLEAKEBHERHEE
EEETE= ETHEARNESEY
R LB IHE -

2024 ERBEEEBRAF

The Group has lease contracts for various items of leasehold land,
building and other equipment used in its operations. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leasehold land from the
owners with lease periods of 30 to 60 years, and no ongoing payments
will be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of land and
building generally have lease terms between 1 and 30 years, while
other equipment generally have lease terms between 1 and 10 years.
Other leased assets generally has lease terms of 12 months or less and/
or is individually of low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets to third parties. There are
several lease contracts that include extension and termination options.




16 HE ()
REEERERA (H)
@ #EHEAE

AEEEREEENREERFA
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16 LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(@) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the

gEhm movements during the year are as follows:
HEtH 4]
Leasehold
land Building  Equipment
ARSF 7 AREF 7 ARSF 7 AREF 7
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RZE-_WF—F—H As at 1 January 2024 3,635,348 1,256,747 33,064 4,925,159
NE Additions 114,464 560,103 101,757 776,324
WEEHE AR Acquisition of subsidiaries 37,482 26,861 = 64,343
TERX Depreciation charge (126,434) (540,664) (37,570) (704,668)
RARIEREIEESRL  Early termination and
modification of lease contracts (8,049) (121,304) (9,215) (138,568)
A (MisEe) Impairment (Note 6) - (4,387) - (4,387)
b 5 8 E Exchange adjustments (1,355) 1,610 - 255
R-ZT-F As at 31 December 2024
+ZA=+—H 3,651,456 1,178,966 88,036 4,918,458
HE L BF
Leasehold
land Building Equipment
AREFT ARBFT AREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R-E-=%—F—H As at 1 January 2023 3,129,224 1,172,351 33,860 4,335,435
NE Additions 130,530 645,642 19,111 795,283
U EEH B 7 Acquisition of subsidiaries 526,627 74,115 - 600,742
HERX Depreciation charge (112,423) (495,393) (17,994) (625,810)
AR IERIETEEARY  Farly termination and
modification of lease contracts (25,466) (140,505) (1,913) (167,884)
W fE (FisEe) Impairment (Note 6) (13,144) - - (13,144)
bE 5 5B Exchange adjustments - 537 - 537
RZZEZ=F As at 31 December 2023
+=-A=+—H 3,635,348 1,256,747 33,064 4,925,159
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16 #HE (&) 16 LEASES (continued)
REBIERAEAN () The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) MHEEBEE (b)  Lease liabilities
HEAGBNEREELRFANZENT The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during

the year are as follows:

2024 2023

AR¥®T R ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
R—A—BZEREE Carrying amount at 1 January 1,308,423 1,266,217
e New leases 648,579 662,884
1) =N Acquisition of subsidiaries 23,625 83,339
FEREROFSIL I (FFE7)  Accretion of interest recognised during
the year (Note 7) 69,977 56,276
BES Payments (596,847) (627,943)
RAKIEREFTHESRN Early termination and modification of lease
contracts (166,051) (133,024)
AR Exchange adjustments 700 674
R+-—A=+—HZE@EE Carrying amount at 31 December 1,288,406 1,308,423
DA Analysed into:
BIEAER Current portion 520,268 463,529
FERNEAER &> Non-current portion 768,138 844,894
(0 HHEEREZEROSTLOT () The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are
as follows:
2024 2023
ARBF R ARBFT
RMB"000 RMB'000
HEBEFRE Interest on lease liabilities 69,977 56,276
FTREEENERS Depreciation charge for right-of-use assets 704,668 625,810
IRAMRIERIEFTHES L Early termination and modification
of lease contracts (27,483) 34,860
HE Impairment 4,387 13,144
HGHHERENE Expense relating to short-term leases 160,921 138,610
B ERER ?@%% Total amount recognised in profit or loss 912,470 868,700
HEZ @R mEBERHB#RE The total cash outflow for leases are disclosed in Note 25(c) to
B 5E 25(c) ° the financial statements.

I214 2024 4FER EBMREEEARAF
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16 HE (& 16

AEBESHBEA
REERBECEMEZHFRHEREYE
(H3E15) - FHEMKR —REXHEPL X
MRBEEMBIEEFTREARAEEL
R AEBANFANERNESWABA
R#134,845,000L (ZZEZ=F : AR®
134,196,000 7T)

RIE-_NFER-_E-_=F+-_A=1+—
B AEERBETIRELCLEHEN KK
EAfIA E R P A ARBE R EN AT

LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (Note 15) under operating
lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require
the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was RMB134,845,000
(2023: RMB134,196,000).

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

2024 2023

AR¥T T ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

—FR" Within one year 52,399 77,803
FEENF(REEEMFE) In the second to fifth year inclusive 159,231 153,165
AFEN L Over five years 16,777 35,828
228,407 266,796
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17 BREEE 17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Exf
BRRER  FENRE 2 HERX  ZFRE Lt

Capitalised
Patents  Non-patent development  Customer
and licences  technology  Trademarks costs  relationships Others

ARETR ARETR ARET R ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
RMB000 RMB000 RME'000 RMB000 RMB000 RME'000 RMB000
BUF : Cost:

“Z-ME-A-H At 1 January 2024 2,092,860 1,596,853 2,625,930 1,534,441 3,156,808 175,743 11,182,635
X‘\E Additions 1,296 2,545 1,728 424,357 4,790 187 434,903
WEHBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries 199,730 131,143 91,050 25,657 363,303 45 810,928
e Disposals (458) 9) 9) (58,839) (4,245) (300) (63,860)
Ei}}ﬁ Transfers 28,107 281,136 - (310,031) - 788 -
A\ZEZME+ZA=1—H At 31 December 2024 2,321,535 2,011,668 2,718,699 1,615,585 3,520,656 176,463 12,364,606
? "riﬁﬁ‘é : Accumulated amortisation:

“Z-ME-A-H At 1 January 2024 581,037 586,449 49,598 - 1,372,688 94,485 2,684,257
i R Charge for the year 190,420 218,202 1375 - 215,342 1,805 627,144
e Disposals (74) () @) - (624) (13) (124)
WZEZME+ZF=1—H  At31December 2024 771,383 804,642 50,969 - 1,587,406 96,277 3,310,677
HE: Impairment;

W-E-NE-A-H At 1 January 2024 164,702 145,013 5,001 53,756 113,141 9 481,622
ER I (Hrske) Charge for the year (Note 6) - 37,521 - 60,207 25,351 - 123,079
LE Disposals - = = (58,726) = = (58,726)
WZZEZME+-F=1—H  At31 December 2024 164,702 182,534 5,001 55,237 138,492 9 545,975
BEFE: Net carrying amount:

WZZEZME+ZR=1—H  At31 December 2024 1,385,450 1,024,492 2,662,729 1,560,348 1,794,758 80,177 8,507,954
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7 BEEE (&) 17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

R B BMRE  BFME Hb

Capitalised
Patents  Non-patent development Customer
and licences  technology ~ Trademarks costs  relationships Others

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMBI000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBI000 RMB'000 RMB'000
A Cost:
W-E-=%-F-H At 1 January 2023 1,884,965 1,286,220 2,182,842 1,206,301 3,014,925 175,625 9,750,878
HE Additions 6,254 41,676 20 484,744 - 44 533,135
WEHEAF Acquisition of subsidiaries 195,939 - 444,449 175,986 144,966 461 91,801
fE Disposals - @8m) (1,381) - (3,083) (784) (10,059)
ap Transfers 5,702 273,768 - (279,470) - - -
M%ﬁ Write-off - - - (53,120) - - (53,120)
AZE-ZFE+-A=F-H  At31 December 2023 2,092,860 1,596,853 2,625,930 1,534.441 3,156,808 175,743 11,182,635
?‘fﬁ?ﬁ : Accumulated amortisation:

“E-CZE-A-H At 1 January 2023 363,016 417,681 43,804 - 1,178,951 92,195 2,100,647
i?ﬁ i Charge for the year 218,021 171,923 1,980 - 196,088 2,523 590,535
ﬁ% Disposals - (3,155) (1,186) - (2,351) (233) (6,925)
A\ZEZZE+-A=1+—H  At31December 2023 581,037 586,449 49,598 - 1,372,688 94,485 2,684,257
ﬁfﬁ : Impairment;

“2-=f-8-H At 1 January 2023 2,896 16,426 5,000 - 60,030 560 84,912
ﬁmi it (F3ke) Charge for the year (Note 6) 161,806 129,136 1 106,876 53111 - 450,930
& Disposals - (549) - - - (551) (1,100)
s Write-off - - - (53,120) - - (53,120)

“E-=F+-R=T-H  At31December 2023 164,702 145,013 5,001 53,756 113,141 9 481,622
BEFE: Net carrying amount:

RZE-=E+-A=F—H  At31December 2023 1,347,121 865,391 2,571,331 1,480,685 1,670,979 81,249 8,016,756
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PAYS ﬂ/ \é F (/ME

LEES T Fr iR
AEEHEREECDHETZEAR  BEER
EmBEEBRE M5 mERIREBD
EmBtRESS  WSHREIE -’
AIEEMERAAEEERMBSRFEM
T BRI EAIER MR A A
EEREERRESHAERNEAES R
ARZEEEEH—E2a R RAF
HomiEiTeRm#y EEmTEA
FREFHABRHAAL -HR HEEE
FREEDRBTREAERERETRE
A - BERERNFEAFBERIE 18 1KEE -

RIEKAEBEERE -

BAIAAREX )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The trademarks with indefinite useful lives are renewable every ten
years at minimal costs. Various studies including product life cycle
studies, market, competitive and environmental trends, and brand
extension opportunities have been performed by the management of
the Group, which support that the trademarks have no foreseeable limit
to the period over which the trademarked products are expected to
generate net cash flows for the Group. As a result, the trademarks are
considered by the management of the Group as having an indefinite
useful life because they are expected to contribute to net cash inflows
indefinitely. The trademarks are not amortised until the useful life is
determined to be finite. Instead, they are tested for impairment annually
and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired. The

]

]

details for the impairment test are disclosed in Note 18.

18 GOODWILL

2024 2023

AR¥T T ARBTT
RMB"000 RMB'000

A Cost
REH) At the beginning of the year 23,017,104 21,889,188
U BB R B A R Acquisition of subsidiaries 1,006,759 1,129,077
HEKRB AR Disposal of subsidiaries = (1,161)
RER At the end of the year 24,023,863 23,017,104
ZitRE Accumulated Impairment
REH] At the beginning of the year 1,562,824 1,480,010
BRERRRERE (H:t6) Impairment loss recognised (Note 6) 92,228 82,814
RER At the end of the year 1,655,052 1,562,824
REEE Net carrying value
RER At the end of the year 22,368,811 21,454,280
2024 FF R EHRBREREBERAR
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18 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill
The carrying amounts of goodwill (net of accumulated impairment
losses) and trademarks with indefinite useful lives are allocated CGUs in

WIS EEFEL - the following segments:
S Goodwill 2024 2023
ARSTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
baRi=palsi Distribution segment 9,841,086 9,903,904
BUEDEB Manufacturing segment 12,437,858 11,460,509
TEHE Retail segment 89,867 89,867
22,368,811 21,454,280
B Trademarks 2024 2023
AR¥ T AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
BI85 & Manufacturing segment 2,511,250 2,501,532
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18 BE (&)

AERERNH (&)

AETHRENR  BmERAAERRAER
FHNEREOEEMEMREELEMT -
RETHBARME  ZFREELFEM
BRI E 2 T ER AR B ERE ERA
REEE(RAREBEREERA]) - gtH
WREELBELMS  JREEE/AR
BEROEXNAKEREBTHNRRE
BoREEEEMNAIRE S AENEL
EEREXEMAEMNAEAR - £AEE
KAEREEBHENDFHMBERR
RenERAE - HHEREENRR
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18 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful lives have been allocated to individual CGUs. For
listed subsidiaries, the recoverable amounts of these CGUs have been
determined based on the fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCOD").
For other CGUs, the recoverable amounts are the higher of the FVLCOD
or the value in use. The recoverable amounts of some CGUs were based
on the independent qualified professional valuers valuation results. The
value in use calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a 5-year period. The key
assumptions of the estimation of value in use are as follows:

2024 2023

DD E: Distribution segment:
— YEr g R = — Revenue growth rate 1%-30% 3%-33%
¢]
— EF=E — Gross margin 5%-12% 5%—14%
— BRERIATIR = — Pre-tax discount rate 11%-12% 11%-12%
— IBEERRE — Steady growth rate 2% 3%
ShEDEL Manufacturing segment:
— YEr g R = — Revenue growth rate -1.3%-23% 2%-23%
— ERE — Gross margin 15%-82% 13%-70%
— BRERIATIR = — Pre-tax discount rate 9%-12% 8%—13%
— IBEERRE — Steady growth rate 0%-2% 0%-3%

BEXDERABITEERER - Kamig
EXRENENEHHENBEEL LT
BAREREY - EEERR  ZEBR
MEFGEATRESH I SEERRS
ELBEUNEEEERREELEUNE
BAREEE EFRL RESHRE
EREENERBINREERE -

Izzo 2024 FFH  EHBHEEEERAA

The growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts.
Changes in revenue growth rates and gross margins are based on
past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.
Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of individual
CGUs to exceed respective recoverable amounts of CGUs. In the
opinion of the directors, no material additional impairment loss of
goodwill was identified at the end of the reporting period.
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18 BWE (&) 18 GOODWILL (continued)
EERERH () Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
EEISEAMNERERSEEBMARE The impairment loss and recoverable amounts for the impaired CGUs
EERAINESEMT allocated to the categories are as followed:
2024 2023
ARMF % ARBFI
RMB’000 RMB'000
DEHDED Distribution segment:
— RERR — Impairment loss 62,818 23,934
— BRERSEESN — Recoverable amounts for the
Qe impaired CGUs 452,337 8,301
SLEDEL Manufacturing segment:
— RERR — Impairment loss 29,410 58,880
— BRERSEESN — Recoverable amounts for the
EEEE impaired CGUs 757,806 932,892
HRERMSHEFHZ  ETREELS Due to the intense competition in the market of pharmaceutical
VHERHESENREE  BHZSRES products, the actual sales of certain CGUs were lower than the budget
EABUNHARKRRESREINEERD and a corresponding decrease in the expected future cash flows
It AEBEBRRRBERESE SFETRES of those CGUs accordingly. As a result, the Group recognised the
BERAMBROEEFEAIFEE B impairment loss. Any adverse change in the assumptions used in the
BEYE— SRR MEEE - calculation of recoverable amount would result in further impairment
losses.

X

H

19 AEE=

A F

19 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

}\

AR¥T AREEF T

RMB'000 RMB'000

REEE QAR R Interests in associates 5,536,147 6,005,836
REBERBEATINE S REthEKFIE The Group's trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, and
URESREMENRBEESRRTERE balances with the associates are disclosed in Note 38 to the financial

MIEE384H 5 - statements.
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AEER-E-MET AT —AME
BHEAF
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AIFHIEIS

BEARER

Name of associates

ARREENHEERARAF

Hefei Tianmai Biotechnology Development

Co., Ltd.

ARBXERERAF

Beijing Hanmei Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

EHREREBRAT

China Resources Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.

MIRREERNERLA
Zhejiang Int'l Group Co. Ltd.*

HIERENBR AT
Zhejiang Peptites Biotech Co., Ltd.

KEENRERRAF

Immunotech Biopharm Ltd. *

BRME (L8 ERAHF
Yibao Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.*

ZZENF+ZAB=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
BAIAAREX )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

19 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

are as follows:

EAUIE b

Place of registration
and operation

HE/ R R
PRC/Mainland China

/R E R
PRC/Mainland China

E/PERL

PRC/Mainland China

/R E R
PRC/Mainland China

HE/ SRR R
PRC/Mainland China

HEHS,/H
Cayman Islands/PRC

Res,/H
Cayman Islands/PRC

TREX PR EERDL
Percentage of

Registered capital voting power

AR 800,004,600 7 23.75%
RMB800,004,600 23.75%
4,200,000 7T 26.32%
USD4,200,000 26.32%
AE3,084,334,171 7T 36.50%
RMB3,084,334,171 36.50%
AE505,459,720 71 11.44%
RMB505,459,720 11.44%
AR 41,709,196 7 25.29%
RMB41,709,196 25.29%
5,000,000 7T 10.00%
USD5,000,000 10.00%
AR16,944170 T 10.05%
RMB16,944,170 10.05%

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31 December 2024

TEEH

Principal activities
Emifn R EERHE
Research and development,

production and sale of
pharmaceutical products

Epits 2R EERHE

Research and development,
production and sale of
pharmaceutical products

RMEME HBE REREMER
RERRH

Financial leasing, leasing, factoring
and other related consultancy and
guarantee services

Epits 2R EERHE

Research and development,
production and sale of
pharmaceutical products

Emifin R EERHE

Research and development,
production and sale of
pharmaceutical products

Epits 2R EERHE

Research and development,
production and sale of
pharmaceutical products

EBBERRYE

Internet information service

*

HEBRBHEREREEATE -

2024 ERBEEEBRAF

*

Has significant influence on business and financial decisions.
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19 REEE QAR (&) 19 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
&R~ E RIS ATINEEER Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:
2024 2023
ARSTT ARBTT
RMB"000 RMB'000
AEBEREE RATIIRED Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
BRERE investments in the associates 5,536,147 6,005,836
AEBEDHZEHE AT Aggregate amounts of the Group'’s
R share of those associates’
FROEHE R TR Share of the associates’ profit for the year 376,301 418,653
DFEEE AR H A R E IR Share of the associates’ other
comprehensive income (1,638) (15)
DB E AR 2 E K =R Share of the associates’ total
comprehensive income 374,663 418,638
HERBETHMERE 20 OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
2024 2023
ARBTT ARBFT
RMB"000 RMB'000
fRiERE - mAAEERA Equity investments, at fair value through
Hth2mEmike (ita) other comprehensive income (Note a)
69,435 71,804
fRiERE - mAAEERA Equity investments, at fair value through
Bz (MisEb) profit or loss (Note b) 514,890 769,641
584,325 841,445
Mizta: ANEEZRAABETAEMEERZED Notea: The Group's equity investments at fair value through other
[RIERERNABEER IR ETE '%EI'J comprehensive income represented investments in unlisted entities
KA ZEERIENFERAEEE established in the PRC. These entities are principally engaged in

pharmaceutical related operations.

Mizth: ANEEZRAALBEFABRHRERE Note b:  The Group’s equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
R ER Imﬁﬁfﬂﬁ?ﬁ;ﬁ cREEE represented investments in entities established in the PRC. These
FERFERAE  HERBEAEE - entities are principally engaged in research and development,
FRBRERETHFARERATNAE R distribution and related operations of pharmaceutical products. The
FME(THRASHARE KAL) ZE . above equity investments failed the solely payments of principal and
WoBARARBEFABENEHE interest (“SPPI”) criterion, and were classified as financial assets at fair
o value through profit or loss.
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21 HEIERBEE 21 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2024 2023

ARSTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000

g - REREEERS Deposits for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment 431,894 333,627
WiERFEERS Deposits for acquisition of intangible assets 32,666 22,965
RHEIE U KT8 Long-term receivables 1,204,576 790,332
TE HATF R (3T 25(a)) Term deposits (Note 25(a)) 3,424,293 2,077,106
Hfth Others 251,375 120,563
5,344,804 3,344,593

A
22 78 22 INVENTORIES

2024 2023
ARBTT ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
R Raw materials 2,552,137 2,669,073
BEM K Packaging materials 333,111 298,081
TR Work in progress 1,106,461 989,610
B Finished goods 33,060,870 27,918,723
37,052,579 31,875,487
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(BIEEHE - B AN REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

H 1t fE W TR IR 23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
ARMT 5 ARBF 5
RMB’000 RMB'000
e B Bills receivable 1,057,307 993,646
AREE Contract assets 64,596 2,448
Z S W IE Trade receivables 83,694,249 69,497,239
VAR Impairment allowance (2,910,797) (2,427,487)
80,783,452 67,069,752
SEANEZ S5 Prepayments 4,069,522 4,764,592
Hoqth fE U kI8 Other receivables 8,341,151 6,725,735
VR Impairment allowance (386,094) (367,871)
7,955,057 6,357,864
93,929,934 79,188,302

AEE-—ROEZBHEFETFNTI0E
180 RMEEMN WARFTEEEFPHNE
SERBEEEFBEEERLERE365K °
EMEEAEAR — BN F 302 180K °

R|EHR  AEBEREE B HNRR
BERERNE SEBSARRE DTN :

The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 180 days
to its trade customers, which may be extended to 365 days for selected
customers depending on their trade volume and settlement terms. The
bills receivable generally have maturity periods ranging from 30 to 180
days.

An ageing analysis of the Group's trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of impairment
allowance, is as follows:

2024 2023

ARMT 5 ARMF 7

RMB’000 RMB'000

0E 30K 0 to 30 days 19,403,995 16,672,296
31 260X 31 to 60 days 11,950,773 10,809,757
61 £90K 61 to 90 days 7,656,996 5,987,431
91 £180K 91 to 180 days 17,219,042 13,720,722
181 £365K 181 to 365 days 18,158,794 14,690,137
HiE1F Over 1 year 6,393,852 5,189,409
80,783,452 67,069,752
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23

I 226

B 5 N H R WRKE ()

RBERR  AEBEERFL R HNEK
SEOBRE MM

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

An ageing analysis of the Group’s bills receivable as at the end of
reporting period, based on the issue dates, is as follows:

2024 2023

ARMT ARMT 7
RMB’000 RMB’'000
0& 30Kk 0 to 30 days 615,874 345,154
31E2 60K 31 to 60 days 173,400 161,282
61290k 61 to 90 days 66,667 177,176
91 & 180k 91 to 180 days 201,366 310,034
1,057,307 993,646

&8s A T . .

= E
BESMEE Transfer of financial assets

R-ZE-_NMF+_A=+—8 KA£EER
HEmES SRKEERAREK7,228,661,000
T(CE-ZF+_A=+—H: AR¥
7,533,259,00070) A X EM R [
#7778 3R FE W EHR A R 9,246,267,000
T(CE-ZF+_A=+—H: AR¥
7,126,113,0007T) AEBE £ - ZEER
AZECEEREUHBRKEEMEED
EREEREEE FEBE S HER AR
RIT AR IEERZSEEENEHET
FEUWEE -

2024 ERBEEEBRAF

As at 31 December 2024, the Group endorsed bills receivable of
RMB7,228,661,000 (31 December 2023: RMB7,533,259,000) to its
suppliers to pay the accounts payable; discounted bills receivable of
RMB9,246,267,000 (31 December 2023: RMB7,126,113,000) to bank
for cash. The Group believes that the risk and rewards of the ownership
of such endorsed or discounted bills receivable have been substantially
transferred to the suppliers or banks, and therefore derecognised such
endorsed or discounted bills receivable.
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(EZFTNF+ A =1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(BIEEHE - B AN REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

24 HittRBEmERE 24 OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
2024 2023
ARSTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
E ) LS T ES Trade and bills receivables, at fair value (Note a)

BRAREER (FrEa) 18,988,711 27,035,216
SHMER B AREER (M&Eb) Finandial products, at fair value (Note b) 9,222,946 7,580,501
et Total 28,211,657 34,615,717

Mizta: ANEEEGEEEXAFERRERE SR Note a:  The Group has classified trade and bills receivables that are held within
RIEMNE S RN HIEREREES a business model both to collect cash flows and to sell financial assets
BRAREBEFAELBEZARENSH at fair value through other comprehensive income.

MizEb: BAABEFNERERBREREER Note b:  Financial products at fair value included structured deposits entered
RITREBMBETANGEETR - Z into by the Group with banks and financial institutions. These
EEBUETRNEBESD 22T T structured deposits (where the effect of the structured element is not
EX THEARAINEAS RAEH material) failed the SPPI criterion and were classified as financial assets
B WHBEAKRARBEABRRN measured at fair value through profit or loss.

SHMEE -
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25 EHEFEARARESER BHE

I 228

RBREZEEY
(a) EAGRREHER A2RAS

2024 FF 3

EEMERE:

25 PLEDGED AND TERM DEPOSITS/CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a)

Pledged and term deposits/cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2024 2023

AR® T ARETTT
RMB'000 RMB’000
R NIRRT R Cash and bank balances 28,552,723 33,746,350
Vo Less:
EHTER Short-term deposits
— AR ERZEY — Pledged bank deposits for bills payable
EHEFRITER 5,254,027 4,683,298
— EHBFER — Term deposits 2,898,013 1,490,000
— H M2 RS 1F 5 — Other restricted deposits 551,651 845,276
8,703,691 7,018,574
RHEIFH Long-term deposits
— AT (FTsE21) — Term deposits (Note 21) 3,424,293 2,077,106
BehReEED Cash and cash equivalents 16,424,739 24,650,670

R BT RN T 1.55% £3.45%
(ZE==F+=-A=+—H8:285%
£399% ) MFEFEHFE - ARK
3,424,293,000 L (ZE - =F + =
A=+—H8: AR®¥2,077,106,000
T EB RS ERBEMNIT SR
BIEREEE °

RZFEZMF+ZA=+—H &
SEMRTEREN T000% =
4.62% (—FE-_=ZF+-_A=+—H:
0.00% £ 5.70%) & FI R+ 8 °

RZFEZ_MF+ZA=+—H &
SEEEBERITEREARER
ZEMBITER BRFRITERX
I B 5 BR 47 KR F0.10% &=
275% (ZFE-_=F+=-A=+—AQ:
0.20% &£ 1.85%) WEFFI R+ 8 »

EHBREREERAR

Short-term term deposits carry interest rates ranging from
1.55%-3.45% (31 December 2023: 2.85% to 3.99%) per
annum. Term deposits of RMB3,424,293,000 (31 December
2023: RMB2,077,106,000) are held for long-term purpose and
are classified as non-current assets.

Bank balances of the Group carried interest rates ranging from
0.00% to 4.62% (31 December 2023: 0.00% to 5.70%) per
annum as at 31 December 2024.

Pledged bank deposits of the Group represent bank deposits
used for bills payable. The interest rate of pledged bank deposits
and other restricted deposits ranged from 0.10% to 2.75%
(31 December 2023: 0.20% to 1.85%) per annum as at 31
December 2024.
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HEZZT-WF+-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(BIEEHE - B AN REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

25 KW ER N ESER IH4E 25 PLEDGED AND TERM DEPOSITS/CASH AND

&Iﬁﬁf—ﬁﬂz;( g) CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)
(b) METHELENEGHR (b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

TRANANEBEAREEBEED The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities from
BEYE  BERSNIERSE - financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
METHEEMNBEDNERERE Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which
FARRBREREBRNAEEHLEER cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
EHMERTEGHEARMEFTDME Group's consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from
BEREMEE - financing activities.

Ef
HEER L
ROEX  EfE% 8 DERE BEARE

Amount due

toan
intermediate  Amount due
Bank Bonds  Dividend holding to related Lease
borrowings payable  payables  company parties liabilities

ARETT ARMTT ARMTR AR®TR ARBTR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

R-E-mE-B-A At 1 January 2024 54213105 6,639,433 591,009 3,133,020 679,261 1,308,423
HERLTHESH(): Changes from financing cash flows ()
BITRRAETE Proceeds from bank borrowings 76,720,285 - - - - =
EERAER Repayment of bank borrowings (80,324,859) - - - = =
EETHERDDER Repayment of loans from intermediate
holding company - - - (2,993,021 - -
REBHAMENE Proceeds from related parties - - - - 23,453 -
EE ﬁ%ﬁ REES Repayment of factoring funds to
related parties - - - - (204,282) -
ERAMETE Proceeds from issuances of bonds - 3,000,000 - - - -
EEEMAES Repayment of bonds payable - (2500,000) - - - -
ERERERNE Interest paid to bonds payable - (206,500) - - - -
Bfifkg Dividend paid - - (1,488955) - - -
EREERRRERE Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders - - (393553 - - -
THAERE Payment of lease liabilties - - = - - (596,847)
BRPERERNERIAREEARS Dividend paid to holders of financial instruments
dlassified as equity - - (126,015) - - -
(3,604,574) 293500  (5,550,504)  (2,993,021) (180,829) (596,847)
E2E: Other changes:
WERBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries 201,467 - = - = 23,625
EUERREAERE Accounts receivables and payables factoring 9,758,521 - = - = =
K . Foreign exchange adjustments - - - (13,908) - 700
SRRERS Final divicend declared - - 1488955 - - -
ARENBAERNSRTEASAA  Distributions to holders of financial instruments
classified as equity - - 126,015 - - -
EREHRRETERHS Interest of bond payables and bank borrowings Y 1L%)) - - - -
MEERERERRS Dividend declared to non-controlling shareholders - - 3630865 - - -
Fitiii- | New leases - - - - - 648579
ENTEREURERR Reassessment and revision of lease terms - - - - - (166,051)
ERERNNEEAM Accretion of interest recognised during the year - - - - - 69,977
b FEt Total other changes 9,959,988 215322 5245835 (13,908) = 576,830
RZB-ME+-A=1-A At 31 December 2024 60,568,519 7,148,255 286,400 126,091 498432 1,288,406
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25 HFR R EHEFR HE 25 PLEDGED AND TERM DEPOSITS/CASH AND

RBREE 12‘*‘3#@ (#&) CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)
(b) METBHELENEEHIR(E) (b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (continued)

EfEHR
Amount due
toan
intermediate ~ Amount due
Bank Bonds Dividend holding  to related Lease
borrowings payable payables company parties liabilities
ARETT NEETT ARETT NEETT ARETT ARETT
RMB000 RMB00 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
R-B-ZE-5-H At 1 January 2023 40,745174 4,599,792 182602 8253512 2307455 1266217
RERSHELH(): Changes from financing cash flows (i)
ROERFAETE Proceeds from bank borrowings 83,183,860 - - - - -
BERER Repayment of bank borrowings (80,169,884) - - - - -
EEBE 7? Repayment to related parties - - - - (1628,194) -
EEPRERATER Repayment of loans from intermediate holding
company - - - (5212,976) - -
BOERHENE Proceeds from issuances of bonds - 2,000,000 - - - -
Bfilkg Dividend paid - - (879.9) - - -
EREERRRERE Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders - - (2345257) - - -
ﬂﬂﬁfﬁi Payment of lease liabilities - - - - - (@793
BRPEREZNSRIAEEARE Dividend paid to holders of financial instruments
dlassified as equity - - (127,800) - - -
HERSHEEBAE Total changes from financing cash flows 3013976 2000000  (3353022)  (5212976)  (1,628,194)  (627,943)
g8 Other changes:
WEEMELE Acquisition of subsidiaries 2,505,337 - - - - 83339
EUERRERERRE Accounts receivables and payables factoring 7858618 - - - - -
EifE Foreign exchange adjustments - - - 92,484 - 674
ERAHRE Final dividend declared - - 879965 - - -
ARENEREGNEBIABEA  Distributions to holders of finandial instruments
classified as equity - - 127,800 - - -
ERESRETEANE Interest of bond payables and bank borrowings - 39,641 - - - -
AEERRRE RS Dividend declared to non-controling shareholders - - T334 - - -
g New leases - - - - - 662,884
ENEREUAEER Reassessment and revision of lease terms - - - - - (133004)
ERERNNSEN Accretion of interest recognised during the year - - - - - 56,276
EhenasE Total other changes 10453955 364 3761489 9248 o e
R-BZ=F+-B=1-H At 31 December 2023 54213105 6,639,433 591,069 3,133,020 679,261 1,308,423
[0) ReRsdXneRleRERTP 0) The cash flows make up the net amount of proceeds and
R 17 18 SR FE 1 B %5 P 15 SR IE AN repayment from bank borrowings and bonds payable in the
BEFRIAR)FE consolidated cash flow statement.
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25 EEERREHER B
RIEEZEEY ()

(9

HEZBRERHAE

REEFARSRERNSRERE

THI5 8 -

25 PLEDGED AND TERM DEPOSITS/CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

(9

Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases comprise

the following:

2024 2023

AR¥T AREEF T

RMB000 RMB'000

R EEEE R Within operating cash flows 141,605 138,610
RIREEEHE N Within investing cash flows 122,951 132,399
RErE EEEHE N Within financing cash flows 596,847 627,943
861,403 898,952

26 B 5 KkHAMEN A

26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2024 2023

GEs ARETF T ARBFT
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

B 5 I FRIE Trade payables (a) 40,062,416 38,640,057
AN Bills payable (a) 18,535,915 15,810,964
it e Accrued salaries 3,740,147 3,398,034
H b IR Other tax payables 942,129 765,317
H e FRIE Other payables 15,703,647 18,661,016
REEME Refund liabilities 1,224,330 1,093,443
FUEERT B A R A e 3R Payable for acquisitions of subsidiaries 533,526 706,490
80,742,110 79,075,321

Wi

1 0

REEROFEHERENTFI0E0K -
JERZHEHEE N T 302180 KA HIMR ©
RZZE-ZWFE+=ZA=+—0 £&H
AR #17,581,278,0007C (— T — =4
+ZA=+—8: AR¥14,161,123,000
T)MENEERAEELEEEARAR
AR #330,791,000 (Z2E-=4%6+—=
A=+—8: AR¥407,244,0007T)
B EU = & & A R ¥ 5,254,027,000 7T
(ZZ-_=ZF+-_A=Z+—HB: AR¥
4,683,298,0007T) (MI3E25) #) 2 4K 1 iR
TTERFER -

Note:

The credit period for purchases of goods range from 30 to 90 days. The
bills payable have maturity period ranging from 30 to 180 days. As at
31 December 2024, the Group's bills payable of RMB17,581,278,000
(31 December 2023: RMB14,161,123,000) were secured by the Group's
bills receivable with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB330,791,000
(31 December 2023: RMB407,244,000) and pledged bank deposits of
RMB5,254,027,000 (31 December 2023: RMB4,683,298,000) (Note 25).
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26 E5 N HEMEBNKIE(F
A S R TR BB H 5 8 HOB 05

26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based on the invoice

oM

date, is as follows:

2024 2023

AR®TFR AR%F 7T

RMB’000 RMB’000

0£30K 0 to 30 days 19,815,023 17,875,722
31E60K 31 to 60 days 7.415,293 8,530,311
61 90K 61 to 90 days 3,380,817 2,993,099
HiBIOK Over 90 days 9,451,283 9,240,925
40,062,416 38,640,057

SR EE N B B EIE R R B A BRI D

M -

An ageing analysis of the Group’s bills payable, based on the issue date,
is as follows:

2024 2023

AR®FR AREFRT

RMB’000 RMB'000

0&E 30K 0 to 30 days 5,652,836 4,940,452
31E£ 60K 31 to 60 days 3,473,684 2,917,952
61 290K 61 to 90 days 2,918,458 2,167,192
3B 90K Over 90 days 6,490,937 5,785,368
18,535,915 15,810,964

27 EHEE

27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

AR¥T R AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
BE PR HER Short-term advances received from customers
BEmiHE Sale of goods 4,224,594 4,022,937
2024 R ERHBREEEEGRAA
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(BRI =B&H

BAIAARBE L)  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

TREIIRARE A ERO T A RS H The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the
current reporting period that were included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the reporting period:

2024 2023

AR¥T R ARBTFT
RMB"000 RMB'000
BRI AR S B9 Revenue recognised that was included in
aHBEENIKE contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period:
BEmiHE Sale of goods 3,664,990 3,537,916
i+ &
28 IRITER 28 BANK BORROWINGS
2024 2023
AR®T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
HRITIE K Bank borrowings
A Secured 1,997,494 1,915,304
S Unsecured 58,571,025 52,297,801
60,568,519 54,213,105
fE(EZERmEE (ERTETE) © Carrying amount repayable (based on
scheduled repayment terms):
—FER Within one year 42,702,306 43,119,673
—FLAEELRRE More than one year, but not more
than two years 10,976,492 454,916
MFA EELRAESF More than two years, but not more
than five years 6,858,746 10,067,516
AFE More than five years 30,975 571,000
60,568,519 54,213,105
W ORBBEE THREIEIE % ¢+ Less: Amount due shown under current
liabilities:
—F AR Due in one year (42,702,306) (43,119,673)
ERBEBEETNAIR—FE& Amount due after one year shown under
BIHiR & F8 non-current liabilities 17,866,213 11,093,432
RITENSEREEN —FEE R &8 Included in bank borrowings is an amount due to an associate of

AR#1,188,034924 T (ZT =% : A

R #1,147,324,8217T)
EERME320%:T8 -

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

RMB1,188,034,924 (2023: RMB1,147,324,821), which bears interest at
CER TR the lending rate of 3.20% in 2024.
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28 SRITE (&) 28 BANK BORROWINGS (continued)
REEE TRITEFA T ZIEERR Certain of the Group’s bank borrowings were secured by:
2024 2023
AR¥T R ARBTT
RMB"000 RMB'000
e AREEE (Mt 16(a) Right-of-use assets (Note 16(a)) 143,156 107,370
BF (M1 14) Buildings (Note 14) 353,047 511,685
2 5 L E A Y IE (fI5£23)  Trade and other receivable (Note 23) 1,526,702 1,160,992
2,022,905 1,780,047
RZZEZ_NF+_A=+—H X&H The interest rate of the Group’s floating rate bank borrowings as at
FEFERITERFMNENF110%E 31 December 2024 ranged from 1.10%-4.45% (31 December 2023:
445% (T _=F+-_A=+—H: 1.80%-4.35%) per annum and that of fixed rate borrowings ranged
1.80% £4.35% ) RZZTEZMNF+ = from 1.80%-4.80% (31 December 2023: 2.10%-4.80%) per annum
A=+—HB BEEMXERFEFNEN as at 31 December 2024,
F1.80% %4.80% (ZZE_=%+_A
=+—H:210%%E480%) °
29 EfRES 29 BONDS PAYABLE
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBFT
RMB"000 RMB'000
B (Mfita) Bonds 1 (Note a) - 2,546,666
B2 (M) Bonds 2 (Note b) 2,053,125 2,053,126
B3 (Misto) Bonds 3 (Note ©) 2,039,641 2,039,641
BExH4(MEEd) Bonds 4 (Note d) 1,221,258 -
BE5 (Mizte) Bonds 5 (Note e) 1,834,231 -
7,148,255 6,639,433
JERT AR - Amount repayable:
—F AR Within one year 2,150,582 2,640,387
FE_EZERF In the second to fifth years 4,997,673 3,999,046
7,148,255 6,639,433
Mizta: R-ZZE-_—F < AB-+—H EHEH Notea:  On 21 June 2021, CR Pharmaceutical Holdings issued unsecured
ERZBHEBEARBI00TETES unlisted bonds (“Bonds 1”) in an aggregate amount of

I 234

7 A AR % 2,500,000,000 5T By 4 1K 48
EEMESF(EH1]) REEFHE
350%:t B EHF1IDR T ZPUFE X
AZ+=HIHH -EBFNETEAA
ANER#7,640,0007C °

RMB2,500,000,000 at par at RMB100 each, carrying interest at a fixed
rate of 3.50% per annum. Bonds 1 has matured on 23 June 2024. The
issue fee of Bonds 1 amounted to RMB7,640,000.
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(BRIF=BHA

29 &S (&)

BAIAARBE L)  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

29 BONDS PAYABLE (continued)

Mizth: RZZE_—_F—AZ+—H ZHE% Noteb: On 21 January 2022, CR Pharmaceutical Holdings issued
ERZFHEEARBEI100TETES unsecured unlisted bonds (“Bonds 2”) in an aggregate amount of
6 A A R % 2,000,000,000 7T K £ K 1 RMB2,000,000,000 at par at RMB100 each, carrying interest at a fixed
FEMES(TEH2)) REEFH = rate of 2.86% per annum. Bonds 2 will mature on 21 June 2025. The
286%:it B EHF2EN _ZE_RF N issue fee of Bonds 2 amounted to RMB1,500,000.
RZ+—HIH - BEHF2NBTERR
A 1,500,000 7T °
et RZZE-_=ZFHRANBE  FHE &Y Notec: On 9 May 2023, CR Pharmaceutical Commercial issued
*¥EEMHHEBEARBI00TETES unsecured unlisted bonds (“Bonds 3”) in an aggregate amount of
% A A R % 2,000,000,000 7T ) 4 K 1 RMB2,000,000,000 at par at RMB100 each, carrying interest at a fixed
EEMER(EH3])  REEFFE rate of 3.09% per annum. Bonds 3 will mature on 10 May 2026. The
3.09% B - EHFIBR _ZTE-_AFH issue fee of Bonds 3 amounted to RMB2,229,000.
A+HEH - EHFINBTERAAAR
# 2,229,000 7T °
Miztd: RZZT-_MFWNA+HB FHEE Noted: On 15 April 2024, CR Pharmaceutical Commercial issued
HEREHEBAREI100TEHTES unsecured unlisted bonds (“Bonds 4”) in an aggregate amount of
¥ A/ A R % 1,200,000,000 7T ) £ 3K 3 RMB1,200,000,000 at par at RMB100 each, carrying interest at a fixed
FLEMESF ([EH4)) @ RETFFE rate of 2.45% per annum. Bonds 4 will mature on 17 April 2027. The
245%ET B - BEHFABN T _tF N issue fee of Bonds 4 and Bonds 5 amounted to RMB2,010,000.
At++tBEH - EHAREHFSMWET
ER R AR 2,010,0007T °
Mizde R-ZT-_MFWA+HAB  EFHELK Notee: On 15 April 2024, CR Pharmaceutical Commercial issued
PMEERSNHEEARKI00TETER unsecured unlisted bonds (“Bonds 5”) in an aggregate amount of
£ A A R % 1,800,000,000 7T K £ K 1 RMB1,800,000,000 at par at RMB100 each, carrying interest at a fixed
SELMES(EHS]) - REFEFFE rate of 2.63% per annum. Bonds 5 will mature on 17 April 2029. The
263%:it B EHESBER T -NAFN issue fee of Bonds 4 and Bonds 5 amounted to RMB2,010,000.
AT HEH - BEHFAREFSHELT
BHRARY2,010,0007T °
ZEBFRNBE_ZT_NFR-_T=F The movements of these bonds during the years ended 31 December
+TZA=Z+—BLEFENEZHHEINNOT 2024 and 2023 are set out below:
AR¥T T ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
REHREE Carrying amount as at the beginning of the year 6,639,433 4,599,792
HEBITESKERNEHRIE Proceeds received from issued bonds 3,000,000 2,000,000
B Repayment (2,706,500) (144,703)
JEEHHIE Interest accrued 215,322 184,344
RFEREREE Carrying amount as at the end of the year 7,148,255 6,639,433
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(BrIFE B - AU REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

30 KEMERRKRAMWATES 30 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) EERELHBEEENAE: (a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

AR¥T ARET T
RMB'000 RMB'000
RIS EE Deferred income tax assets 1,968,756 1,773,365
BEEFSHARE Deferred income tax liabilities (1,915,360) (1,718,120)
53,396 55,245
EQ_ Z_WE+_A=+—HEZ Details of deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised as at 31
T-_=F+-_A=+—"HE®RE December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are as follows:

EMIBEEENMBENFBNT

i

i P

HEEH

AEE

BERR HAREE E:

Fair value

adjustment

arising from

Provision Right- Revaluation acquisition

BUTSEEEN Impairment and Lease of-use of of
BEHE: Deferred tax arising from: ~ ofassets  Taxlosses  accruals liabilities assets  properties subsidiaries

ARBTR  ARMTI  AR¥TR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTI  AR¥TR  AR%TR  ARETR
RVB000 RB1000 RVB000 RV 000 RVB000 RVB'000 RV 000 RV 000 RMB000
RZZZZF-A—H Al January 2023 637,436 65535 434753 247585 (226082 - (373811) (1,048080) 110,035 (152,629

EMRNGABRERR  Deferred tax credited(charged)
GARESERN  tothe consolidated
HA/ B8 statement of profit or loss
ELHE(EY)  and consolidated statement
of comprehensive income
during the year (Note 9) 33,028 (13,559) 39,114 22,302 (5,362) (43,888) 196,051 (18,283) 209,403

WERBAF Acquisition of subsidiaries 59435 - 164,687 4,808 (5,191) (53%6)  (48471) 28294 (1,794)
EXHE Exchange adjustments - - - - - - - 265 265
i At 31 December 2023

TZR=T-BR  and 1 January 2024

“E-ME-B-R 729899 51976 638554 274695  (236,635) (423,055 (1,100500) 120,311 55,245

£ Wﬁﬁﬁ?é KRR Deferred tax credited!(charged)
FAZENERN  tothe consolidated
ﬁ A/ 1B statement of profit or loss
EREHBE(MEY)  and consolidated statement
of comprehensive income
during the year (Note 9) 138,030 129914 (43,240) 44,831 (37,481) 9,965 81763  (162,814) 160,968

WERBAA Acquisition of subsidiaries 13,652 9,129 - 5933 (6,:209) - (186,784) 3157 (161,122)
EjEE Exchange adjustments - - - - - - = (1,695) (1,695)
RZE-MF At 31 Decernber 2024

t-A=t-8 881581 191,019 595314 325459  (280325)  (413000) (1,205521)  (41,041)  53,3%
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HEZZT-WF+-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024
(BIEEHE - B AN REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

HEMBRARANER 30 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

(&) STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(b) AERELEBHEE (b) Deferred tax assets not recognised

RZZEZMNF+=ZRA=+—H A
A FI B 2R A~ AT T8 OB - AN £ [ 4R
TR IEE B A R ¥ 5,841,568,000
T(ZEZ=%+ZA=+—H:
A R #5,380,354,0007T) 3R IR fE
HREEE R-_ZE-_NF+=-A
=+ —H RKXHAREEBEEFE
FEE 18 A R 8 445,258,000 (=
TE-_=F+-A=Z+—H: ARE
348,972,000 7T) A] PR BR A5 8 o H
A TEEE AR AT FEER

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the tax losses of RMB5,841,568,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB5,380,354,000) due to the unpredictable profit stream as
at 31 December 2024. Included in the unused tax losses was a
loss of RMB445,258,000 (31 December 2023: RMB348,972,000)
at 31 December 2024 that may be carried forward indefinitely.
Other tax losses will expire in the following years:

2024 2023

AR®FT ARBF 7T

RMB’000 RMB’000

—EopE 2024 - 200,088
S 2025 175,907 268,799
S 2026 555,120 857,695
S 2027 1,195,381 1,345,357
—EoN\F 2028 1,421,449 2,359,443
e e 2029 2,048,453 -
5,396,310 5,031,382

BEBETIREENEEHRBEEL KR

Ei
[T

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

2024 2023

AR¥T T ARBTT

RMB'000 RMB‘000

AIHURE B = 5 Deductible temporary differences 1,938,367 1,975,727
ABARIARE Unused tax losses 5,841,568 5,380,354
7,779,935 7,356,081

B LEBEEMBEERBEEEL R
R RAKSEKE/TAAIRERE
FERERDE A A AR K L
FEEE -

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
above items as it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the above items can be utilised.
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30 AREMBEMRRKANTER
(#)

31

I 238

(0

AERELERIBEE
RZEZMF+=ZA=+—H @
M ARARD R EEOERE
%5 AR #18,653,693,000T (=
T-=F: AR¥18,161,851,000
TL) c AR ARBEFIZEH B A
RIMBEERE BEMEREATRE
RAKAgESRZE RN B it
M AR DB E IR & P E AN
MR ERELCREEBEARY
932,685,000t (ZE=Z=F: AR
#908,092,0007C) ©

Ao T 32

REXmEE

7% 2 [ [A) 70 P B P 30 IE AR R SR BTAR AR
MR B R EMITRINERN - ZEARRS
REMRMETE - WL E P BEAE - #
RREETERBNREERMNEFNAE
AT

2024 2023

30

31

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(c) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2024, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to
RMB18,653,693,000 (2023: RMB18,161,851,000). Deferred tax
liabilities of RMB932,685,000 (2023: RMB908,092,000) have
not been recognised in respect of the tax that would be payable
on the distribution of these retained profits as the Company
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has been
determined that it is probable that these profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The Group provided supplementary retirement benefits to its normal
retired or early retired employees in Mainland China, which are
considered to be defined benefit plans, and recognised a liability for the
unfunded employee benefit obligations in the consolidated statement
of financial position as follows:

AR¥T T ARBTT

RMB"000 RMB'000

BREXmARBHRE Present value of defined benefit obligations 801,160 796,870
R ES Long-term dismissal benefits 23,770 21,987
824,930 818,857

DAL Portion classified as current portion 51,388 57,159
JERNERER Non-current portion 773,542 761,698

2024 ERBEEEBRAF




IRA BB R R M 5
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(BIEEHE - B AN REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

31 *“?E:?ém’é{i(mﬁ 31 DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

HAREANFEBEBRRNOT : The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

A5 38 & (%) Discount rate (%) 1.25%-2.05% 2.50%-3.00%
T8 BA B I K (%) Expected rate of resignation (%) 0.00%-2.00%  0.00%-1.00%
RAREBEZESMEBERBH Expected rate of future pension and
T8 BRI R % (%) health care increase rate (%) 4.00%-5.00%  4.00%-8.00%
HEREHR HEZRENTESHXME A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions as at the
AT TFR - end of the reporting period is shown below:
BREZH RETE %
BRE(%) ABERS HPE(%) AEEM
Decrease Increase
in defined in defined
Increase benefit Decrease benefit
in rate (%) obligations in rate (%) obligations
ARBTR ARBTR
RME'000 RMEB'000
—EUEF 2024
AhIR X Discount rate 0.25 (22,096) 0.25 23,235
—E-=F 2023
AhIR X Discount rate 0.25 (21,139) 0.25 21,951
N EBRBRUESTIBREBERE-FEEH  Z The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method
Fif—fiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ"ﬁ#ﬁiﬁﬁﬂi?}*iﬁ’]@ﬁﬁiﬁ that extrapolates the impact on defined benefit obligations as a result
?’éi/\@“ftﬁﬁiﬁ&iﬁﬁﬁﬁFiﬂ’] of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of
HE PRUEDTENREERENEL the reporting period. The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in a
]If%%ﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁ\ﬂﬂfﬁj BAE o GURME AT significant assumption, keeping all other assumptions constant. The
BEEERKRR Exfmﬁ LEI’J REME R sensitivity analysis may not be representative of an actual change in the
IF%TFJ R BB AN AR - defined benefit obligations as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions

would occur in isolation of one another.
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(BRIF=EHD

BAIAAREX )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

31 RESHAE ()

ZAt B ERABRERPHEANEHMNT -

31 DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

The total expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in respect of the plan are as follows:

2024 2023

AR¥T R ARBTFT

RMB’000 RMB'000

& AT RIS A AR Current service cost 206 1,583
B RIS Past service cost 10,807 (21,245)
MBBA (HEE7) Interest cost (Note 7) 20,083 23,798
BRI FEE Net benefit expenses 31,096 4,136
ATTER X 1R Recognised in administrative expenses 11,013 (19,662)
B & AR TE R Recognised in finance costs 20,083 23,798
31,096 4,136

REXmBEREZEBHNT

The movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations

are as follows:

2024 2023

ARMTF T ARBTFI

RMB’000 RMB'000

*—H—H At 1 January 796,870 859,021
& AT RIS A AR Current service cost 206 1,583
B RIS A Past service cost 10,807 (21,245)
FIERCA (F3E7) Interest cost (Note 7) 20,083 23,798
TEEEE, (W) Actuarial loss/(gain) 22,739 (11,261)
BARHE A Benefit paid (49,545) (55,026)
R+ZA=+—H At 31 December 801,160 796,870

MEMAREZ L BEOHR A8E204F
(ZB_=F+=-A=+—H:8221F) -
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The duration of the defined benefit obligations at the end of the
reporting period is 8 to 20 years (31 December 2023: 8 to 21 years).
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(BIEEHE - B AN REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
HthERBERE 32 OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
AR®TT AREEF T
RMB'000 RMB'000
BT B () Government grants (i) 713,716 788,581
Hpth Others 416,476 313,456
1,130,192 1,102,037

RERN AEE B KT BF‘WZHX
AR ®101,374,000L (Z 2 - =
& AR #53,040,0007T) B ¥
B ARAREEELSE TH
BHRLLEEDE BMERZER
HEHP AEERBREBARTAH
BB B R BEEEAEMNT
FRFHRNG @B EREEEZ-
RER REBREBEBERARE
111,347,000 (ZZEZ=F: AR
#91,898,000 7T ) K ER AT # B ©

33 EAXKf#EE

(a)

(b)

(i) During the year, the Group received new government
grants from the government authorities amounting to
RMB101,374,000(2023: RMB53,040,000) to subsidise the
construction of certain research and development centres and the
purchases of property, plant and equipment of the Group. The
Group complied with the conditions attached to the grants as
at the end of the reporting period and will transfer the grants to
profit or loss over the useful lives of the related assets. The Group
recognised these government grants in profit or loss amounting
to RMB111,347,000(2023: RMB91,898,000) during the year.

33 CAPITAL AND RESERVES

[N (a) Share capital
2024 2023
ARBTT ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BETRERE Issued and fully paid:
6,282,510,461 6,282,510,461 (31 December